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NOTICE:
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DISPOSITION:

AFFIRMED.  

JUDGES:

Before Hon. Frank H. Easterbrook, Circuit Judge, Hon. Diane P. Wood, Circuit Judge, Hon. Ann Claire Williams, Circuit Judge.  

OPINION:

 [*406]  

ORDER
William Benson filed this Bivens action pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §  1985 against several government officials (collectively "defendants") for violating his First and Fifth Amendment rights. The district court granted the defendants' motion for summary judgment on absolute immunity grounds. We affirm.

I
Viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to Benson, as we must on review of a motion for summary judgment, see Oest v. Ill. Dept. of Corr., 240 F.3d 605, 610 (7th Cir. 2001), the relevant facts are as follows. Benson was convicted of three counts of federal tax evasion: one felony and two misdemeanor counts. The trial court sentenced him to four years' imprisonment [**2]  on the felony count and two one-year terms of imprisonment on the misdemeanor counts. All three sentences were to run concurrently. Benson appealed his conviction to this court and we granted him a new trial. See United States v. Benson, 941 F.2d 598 (7th Cir. 1991). By the time his appeal was decided, he had served over one year in prison -- the maximum sentence for the misdemeanor counts. On remand, Benson was retried and convicted, again, on the same three counts. The district court imposed similar prison terms, the only difference being a suspended sentence of five years of probation for the second misdemeanor count.

Benson served a few more days in prison, was paroled, and began to serve his suspended sentence of probation. While on probation, Benson and his probation officer, Tony Morton (also known as Tony Smith), had several disagreements. On one occasion in particular, Benson requested permission from Morton to go to California to speak about tax matters at a conference. (Per the special conditions to his probation, Benson was required to seek Morton's permission before traveling out of state.) Although Morton initially denied Benson's request, he ultimately [**3]  consented. As time progressed, Morton confronted Benson more than once about Benson's failure to disclose his financial information, as dictated by the special conditions to his probation. Benson refused to disclose the requisite information despite Morton's repeated insistence.

These conflicts ultimately led Morton and his supervisor, Raymond Raven, to initiate a probation revocation proceeding. In Benson's opposition to the proceedings, he argued (for the first time) that the district court's imposition of probation on the second misdemeanor count violated the Double Jeopardy Clause. The district court agreed with Benson that the imposition was unconstitutional and, accordingly, vacated his suspended sentence of probation. n1 The United States did not appeal.

n1 We make no comment on whether the district court's legal conclusion was correct.

Benson then filed this suit, alleging that the defendants violated several of his constitutional rights. In lieu of describing all of his claims, we list a representative [**4]  few. He alleges that the defendants violated his First Amendment rights by conspiring to deprive him of his right to associate, to travel, and to speak. Benson also alleges that the defendants sought to twice punish him and revoke his probation in an effort to reprimand him for speaking about the Sixteenth Amendment and for promoting his book, which asserts that the amendment was never ratified. By way of example,  [*407]  he alleges that one defendant prosecutor in particular "sought and obtained an illegal term of punishment" and "requested the Court to impose travel restrictions on [him]." And, as to his probation officer, Morton, Benson claims that Morton threatened to incarcerate him if he spoke out (again) about the Sixteenth Amendment and sought also to modify the conditions of his parole to force him to "desist ... espousing that the Sixteenth Amendment was never ratified." The district court did not reach the merits of Benson's claims because, as noted, it granted the defendants' motion for summary judgment on absolute immunity grounds.

II
[HN1] We review de novo the district court's grant of summary judgment on account of absolute immunity. Cervantes v. Jones, 188 F.3d 805, 808 (7th Cir. 1999). [**5]  

[HN2] Prosecutors and probation officers are absolutely immune from suits challenging conduct intimately associated with the criminal judicial process.  Imbler v. Pachtman, 424 U.S. 409, 430, 47 L. Ed. 2d 128, 96 S. Ct. 984 (1976) (prosecutors); Copus v. City of Edgerton, 151 F.3d 646, 649 (7th Cir. 1998) (probation officers). Benson concedes that the defendants' actions were sufficiently associated with the judicial phase of the criminal process such that, to the extent immunity should attach, absolute rather than qualified immunity would be appropriate. He contends, however, that "the complete lack of [personal and subject matter jurisdiction] from and after the expiration of [his] parole eliminates the ... absolute immunity with which [the] defendants would otherwise be cloaked." In support of his contention, he relies on cases establishing that [HN3] judges who act in the "clear absence of jurisdiction" are not entitled to absolute immunity. See, e.g., Stump v. Sparkman, 435 U.S. 349, 55 L. Ed. 2d 331, 98 S. Ct. 1099 (1978) (holding that judge who ruled on parent's petition requesting that tubal ligation be performed on a minor was [**6]  entitled to absolute immunity because the court upon which the judge sat was implicitly granted subject matter jurisdiction over such petitions). A quick review of the case law in this area reveals that his reliance is misplaced.

For one, it is not clear to us what bearing the sentencing court's jurisdiction (or lack thereof) has on whether a prosecutor or probation officer should be denied absolute immunity for his or her own conduct. The proper question is whether the prosecutor or probation officer acted in the clear absence of statutory authority. See Pfeiffer v. Hartford Fire Ins. Co., 929 F.2d 1484, 1491 (10th Cir. 1991) (applying clear absence of authority doctrine to prosecutors); Schloss v. Bouse, 876 F.2d 287, 291-92 (2d Cir. 1989) (same); cf.  Ernst v. Child & Youth Svcs. of Chester County, 108 F.3d 486, 501 (3d Cir. 1997) (applying clear absence of authority doctrine to agency attorney). Benson did not argue that the defendants acted in the clear absence of authority nor has he alleged any facts from which such an argument could be made. Thus he cannot seek refuge under this line of cases.

Second, Benson would not benefit [**7]  from an application of the clear absence of jurisdiction doctrine. [HN4] Under this exception to the general rule that government officials are entitled to absolute immunity from suit challenging judicial or quasi-judicial conduct, a judge may be held liable for conduct taken in the absence of subject matter jurisdiction. See Mireles v. Waco, 502 U.S. 9, 11-12, 116 L. Ed. 2d 9, 112 S. Ct. 286 (1991); John v. Barron, 897 F.2d 1387, 1392 (7th Cir. 1990). "[HN5] Subject-matter jurisdiction refers to the types of cases a court is authorized to hear and every federal district court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of federal criminal prosecutions." United States v. Sevick, 234 F.3d 248, 251  [*408]  (5th Cir. 2000) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted) (emphasis added).

The fact that one of Benson's (suspended) terms of imprisonment was later found to have been imposed in violation of the Double Jeopardy Clause does not mean that the district court did not have subject-matter jurisdiction over his trial. See Bradley v. Fisher, 80 U.S. 335, 357, 20 L. Ed. 646 (1871) ("[[HN6] The] erroneous manner in which [the court's] jurisdiction [**8]  was exercised, however it may have affected the validity of the act, did not ... render the defendant liable to answer in damages for it at the suit of the plaintiff, as though the court had proceeded without having any jurisdiction whatever.") cited in Stump, 435 U.S. at 359; cf.  id. at 352 ("If a judge of a criminal court should convict a defendant of a nonexistent crime, he would merely be acting in excess of his jurisdiction [not in the clear absence thereof] and would be immune."); United States v. Lawuary, 211 F.3d 372, 380 (7th Cir. 2000) (Easterbrook, J., concurring) (stating that laws affecting the maximum length of sentences "are unrelated to subject-matter jurisdiction.") To hold otherwise would require government officials to defend every exercise of legal judgment ultimately determined to be improper and would, therefore, defeat the purpose of absolute immunity.

III
For these reasons, we find Benson's argument unavailing and AFFIRM the judgment of the district court.  
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OPINION:

 [*152]  ORDER

On consideration of the petition for rehearing filed by defendant/appellant William J. Benson, and the response thereto filed by the Government, the court modifies its opinion issued in the above-entitled case on October 6, 1995, as follows.

In Section I, the sixth, seventh and eighth paragraphs should now read:

During this time period, IDOR was covered by a liability insurance policy issued by Continental Insurance Company. Continental's adjuster was Underwriters Adjusting Company. Underwriters assumed the defense of IDOR employees in the cigarette tax cases. It did not, however, immediately defend Benson against all of the claims. In 1977, it did, however, appoint Jack Skeffington to represent Benson on two of the claims. Underwriters was apparently under the impression, created by IDOR, that Benson was not an "employee"  [**2]  covered by the policy with respect to all of the claims. Instead, he was an independent contractor responsible for his own defense for all but two of the claims.

Benson undertook his own defense for approximately one year and had Skeffington's help for a second year. Then, in September 1978, Skeffington convinced Underwriters that it should pay for Benson's defense against all of the claims. In that same month, Benson and Skeffington contacted Underwriters with documentation of Benson's employment status, and Underwriters agreed to undertake his defense. At that point, Benson had not paid any money to Skeffington for the representation rendered. By mid-November, Underwriters had paid Skeffington for all work done beginning with his entry into the case in September 1977.

Benson soon contacted Underwriters about work he had done in his own defense. He apparently prepared two different bills reflecting Benson's work. The first covered work done from November 1976 to October 1977 (when Benson was unrepresented). The second covered work from October 1977 to January 1979. Benson also agreed to continue to do the investigative work on his own cases.

FURTHER, on consideration of the [**3]  petition for rehearing all of the judges on the original panel have voted to deny the petition. Accordingly,

 [*153]  IT IS ORDERED that the petition for rehearing be, and the same is, hereby DENIED.  
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 [*642]  CUDAHY, Circuit Judge. William J. Benson was charged with two counts of the willful failure to file tax returns for 1980 and 1981, and a third charge of tax evasion for 1981. We reversed his original conviction on these charges in United States v. Benson, 941 F.2d 598 (7th Cir. 1991). A jury again convicted Benson after a second trial on the same counts. Benson again appeals. He challenges both the sufficiency of the evidence supporting his conviction and a number of the jury instructions chosen by the district court. We believe that the evidence was sufficient to support the jury's determination and that the jury instructions were not problematic. We therefore affirm.

I.

The following chronology documents William Benson's work activities over the last twenty-something years--a history integral to understanding both Benson's alleged tax evasion and his defense to the charge. Additional facts are contained in our previous opinion in Benson's case, Benson, 941 F.2d 598 (7th Cir.  [**2]  1991).
Originally employed by Bethlehem Steel Corporation, Benson developed a seizure disorder from a bout of encephalitis during the late 1960's. He soon began receiving disability  [*643]  benefits from the Social Security Administration. He continued to accept these benefits until March 1983.

Beginning in the early 1970's, however, Benson returned to work. He apparently first began working as a bartender at a bowling alley and cocktail lounge. Next, he started assisting the Illinois Department of Revenue (IDOR) with its investigative work. In 1971, he joined forces with IDOR as an informant. He then eventually began to perform most, or all, of the tasks that IDOR's regular investigators performed. In 1974, he entered into a formal employment contract with IDOR. The employment relationship lasted until 1976, when IDOR fired him.

A fair amount of litigation eventually arose out of Benson's employment relationship with IDOR. During 1975 and 1976, individuals filed a number of lawsuits against IDOR agents generally alleging false arrests arising from an IDOR investigation of violations of Illinois's cigarette tax laws (the cigarette tax cases). Benson was among the IDOR defendants being sued.  [**3]  Benson himself soon began making allegations of corruption in a number of IDOR's affairs. Because his termination from IDOR occurred around the time he began making these allegations, Benson also filed suit against IDOR, claiming that the state agency violated his First Amendment rights in a retaliatory termination.

Representation of the state defendants (including Benson) in these cases was initially undertaken by the Illinois Attorney General. However, in June 1976, the Attorney General withdrew from representation because of Benson's allegations of corruption against his codefendants. The defense of IDOR employees was thereafter undertaken by an insurance company.

During this time period, IDOR was covered by a liability insurance policy issued by Continental Insurance Company. Continental's adjuster was Underwriters Adjusting Company. Underwriters assumed the defense of IDOR employees in the cigarette tax cases. It did not, however, immediately defend Benson against all of the claims. In 1977, it did, however, appoint Jack Skeffington to represent Benson on two of the claims. Underwriters was apparently under the impression, created by IDOR, that Benson was not an "employee"  [**2]  covered by the policy with respect to all of the claims. Instead, he was an independent contractor responsible for his own defense for all but two of the claims.

Benson undertook his own defense for approximately one year and had Skeffington's help for a second year. Then, in September 1978, Skeffington convinced Underwriters that it should pay for Benson's defense against all of the claims. In that same month, Benson and Skeffington contacted Underwriters with documentation of Benson's employment status, and Underwriters agreed to undertake his defense. At that point, Benson had not paid any money to Skeffington for the representation rendered. By mid-November, Underwriters had paid Skeffington for all work done beginning with his entry into the case in September 1977.

Benson soon contacted Underwriters about work he had done in his own defense. He apparently prepared two different bills reflecting Benson's work. The first covered work done from November 1976 to October 1977 (when Benson was unrepresented). The second covered work from October 1977 to January 1979. Benson also agreed to continue to do the investigative work on his own cases.

In late 1979 or early 1980, Benson met with Charles Rhodes, Underwriters' Chicago branch manager, and asked whether Underwriters would reimburse him for the investigative work he had [**5]  done defending his own case. Rhodes agreed to the requested reimbursement and told Benson to have Spiegel verify that Benson's work was necessary to his own defense. Spiegel wrote Rhodes a letter suggesting that he had employed Benson as an investigator and that he was billing Benson's time at $ 15 per hour. Rhodes agreed to this fee, and Speigel's periodic bills to Underwriters began to include regular charges for Benson's investigative work.

In July 1980, Underwriters paid Spiegel the first bill, which included a fee for Benson's investigative work. Thereafter, Underwriters paid the periodic bills that Spiegel would submit, each including amounts for Benson's investigative work. In March 1981, Benson was dismissed as a defendant in the cigarette tax cases, no damages having been assessed against him. In June 1981, Spiegel  [*644]  submitted two statements to Underwriters. The first was the final bill for the last two months of litigation, including Benson's investigative services for that time period. The second was the set of previously prepared billings for attorney's fees and investigative work performed from November 1976 to September 1978. Underwriters paid both amounts.

Benson apparently [**6]  hand-carried Spiegel's bills to Underwriters and returned a couple of days later to pick up the checks and take them to Spiegel. He would then accompany Spiegel to the bank, where Spiegel would deposit the checks in his law firm's regular business account. Spiegel then paid Benson his share in cash, issuing no receipt.

In all, Underwriters paid Speigel $ 264,856.82, including legal fees, investigative fees and other expenses. Of that amount, Benson received $ 9,984.80 in 1980 and $ 100,706.22 in 1981. Benson never filed tax returns for these years.

A jury found Benson guilty of tax evasion and of the willful failure to file income tax returns. The district court sentenced him to four years in prison followed by five years of probation. Benson presently appeals his conviction.

II.

Benson asserts a number of complaints on appeal. His first argument concerns the sufficiency of the evidence. He contends that the amounts that he received from Underwriters under the guise of "investigator's fees" actually constituted a settlement of his claim against Underwriters for its failure to immediately undertake his defense in the cigarette tax cases. He also complains that the district court [**7]  failed to give the jury instructions outlining this defense to the nonpayment of income tax, and that the district court erred in issuing several other instructions. We believe that the evidence was sufficient to support Benson's conviction, and we otherwise agree with the manner in which the district court handled matters before the jury. We therefore affirm.

A. The Sufficiency of the Evidence
Benson claims that the amounts that he received from Underwriters, ostensibly as "investigator's fees," really amounted to payment for settlement of a claim he had against Underwriters for the insurance company's breach of its duty to defend him. Because damages on account of personal injuries are nontaxable, 26 U.S.C. §  104(a)(2), Benson suggests that he never owed income tax on Underwriters' payments to him. The evidence, in his view, is therefore insufficient to support his conviction for tax evasion under 26 U.S.C. §  7201.
[HN1] In making a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence, a defendant shoulders a major burden. "Only where the record contains no evidence, regardless of how it is weighed, from which the jury could find guilt beyond a reasonable doubt, may an appellate court overturn [**8]  the verdict." United States v. Tipton, 964 F.2d 650, 657 (7th Cir. 1992) (citations omitted). We will therefore uphold the conviction unless, viewing the evidence and all inferences drawn from it in the light most favorable to the government, some required element of the crime is not reflected in the record.

[HN2] In order to sustain a conviction under 26 U.S.C. §  7201, the government must demonstrate: (1) willfulness; (2) the existence of a tax deficiency; and (3) an affirmative act constituting an attempt to evade or defeat the payment of tax.  United States v. Tishberg, 854 F.2d 1070, 1072 (7th Cir. 1988). Here, Benson apparently contends that his taxes were not deficient because the amounts that he received were really a nontaxable settlement for damages. He also appears to suggest that the element of willfulness was lacking because of his belief that he received a settlement. We do not accept either proposition. n1

n1 Benson makes a bald assertion that the evidence is generally insufficient to support a finding on any of the required elements of tax evasion. He does not, however, offer further support for this allegation, either factually or legally. We therefore consider further arguments beyond the scope of those discussed waived. See Holzman v. Jaymar-Ruby, Inc., 916 F.2d 1298, 1303 (7th Cir. 1990); Varhol v. National R.R. Passenger Corp., 909 F.2d 1557, 1566 (7th Cir. 1990).
 [**9]  

 [*645]  We disagree with Benson's claim that no tax deficiency existed. Even if we were to assume that Benson received payments in the settlement of a claim he may have had against Underwriters, that money would not have been exempt from income tax. [HN3] "The definition of gross income under the Internal Revenue Code sweeps broadly." United States v. Burke, 504 U.S. 229, 233, 119 L. Ed. 2d 34, 112 S. Ct. 1867 (1992). 26 U.S.C. §  61(a) defines gross income as "all income from whatever source derived ...." This section generally places a taxpayer wishing to avoid tax in the position of demonstrating that his gain falls within a recognized exception to the rule articulated in §  61(a). Absent exclusion under a recognized rule, however, the sum is taxable.  Comm'r of Internal Revenue v. Schleier, 132 L. Ed. 2d 294, 115 S. Ct. 2159, 2163 (1995); Downey v. Comm'r of Internal Revenue, 33 F.3d 836, 837 (7th Cir. 1994), cert. denied, 115 S. Ct. 2576 (1995). It is thus clear that the sums Underwriters paid to Benson are generally taxable--even if characterized as the settlement of a claim-- unless Benson can show that they fall within a recognized exception.

 26 U.S.C. §  104, upon which Benson attempts to rely, contains such an exception. [HN4] Section 104 excludes [**10]  from taxation compensation received for injuries or sickness, and it provides that:

  #[a) ... gross income does not include--

(2) the amount of any damages received (whether by suit or agreement and whether as lump sums or as periodic payments) on account of personal injuries or sickness;

 26 U.S.C. §  104(a)(2). Courts have interpreted [HN5] Section 104 to give rise to a two prong test for excludability. First, based on the treasury regulations drafted to enforce the section, a litigant must show that damages received were received "through prosecution of a legal suit or action based upon tort or tort type rights, or through a settlement agreement entered into in lieu of such prosecution." 26 C.F.R. §  1.104-1(c). The Supreme Court interpreted this section in Burke narrowly, disallowing the exclusion of back-pay awards under Title VII. 504 U.S. at 241-42. Second, the damages received must have been received "on account of personal injuries." Schleier, 115 S. Ct. at 2164-66.
Following Burke, with reference to the first prong of the test, we have stated that the touchstone in determining whether a given action was "tort or tort type" is:

the availability of a [**11]  broad range of damages to compensate the plaintiff for injuries caused by the violation of a legal right, and while such damages are often described in compensatory terms, tort damages usually "redress intangible elements of injury."

 Downey, 33 F.3d at 839 (citations omitted). Guided by this principle, we held that [HN6] an award for back-pay and liquidated damages could not be excluded from taxation under §  104(a)(2).  Id. at 840. See also Scheiler, 115 S. Ct. at 2167 (distinguishing factor of tort type right is the availability of compensatory remedies often redressing intangible, nonpecuniary elements of injury).

Here, the clear premium that Burke places upon the tort-like nature of the claim for damages undercuts Benson's attempt to demonstrate that his claimed settlement is not taxable. Even assuming that Benson's gain was a sum paid in settlement for the breach of a duty to defend, Benson's underlying claim would be neither tort nor tort-like. Instead, [HN7] the breach of a duty to defend provides, in general, an action in contract. See, e.g., Reis v. Aetna Casualty & Surety Co., 69 Ill. App. 3d 777, 387 N.E.2d 700, 709, 25 Ill. Dec. 824 (Ill. App. Ct. 1978) (a refusal to defend breaches contract and equitably estops [**12]  insurer from later using contract provision to its benefit to claim that coverage does not exist); Playboy Enters. v. St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins., 769 F.2d 425, 427 (7th Cir. 1985). "When an insurer declines to provide a defense for the insured, the insured may subsequently sue the insurer. An incorrect decision by the insurer is, of course, a breach of the insurance agreement." Robert E. Keeton & Alan I. Widiss, Insurance Law §  9.1 (West 1988). In light of this, again as a general rule, "damages in this type of case are usually limited to the policy limits."  [*646]  Green v. J.C. Penney Auto Ins. Co., Inc., 806 F.2d 759, 762 (7th Cir. 1986). Because, as a first cut, Burke contemplates tax exclusions only for "civil wrongs, other than breaches of contract," 504 U.S. at 234, Benson cannot avail himself of §  104's exclusion here.

Our conclusion on this issue is not altered by the fact that sometimes, the breach of a duty to defend can have tort-like qualities. Some commentators have suggested that a court's use of the terms negligence or bad faith to describe an insurer's conduct in refusing to defend marks a departure from strict contract to tort. Failure to Defend Insured, 20 A.L.R.4th  [**13]  23, 26. And [HN8] Illinois apparently recognizes the addition of a negligent or bad faith element to a breach of a duty to defend claim. See J.C. Penney, 806 F.2d at 763; Conway v. Country Casualty Ins. Co., 92 Ill. 2d 388, 442 N.E.2d 245, 247-48, 65 Ill. Dec. 934 (Ill. 1982). But none of this means that an action for the breach of a duty to defend has lost its contractual character for the purposes of the tax laws. As we have mentioned, the touchstone of the inquiry is whether a cause of action provides compensation "for those intangible elements of injury essential to a personal injury tort action." Downey, 33 F.3d at 839. Benson has not directed our attention to any elements of damage that might render his claim tort-like, and we cannot locate any. n2

n2 We note in this regard that, in his briefing, Benson does not allege that Underwriters played any part in the activities that formed the basis for his First Amendment claim against the State (he does not, for instance, claim that the failure to defend him was retaliatory). Instead, he relies on the simple fact that Underwriters did not undertake his defense at the point in time that the Attorney General abandoned it.

 [**14]  

To the contrary, Benson only received sums related to the actual costs of his defense--namely, attorney's and investigator's fees. Spiegel's itemized bills, which included costs for investigator's fees, charted the amounts that Underwriters ultimately paid Spiegel and Benson. This was the case even with regard to the final, retroactive payment for the original periods that Benson defended himself. Benson's case (assuming, again, that he had one) thus presented only a question of reimbursement for the actual costs of his defense--attorney's fees, investigator's fees and related expenses.

In addition, these were apparently the only damages that Benson could have received for the settlement of any claim he may have had. Benson was ultimately dismissed as a defendant, and no judgment was ever rendered against him. No questions involving an insured's attempt to recover an adverse judgment from an insurer therefore arose. See, e.g., J.C. Penney, 806 F.2d at 762-64. Nor did Benson's case present a problem of an insurer's bad faith or negligence, with the insured's consequent demand that the insurer be liable for a judgment in excess of the policy limits. In short, because there was no underlying [**15]  judgment against Benson in the cigarette tax cases, the only possible damages arising from the alleged breach (on the facts of which Benson has made us aware) were the costs of Benson's defense. See Reis, 387 N.E.2d at 711. These amounts may have been recoverable in a suit against Underwriters, but they would only have been damages flowing from a straightforward breach of contract--not excludable under §  104(a)(2) as damages for personal injuries.

Benson certainly has not come forward with any authority to the contrary. He points to a number of cases permitting an insured to recover beyond the policy limits because of the presence of bad faith. n3 See, e.g., Emerson v. American Bankers Ins. Co., 223 Ill. App. 3d 929, 1320-21, 166 Ill. Dec. 293,  [*647]  585 N.E.2d 1315 (Ill. App. Ct. 1992) (providing laundry list of bad faith actions). Yet none of these cases tell us why damages for the breach of a duty to defend ought to be exempt from taxation under §  104(a)(2). And further, they fail to demonstrate the presence of bad faith in Benson's case, which, as we have stated, presented no question of the need to recover beyond the policy limits. The record otherwise appears to us to be devoid of bad faith or negligence on the part of [**16]  Underwriters. This, in any event, was the finding of the district court, which noted that the insurance company had relied upon the State's assurance that Benson was not an employee. Although Benson makes a bare allegation of bad faith, he points to neither specific facts nor caselaw to support it. Instead, he appears to be relying simply upon the fact of Underwriters' failure to undertake his defense. Under these circumstances, we believe that any tort-like attributes that a claim for the breach of a duty to defend may sometimes possess were not present in this case. Because Benson's claim, assuming that he had one, would have been contractual in nature, any sums that he received in settlement of that claim were not exempt from tax pursuant to §  104(a)(2). n4

n3 Benson also suggests that because he was not the insured, but was a beneficiary under the policy, the refusal to defend sounded in tort and not contract. Benson has provided absolutely no support for this proposition, which we find legally questionable in any event. [HN9] Depending upon the language of the insurance contract, the duty to defend can extend to others in addition to the contracting party. See, e.g., Consolidated Rail Corp. v. Liberty Mutual Ins. Co., 92 Ill. App. 3d 1066, 416 N.E.2d 758, 760-61, 48 Ill. Dec. 485 (Ill. App. Ct. 1981) (holding that parent of subsidiary which had contracted with the insurer was also an insured to whom the duty to defend extended). In any event, Benson has not come forward with any authority for this proposition. We therefore consider the matter waived. Holzman, 916 F.2d at 1303; Varhol, 909 F.2d at 1566. [**17]  

n4 In engaging in this analysis concerning tort or tort-type rights, we do not intend to overlook the additional requirement that a taxpayer demonstrate that amounts were received "on account of personal injuries or sickness." See Schleier, 115 S. Ct. at 2167. We simply base our holding on the first prong of the inquiry--a necessary but not sufficient condition for excludability. See id.

Benson's case is, in any event, otherwise infirm. Benson never filed a claim against Underwriters complaining of the company's conduct. Nor, for that matter, did he sign a statement releasing the company from liability for the alleged breach (a matter which we assume an insurance company would have insisted upon in effecting a settlement). Underwriters' representatives in fact contend that a possible claim arising from the alleged breach of a duty to defend was never discussed. Nor, according to Underwriters, was a settlement ever agreed upon. For the purposes of tax liability at least this fact is dispositive; a taxpayer's after-the-fact characterization of a settlement will not be respected in light of a contrary [**18]  intent on the part of the payor.  Knuckles v. Comm'r of Internal Revenue, 349 F.2d 610, 613 (10th Cir. 1965) ("The most important fact ... in the absence of an express personal injury settlement agreement, is the intent of the payor as to the purpose in making the payment."). In addition, in light of the standard that binds us when we assess a jury's verdict, see Tipton, 964 F.2d at 657, we may be faced with the jury's determination that Underwriters, and not Benson, advanced a more credible story concerning the presence or absence of a settlement.

These factors, without more, would ordinarily convince us that Benson's conviction should be affirmed. Underwriters apparently did not intend to admit any liability or settle any claim, much less one for personal injuries. See Knuckles, 349 F.2d at 613. And the jury apparently rejected Benson's factual allegations that circumstances were something other than Underwriters claimed. Benson argues, however, that he believed that the sums that he received were in settlement of a claim, and that this fact, in light of the ambiguous nature of the payment, negates the willful nature of his violation. See, e.g., United States v. Harris, 942 F.2d 1125, 1131 (7th Cir. 1991) (discussing the statutory necessity of a willful violation). We have previously stated that, [HN10] in the realm of criminal tax liability, prosecutions must rest on a "clear rule of law." Harris, 942 F.2d at 1131. So we believe that some further discussion about the clarity of the rules governing Benson's gain is necessary.

In Harris, we found that the tax treatment of payments to mistresses was so uncertain that it provided a questionable basis for criminal liability. Because whether gain was a gift or a payment for services rendered was determined by the [**19]  donor's intent, the taxpayer had little control over or knowledge of the tax status of a particular payment.  942 F.2d at 1134. Furthermore, courts had issued different rulings on the tax treatment of sums paid to mistresses. These factors combined to create a situation that failed to  [*648]  provide a diligent taxpayer a clear standard of conduct. Id.
The present case, of course, is different. Benson's relationship with Underwriters was in no sense ambiguous; as his counsel admitted at oral argument, both parties understood that Benson was working as an investigator on his own case. In addition, it is relatively clear [**20]  that only settlements for damages arising from personal injuries are exempt from tax. If we assume, as we must, that Benson was aware of this rule, it is not difficult to place the burden of clarification on him. Benson might suggest that the status of the sum he received from Underwriters was unclear. But this is a matter over which he had a measure of control. He could have requested documentation from Underwriters demonstrating first that the sums he received were in settlement of a claim, and second, that the claim was for damages arising from personal injury. It was, in short, within Benson's power to remove all ambiguity from the situation. He thus could have avoided criminal liability altogether.

The lack of clarity in Benson's case is therefore quite different from the lack of clarity in Harris. There, payments to mistresses had been treated differently by different courts.  942 F.2d at 1133; in some cases they had been held taxable, and in some cases they had not. Id. It was therefore possible that the taxpayer believed she might receive the sum of money in question without income tax concerns. This factor was complicated by the informal nature of an affectionate relationship,  [**21]  which created a difficulty in characterizing sums as gifts or payments for services. In short, these circumstances did not provide fair notice of a possible criminal liability with the consequent demand that the taxpayer protect herself.

Here, in contrast, the rules governing settlements were clear. Some sort of formal documentation was necessary to successfully benefit from §  104's personal injury exclusion.  Knuckles, 349 F.2d at 613. Although the nature of the payments themselves may have been uncertain, Benson was aware of that uncertainty, and he could have sought clarification at an earlier date (instead of later attempting to create or benefit from ambiguity in court). Because it was within Benson's power, in the context of his business relationship with Underwriters, to eliminate the ambiguous nature of what he claims was a settlement, we do not believe that Harris stands in the way of upholding his conviction. He cannot escape the jury's finding of willfulness by pointing to the ambiguous nature of the payments from Underwriters. n5

n5 In addition, at oral argument, members of the panel inquired of the government whether payments to Benson as an investigator might have been gratuitous since he may not have been entitled to payment for services rendered in his own defense. This argument, however, has not been advanced or adopted by Benson (he in fact insisted that he was entitled to payment for the services). The argument is therefore waived.

 [**22]  

We believe, in short, that the evidence was sufficient to support Benson's conviction. Even assuming that he had settled a claim with Underwriters, the sums that he received would have been damages flowing from the breach of a contract, not damages arising from personal injuries under §  104(a)(2). In addition, we have strong reservations about allowing Benson to maintain that he believed that a settlement existed here. Such a claim is supported by neither the jury's verdict nor Underwriters' intent in paying the sums of money. Benson's conviction, as to the sufficiency of the evidence, is therefore affirmed.

B. The Jury Instructions
We also believe that Benson's complaints about various jury instructions lack merit. He essentially asserts three errors. He suggests first that the district court erred in refusing to tender several instructions outlining his theory of defense to the jury. He next suggests that the district court erred in defining willfulness to the jury. Finally, he claims that the district court erred in refusing a requested instruction concerning reliance on the advice of a government official. Benson apparently failed to preserve error on these objections, however.  [**23]  Although he submitted his requested instructions, this alone is not sufficient to preserve error for appeal. United  [*649]  States v. Mounts, 35 F.3d 1208, 1221 (7th Cir. 1994), cert. denied, 131 L. Ed. 2d 222, 115 S. Ct. 1366 (1995). Instead, [HN11] a defendant must object on the record to the district court's refusal to tender the requested instructions, clearly stating the reason for the objection. Id. Because Benson failed to object to the instructions that the court decided were appropriate, we must evaluate his claims under the "plain error" standard. See id. Plain error is an error so egregious that it results in a miscarriage of justice. Id.
The present record fails to reveal a miscarriage of justice. To the contrary, we believe that the district court properly refused to submit Benson's proffered instructions to the jury. A number of instructions related to Benson's theory of defense. These instructions would have generally informed the jury of various rules about the taxation of damages, suggesting in essence that the amounts that Benson received from Underwriters were not taxable because they constituted the settlement of a claim for the failure to defend. For reasons that we have stated above, this position [**24]  is legally untenable. Under the plain error standard or otherwise, the district court therefore correctly refused to submit these instructions to the jury. To the extent that the proffered instructions implied that the sums Benson received may have been exempt from taxation, they misstated the law. It is well-established that [HN12] a defendant is entitled to an instruction on a theory of defense only if, among other things, an instruction accurately states the law and is supported by the evidence. See United States v. Edwards, 36 F.3d 639, 645 (7th Cir. 1994) (listing four criteria for reversal on the grounds of erroneous jury instructions). Because neither condition was fulfilled here, the district court properly refused to submit Benson's theory of defense instructions.

The district court also properly rejected an instruction concerning reliance upon the statements of government officials. Benson requested that the court tender an instruction which read: "An American citizen such as Defendant has a right to rely upon representations and statements made to him by government officials." Benson apparently intended to use this instruction in order to escape liability for the illegal receipt [**25]  of social security disability benefits. He claimed that someone--either a state official at the IDOR or one of two social security agents--had assured him that he might be employed for a two-year trial period and nevertheless receive social security benefits. At trial, however, Benson himself was unclear about precisely who had made this representation to him. In light of this uncertainty, it was not plain error for the district court to refuse the instruction. Some authority holds that the defense is only available if the official upon whom the defendant claims to have relied was authorized to give the advice. See United States v. Browning, 630 F.2d 694, 702 (10th Cir.) (agent must have authority to bind government in transaction), cert. denied, 451 U.S. 988, 68 L. Ed. 2d 846, 101 S. Ct. 2324 (1981). This principle justifies the district court's refusal to give the instruction.

Finally, the district court did not plainly err in its failure to advise the jury that a good faith belief concerning the requirements of the tax laws may be subjective and need not be objectively reasonable. Although this is generally a correct statement of the law, see Cheek v. United States, 498 U.S. 192, 112 L. Ed. 2d 617, 111 S. Ct. 604 (1991), [HN13] a precise definition of good [**26]  faith highlighting subjectivity is not necessary to a willfulness instruction.  United States v. Hauert, 40 F.3d 197 (7th Cir. 1994), cert. denied, 131 L. Ed. 2d 744, 115 S. Ct. 1822 (1995). Further, the reasonableness of a belief is a factor which bears upon whether the belief was in fact held in good faith.  United States v. Hilgeford, 7 F.3d 1340, 1343 (7th Cir. 1993). Under these circumstances, it was not plain error for the district court to refuse to further define a good faith belief.

III.

The evidence was sufficient to support Benson's conviction. He cannot escape criminal sanction simply by characterizing the sums he received from Underwriters as a settlement of a claim because any claim that he possessed would have been contractual in nature, and any damages that he might have  [*650]  recovered in the prosecution of this claim would have been related to the simple costs of his defense. Under these circumstances, Benson's gain would not be excludable as damages received on account of personal injuries. We question the existence of a settlement and Benson's claimed reasonable belief in the same in any event. In light of the conflicting evidence on the issue, the jury certainly was not under any obligation [**27]  to accept Benson's version of the facts. Finally, we believe that the jury instructions sufficiently apprised the jury of its deliberative tasks.

For these reasons, the judgment of the district court is AFFIRMED.  
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OPINION:

 [*601]  MANION, Circuit Judge 

In a second superseding indictment, a grand jury charged William Benson with willfully failing to file income tax returns for 1980 and 1981, 26 U.S.C. §  7203, tax evasion for 1981, 26 U.S.C. §  7201, and perjury. (The district court dismissed the perjury charge before trial.) In 1980 and 1981, a single taxpayer (as was Benson) was required to file an income tax return if he received gross income exceeding $ 3,300. The indictment alleged that in 1980 and 1981 Benson received unreported income exceeding $ 3,300 from three sources. First, the indictment alleged that in 1980 and 1981 Benson received compensation for investigative  [**2]  services performed for attorney Andrew Speigel. Second, the indictment alleged that in 1981 Benson fraudulently received Social Security disability benefits he was not entitled to by working while concealing the fact that he was able to work. Finally, the indictment alleged that in 1981, Benson received interest income. The interest income by itself was not sufficient to require a return; consequently, the government's case depended upon proving that either the investigative fees or the Social Security payments were gross income to Benson. 

At trial, Benson contended that he was and still is completely disabled, that he never intended to mislead anybody about his employment status, and that he was entitled, or at least in good faith believed he was entitled, to the Social Security benefits. Since Social Security benefits were not gross income unless fraudulently received, Benson contended that the benefits to him were not gross income. As to the investigative fees, Benson contended they were really proceeds of a nontaxable personal injury settlement he made with an insurance adjuster. Benson also claimed that he relied on his attorney's advice that the investigative fees were not taxable [**3]  (because they were really proceeds of a settlement), and therefore his failure to report them was not willful. The jury, however, convicted Benson on all counts. 

On appeal, Benson raises a plethora of issues; one, however, is dispositive. Because we conclude the district court abused its discretion in admitting purported expert testimony from an IRS agent, we reverse Benson's conviction. 

I.  Factual Background 

Taken in the light most favorable to the government, the evidence showed the following. In the late 1960's, Benson, while working for Bethlehem Steel Corporation, contracted encephalitis. The encephalitis caused Benson to develop a seizure disorder that rendered him unable to work. In 1968, Benson applied for and was granted Social Security disability benefits. Social Security regulations allow people to receive disability benefits only if they are physically unable to perform "substantial work" or "substantial gainful employment." A recipient is required to notify the Social Security Administration concerning any return to work or change in his physical condition that might enable him to work. Yet, despite the notification requirement, from the early 1970's through 1980  [**4]  and 1981, Benson was employed in several jobs -- including bartending at a bowling alley and cocktail lounge, work as a criminal investigator for the Illinois Department of Revenue (IDOR), and investigative work  [*602]  for Speigel -- without telling the Social Security Administration. 

Benson's work as an investigator for Speigel arose from Benson's employment with IDOR. In 1970, Benson began to work for IDOR as an informant. Eventually, Benson began to perform all (or at least most of) the tasks IDOR's regular investigators performed. In late 1974, Benson and IDOR entered into an employment contract. The original contract called for Benson to work between 120 and 300 hours per month (approximately 30 to 60 hours per week) and for IDOR to pay Benson $ 750 per month, a sum that included reimbursement for Benson's expenses. In November 1975, Benson and IDOR signed a new contract that increased Benson's salary to $ 840 per month for the same amount of work. IDOR fired Benson in June 1976. 

In 1975 and 1976, a number of lawsuits were filed against IDOR agents, including Benson. Those suits alleged false arrests arising from an IDOR investigation of violations of Illinois' cigarette tax laws. At [**5]  that time, IDOR was covered under a liability insurance policy issued by Continental Insurance Company. Continental's adjuster was Underwriters Adjusting Company (Underwriters). IDOR did not tell Underwriters that Benson was an employee, so Underwriters did not consider Benson to be covered under the Continental policy. Eventually, however, Benson persuaded Underwriters that he was an employee entitled to coverage. 

In July 1980, Benson told Charles Rhodes, Underwriters' Chicago branch manager, that he had done substantial investigative work on his own cases, and that Underwriters should pay him for that work. Rhodes told Benson to have Speigel (who was representing Benson in the cigarette tax cases) verify that Benson's work was necessary to his defense. Speigel wrote Rhodes a letter telling Rhodes that Speigel had employed Benson as an investigator and that he was billing Benson's time at $ 15 per hour. Rhodes agreed to pay the investigative fees, and Speigel's periodic bills to Underwriters began to include regular charges for Benson's investigative work. 

After being dismissed as a defendant in the cigarette tax cases in 1981, Benson told Rhodes that the insurance company should [**6]  pay him for investigative work he had done on his cases in 1976, 1977, and 1978. Rhodes agreed, and Speigel soon began sending bills that included charges for Benson's investigative work during this time, which Underwriters paid. All told, Underwriters paid Benson approximately $ 10,000 in 1980 and $ 101,000 in 1981. 

According to Benson, IDOR's failure to tell Underwriters that he was an employee, a failure that resulted in Continental's denial of insurance coverage, was part of a campaign to harass and punish him for exposing corruption at IDOR. Benson claimed that the payments from Underwriters were part of an agreement he reached with Rhodes to settle any potential First Amendment claims against Underwriters for its alleged participation in IDOR's harassment. According to Benson, the settlement payments were disguised as investigative fees at Rhodes' suggestion because he wanted to keep the settlement secret so he would not jeopardize Continental's insurance business with the state (business that brought Continental all of $ 1,741 in 1979 and nothing in 1980, 1981, 1982, and 1983). Benson and Speigel testified that Benson told Speigel about the settlement, and the proposed method [**7]  of payment, and that Speigel went along. Benson and Speigel also testified that Speigel told Benson that the payments were not gross income for tax purposes, since they were settlement proceeds. Rhodes, however, testified that no secret settlement ever existed, and that the payments were compensation for investigative services. Furthermore, Speigel's letter to Rhodes stated that Benson had performed investigative services; Speigel's bills contained charges for investigative fees; no written settlement agreement existed; and Benson never executed a release of claims against Continental or Underwriters. 

 [*603]  II.  Testimony of IRS Agent Cantzler 

As its final witness, the government presented Internal Revenue Agent Gary Cantzler. Cantzler's purpose was to summarize the government's trial evidence and give his expert opinion as to why that evidence showed that Benson was required to file income tax returns in 1980 and 1981. Cantzler explained to the jury the filing requirements for 1980 and 1981. He also explained certain tax law concepts, such as gross income and taxable income. Cantzler calculated, based on the trial testimony, Benson's income for 1980 and 1981, and his income taxes due [**8]  for 1980 and 1981. 

During his testimony, Cantzler specifically opined that the payments from Underwriters and the Social Security Administration in 1980 and 1981 were gross income to Benson. To conclude that those payments constituted gross income, Cantzler first had to conclude that Benson received payments from Underwriters as fees for investigative services rather than as the result of a settlement, and that Benson was not entitled to the Social Security benefits he received. Based on the testimony and exhibits presented in the government's case, Cantzler identified specific factors supporting his conclusions that the payments from Underwriters were fees for investigative services, that the payments from Underwriters were not on account of a settlement, and that Benson was not entitled to receive Social Security disability benefits. 

To fully understand any possible problem with Cantzler's testimony, it is necessary to set out some (though not all) of the factors Cantzler cited to support his conclusions. Among the factors Cantzler cited to support his conclusion that the payments from Underwriters were payments for investigative fees and not on account of a settlement were: invoices [**9]  from Speigel to Underwriters for "Investigative fees"; Speigel's letter to Underwriters stating that he was employing Benson as an investigator; Speigel's 1980 tax return, which listed the money Speigel paid to Benson as a business expense for "investigator fees"; bills prepared by Benson for investigative fees; an affidavit Speigel executed in April 1981 stating that he had paid Benson as an investigator; the fact that Benson had never sued Underwriters, and had no claim against it; Rhodes' denial that any settlement existed; an analysis of two depositions Benson gave in which he gave contradictory accounts of how he arrived at the per hour charge and number of hours charged on his bills for investigative fees, and about whose idea (Benson's or Rhodes') it was to prepare the bills; and Rhodes' denial that he told Benson to prepare the bills. Among the factors Cantzler cited to support his conclusion that Benson was not entitled to Social Security benefits were: testimony by Marie Meinardi that Benson had worked for her as a bartender, and had worked as a bartender at a bowling alley; Benson's work for IDOR; testimony by Richard Dunn, an ex-IDOR employee, that Benson's employment  [**10]  contract with IDOR was a fraud on the Social Security Administration and that Benson had discussed his situation anonymously with the Social Security Administration and was told he would owe $ 20,000 back to the Social Security Administration; Benson's failure to tell Social Security employee DeVries that he worked for Meinardi; Benson's telling Social Security investigator Klaprat that his work for IDOR was part of a rehabilitation program when he knew it was not; Benson's failure to inform Bethlehem Steel (his former employer from which he was receiving disability payments), Metropolitan Life Insurance Company (from which he received a waiver of life insurance premiums because of his disability), or his treating physician that he was working full-time; and Benson's deposition testimony stating that he did not know why he had not reported his jobs to the Social Security Administration and that if he was guilty of fraud, so were others. 

Benson objected to much of Cantzler's testimony early and often during trial, on a number of different grounds. Benson now argues on appeal that the district court abused its discretion in allowing Cantzler to recapitulate the government's evidence  [**11]  (much of which was disputed) and opine as to whether the money Benson received from Underwriters was for investigative  [*604]  services rather than payment of a settlement and that Benson was not entitled to receive Social Security disability benefits. We agree that much of Cantzler's testimony was not properly admissible as expert testimony. 

[HN1] Federal Rule of Evidence 702 states that "If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise." The touchstone of admissibility under Rule 702 is helpfulness to the jury. The crucial question is, "'On this subject can a jury from this person receive appreciable help.'" 3 Jack B. Weinstein & Margaret A. Berger, Weinstein's Evidence para. 702[1], at 702-7 to 702-8 (1990) (quoting Wigmore, Evidence §  1923, at 21 (3d ed. 1940)) (emphasis supplied by Wigmore). An expert's opinion is helpful only to the extent the expert draws on some special skill, knowledge, or experience to formulate that opinion; the [**12]  opinion must be an expert opinion (that is, an opinion informed by the witness' expertise) rather than simply an opinion broached by a purported expert. See United States v. Lundy, 809 F.2d 392, 395-96 (7th Cir. 1987); cf.  Mid-State Fertilizer v. Exchange Nat'l Bank, 877 F.2d 1333, 1340 (7th Cir. 1989) (rejecting an economist's "expert" opinion that drew on inferences from the record rather than any economic expertise). 

Much of Cantzler's testimony consists of nothing more than drawing inferences from the evidence that he was no more qualified than the jury to draw. This problem is most apparent in Cantzler's testimony about why Benson was not entitled to Social Security disability benefits. The ultimate question concerning the Social Security benefits was whether Benson received those benefits knowing he was not entitled to them. Cantzler was no more qualified than the jury was to answer this question, and offered no special knowledge or skill that would be particularly helpful in arriving at an answer. Nothing in the record indicates Cantzler had any particular knowledge of Social Security law, or any other expertise that would give him [**13]  any special insight into the mind of a person trying to cheat the Social Security Administration. 

Moreover, as the government itself notes, Cantzler was required to rely in large part "on the testimony of certain witnesses whose credibility was vigorously attacked by Benson" and open to serious question. In other words, Cantzler had to make credibility determinations. [HN2] Credibility is not a proper subject for expert testimony; the jury does not need an expert to tell it whom to believe, and the expert's "stamp of approval" on a particular witness' testimony may unduly influence the jury. See United States v. Azure, 801 F.2d 336, 339-41 (8th Cir. 1986); United States v. Samara, 643 F.2d 701, 705 (10th Cir. 1981). This is not to say that an expert witness may not give testimony that, if accepted, will lead the jury to disbelieve a witness. Suppose, for example, that a defendant in a suit involving an automobile accident testifies that he was travelling 15-20 miles per hour when he entered an intersection and hit plaintiff's car. An accident reconstruction expert testifies, however, that based on his analysis of the angle of deflection, damage to [**14]  the two cars, his estimate of the point of impact, the two cars' final resting positions, and other factors, that the defendant had to be travelling at least 40 miles per hour when he entered the intersection. That is useful expert testimony because it is based on specialized knowledge that is not within the average layman's ken. If the jury accepted that testimony, it would necessarily disbelieve the defendant but that is no reason for refusing to admit the testimony. Cantzler's testimony was different, though. He had no reason based on any special skill or knowledge he possessed for believing, for example, that Meinardi was telling the truth when she testified that Benson worked for her, or that Rhodes was telling the truth when he denied any secret settlement existed between Benson and Underwriters. Cantzler did not give helpful expert  [*605]  testimony that cast another witness' testimony in a good or bad light; instead, he simply told the jury whom to believe. 

The government relies on our decision in United States v. Windfelder, 790 F.2d 576 (7th Cir. 1986), to support the admission of Cantzler's testimony. In Windfelder we held as a general matter that "expert [**15]  testimony by an IRS agent which expresses an opinion as to the proper tax consequences of a transaction is admissible evidence. Similarly ... an IRS expert's analysis of the transaction itself, which necessarily precedes his or her evaluation of the tax consequences, is also admissible." Id. at 581. The government contends that Cantzler's testimony was admissible because it was simply his analysis of the transactions that produced taxable income to Benson. 

The government reads too much into Windfelder. An IRS agent may be allowed to testify as an expert about his analysis of a transaction, but only if his testimony qualifies as expert testimony. That testimony must still involve the application of some special skill or knowledge that will help the jury understand the case. In Windfelder, the IRS experts' opinions "were based on their evaluation of evidence (the tax returns and related financial documents) that was within the area of their special expertise." Id. at 581-82. The experts in Windfelder used their "expertise in accounting and tax matters" in reaching their conclusions.  Id. at 581. That is not the [**16]  case with much of Cantzler's testimony. For example, it takes no particular expertise in tax or accounting matters to conclude from invoices and bills that on their face say "investigator fees" that they probably are for investigator fees. And Cantzler's opinion that Benson was not entitled to Social Security benefits required no application of any tax or accounting expertise. There was no complex transaction that had to be broken down so the jury could understand it, no tax law concept or accounting principle to explain. The jury was every bit as qualified to analyze the evidence concerning Benson's receipt of Social Security benefits as was Cantzler, and Cantzler had nothing to offer on this question that would assist the jury's understanding of the issue. 

We conclude that it was an abuse of discretion to admit much of Cantzler's testimony. But, does that error require reversal?  The trial judge concluded after hearing all of Cantzler's testimony and reflecting on it that he had made a mistake by admitting it. But the judge characterized that mistake as "probably a harmless mistake." Benson's attorney conducted a thorough cross-examination of Cantzler, exposing his lack of qualification [**17]  to opine on many of the matters he did. The judge instructed the jury that it was free to accept or reject Cantzler's testimony. As one commentator has noted in discussing the issue of whether to admit expert testimony, generally "the jury is intelligent enough, aided by counsel, to ignore what is unhelpful in deliberations." 3 Weinstein's Evidence para. 702[02], at 702-30. 

The government, however, has placed all its bets on the argument that Cantzler's testimony was proper; it has not argued that even if it was error to admit that testimony, the error was harmless. Harmless error, like any other argument, may be waived by failing to argue it.  United States v. Giovannetti, 928 F.2d 225 (7th Cir. 1991). We may overlook a failure to argue harmless error, id. at 226-27, but in this case we will not. Despite the district court's opinion that the error was harmless, and the other factors we have discussed weighing in favor of finding harmless error, we are not prepared to say from an unguided search of the lengthy trial record that admitting Cantzler's testimony was harmless. The government's case was not overwhelming; indeed, the credibility [**18]  of several of its most important witnesses was open to serious question. It may be that Cantzler's status as an "expert" bolstered the credibility of those witnesses enough to make a difference to the trial's outcome. Since the government has waived the contention that admitting Cantzler's testimony was harmless error, and since we are not convinced we should  [*606]  disregard that waiver in this case, we must reverse Benson's conviction. 

This does not mean that in any retrial the government may not present relevant expert testimony from an IRS agent. But that testimony must actually be expert testimony; the agent must apply his expertise in a way that is helpful to the jury. For example, assuming the agent has sufficient experience in analyzing settlements, it would be perfectly appropriate for the agent to discuss what business practices and documents he would expect to see if a settlement really existed, compare that to the documents and practices in this case, and express an opinion as to whether a settlement really did exist. The district court must assure, however, that the expert's opinion is based on analysis that is within his area of expertise; the expert may not simply recapitulate [**19]  the trial evidence and express an opinion based on that evidence and on his judgment of witness credibility. 

III.  Other Issues 

Even though we are reversing this case, we must decide several other arguments Benson raises that if accepted would require dismissing charges against him. In the interest of judicial economy, we will also discuss several issues Benson raises that are likely to recur on retrial. 

A.  Speedy Trial Act violation 

Benson contends that the district court should have dismissed, with prejudice, the failure to file counts, which were charged in the original indictment, and the tax evasion count, which was added in the first superseding indictment, because the Speedy Trial Act period had run out before trial. [HN3] The Speedy Trial Act provides that the government must bring a criminal defendant to trial no more than 70 days after the later of the indictment date or the date of the defendant's initial appearance before a judicial officer of the court in which the charge was pending.  18 U.S.C. §  3161(c)(1). In this case, two and one-half years passed between Benson's initial appearance and trial. The Speedy Trial Act, however, excludes certain time periods in calculating [**20]  the number of allowable days between initial appearance and trial. See 18 U.S.C. §  3161(h). Benson does not challenge the excludability of most of the time that passed between his initial appearance and trial. Instead, his Speedy Trial Act challenge is confined to challenging the excludability of the period between September 22, 1988, and October 31, 1988, the date the government filed its first superseding indictment against him. 

The dispute arises from the following facts. On August 22, the district court granted the government's motion to disqualify Speigel as Benson's trial counsel (on the ground that Speigel was to be a trial witness) and ordered Benson to find a new trial attorney. On September 22, Benson's new attorney entered his appearance. At that time, the court was ready to rule on pretrial motions Speigel and Benson had already filed. But Benson's new attorney requested an opportunity to review the motions already filed and to file new motions if necessary. The court initially granted 10 days to file new motions and to challenge the court's rulings on the already-filed motions. Benson's attorney did not think 10 days was sufficient and asked for a month, noting that in [**21]  any event he could not "see trying this case much before January." After some more discussion, the court finally granted Benson's attorney 20 days to file his pretrial motions. 

After this discussion, the topic of a superseding indictment arose. The government had previously discussed filing a superseding indictment to add a tax evasion count to the original two failure to file counts. The prosecutor told the court she could present the superseding indictment to the grand jury and file it with the court in two weeks. The judge then reset the due date for filing motions to "20 days after the superseding indictment is returned," which the court assumed would be two weeks from September 22. The court subsequently issued a written order giving Benson's attorney until October 26 to file pretrial motions, and another order ruling on the already-pending pretrial motions. 

 [*607]  The problem arises in this case because the government did not file the superseding indictment until October 31. Benson's attorney did not file any pretrial motions before then, based on the logical conclusion that there was no point in filing motions until he knew what was in the superseding indictment. On November 3, the [**22]  court extended the deadline for filing motions. Benson ultimately filed several motions, one of which was a motion to dismiss for violating the Speedy Trial Act. 

The district court denied Benson's motion to dismiss. We agree with that decision. The district court's written order specifically set aside the period from September 22 until October 26 to file pretrial motions. This court has held several times that [HN4] any time the district court expressly allows for filing motions is excludable under the Speedy Trial Act. See, e.g., United States v. Barnes, 909 F.2d 1059, 1065 (7th Cir. 1990); United States v. Piontek, 861 F.2d 152, 154 (7th Cir. 1988); United States v. Montoya, 827 F.2d 143, 153 (7th Cir. 1987); United States v. Tibboel, 753 F.2d 608, 610 (7th Cir. 1985). Therefore, the 34-day period between September 22 and October 26 was excludable. Even if the period from October 26 until November 3 (the date the district court extended the motions filing period) is counted as time running on the Speedy Trial Act clock, only eight of the 35 days left on the clock on September 22 expired. Since Benson does  [**23]  not challenge the excludability of any other time periods, there was no Speedy Trial Act violation. 

B.  Validity of the Sixteenth Amendment 

Benson argues that he did not need to file tax returns or pay income taxes because the Sixteenth Amendment was not properly ratified. (Although this is a typical "tax protester" argument, see, e.g., United States v. Thomas, 788 F.2d 1250, 1253 (7th Cir. 1986), Benson's failure to file returns had nothing to do with any general tax protest, and this case is not a tax protester case.) The district court denied Benson's request for an evidentiary hearing on this issue and refused to hear any Sixteenth Amendment argument. 

As the district court noted, we have repeatedly rejected the claim that the Sixteenth Amendment was improperly ratified. See, e.g., United States v. Foster, 789 F.2d 457, 461-63 (7th Cir. 1986); Thomas, 788 F.2d at 1253; United States v. Ferguson, 793 F.2d 828, 831 (7th Cir. 1986); Lysiak v. C.I.R., 816 F.2d 311, 312 (7th Cir. 1987) (per curiam). Accord United States v. Sitka, 845 F.2d 43 (2d Cir. 1988); United States v. Stahl, 792 F.2d 1438 (9th Cir. 1986).  [**24]  One would think this repeated rejection of Benson's Sixteenth Amendment argument would put the matter to rest. But Benson seizes on language in Foster in which, after rejecting the Sixteenth Amendment argument, we stated that "an exceptionally strong showing of unconstitutional ratification" would be necessary to show that the Sixteenth Amendment was not properly ratified.  789 F.2d at 463. Benson is the co-author of The Law That Never Was, a book that purports to "review the documents concerning the states' ratification of the Sixteenth Amendment" and to show "that only four states ratified the Sixteenth Amendment [and that] the official promulgation of the amendment by Secretary of State Knox in 1913 is therefore void." Thomas, 788 F.2d at 1253. Benson insists that as the co-author of The Law That Never Was, and the man who actually reviewed the state documents "proving" improper ratification, he is uniquely qualified to make the "exceptionally strong showing" we spoke of in Foster. Because of this, Benson insists, the district court should have at least granted him an evidentiary hearing on the Sixteenth Amendment issue. 

Benson [**25]  is wrong. In Thomas, we specifically examined the arguments made in The Law That Never Was, and concluded that "Benson ... did not discover anything." We concluded that Secretary Knox's declaration that sufficient states had ratified the Sixteenth Amendment was conclusive, and that "Secretary Knox's decision is now beyond review." See 788 F.2d at 1254. It necessarily follows that the district court correctly refused to hold an evidentiary hearing; no hearing is necessary to consider an issue that is "beyond review." 

 [*608]  C.  Denial of Benson's post-trial motions 

After the court entered the jury's verdict, Benson filed a "Motion to Dismiss or, in the Alternative, for a New Trial," pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 33. In that motion, Benson argued that the court was required to set aside the verdict because the government knowingly presented perjured testimony from several witnesses, including Marie Meinardi, who testified that she had employed Benson as a bartender in 1971 and 1972. Benson also argued alternatively that the court was required to hold a new trial because the verdict was against the weight of the evidence. In particular, Benson attacked the credibility [**26]  of government witnesses Rhodes, who testified about Benson's dealings with Underwriters, and Dunn, who testified among other things that Benson had admitted defrauding the Social Security Agency. Benson argues that the district court erred in denying his motion. The government responds that the court correctly denied the motion because it had no authority to grant it in the first place. We agree with the government. 

[HN5] Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 33 provides that new trial motions must be filed within seven days after the verdict "or within such further time as the court may fix within the 7-day period." Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 45(b) provides that the court may not extend Rule 33's time limit except as provided in Rule 33. The jury delivered its verdict on December 7, 1989. After discharging the jury, the court gave Benson ten days to file post-trial motions. Benson's attorney then requested sixty days, but the court refused that request. Instead, the court granted Benson ten days to file his motions and an additional 30 days to file supporting memoranda. The court specifically told Benson that the 10-day deadline was "jurisdictional." Despite that, Benson filed no  [**27]  post-trial motions within the 10-day period. Instead, on December 15, Benson filed a motion to extend the deadline until January 3, 1990. The district court granted this motion on December 20, two days after the 7-day period in Rule 33 for granting extensions ended. (The period ended December 18, not December 14, because Fed. R. Crim. P. 45(a) excludes weekends in computing time periods of eleven or fewer days.) 

Under Rules 33 and 45(b), the district court's original order giving Benson 10 days to file his motions was proper, since the court entered that order within the original 7-day filing period. However, the extension granted on December 20 was ineffective because the court granted that extension outside Rule 33's 7-day limit. Since Benson did not file his new trial motion within the 10-day period the district court originally set, the motion was untimely. Since the motion was untimely, the district court had no authority to decide the motion.  United States v. Hocking, 841 F.2d 735, 736 (7th Cir. 1988). It follows that we must affirm the district court's decision to deny Benson's motion, because it could not be error for the court to deny a motion it had no [**28]  authority to grant. 

The district court attempted to save Benson's untimely motion by entering an order nunc pro tunc on January 4, 1990, granting Benson 40 days to file his new trial motion as of December 7, 1989. The court reasoned that on December 7 it had "intended" to give Benson 40 days to file his motions but that it had "effected [its] intentions poorly" by mistakenly granting ten days to file motions and an additional 30 days to file supporting memoranda. The fact remains, however, that the court did not originally grant Benson 40 days to file motions; it granted him ten days. An express grant of ten days (whether mistakenly made or not) is difficult to reconcile with an "intent" to grant 40 days. More importantly, to allow the district court to retroactively extend the time to file motions would subvert our holding in Hocking that the time limits in Rules 33 and 45(b) "define judicial power to act." 841 F.2d at 737. 

As we noted in Hocking, courts occasionally allow trial judges to rule on untimely post-trial motions, despite provisions forbidding the extension of time to file, in certain "unique circumstances" in which  [*609]  the judge induces a party [**29]  to rely to his detriment on an erroneous extension of time. See id. at 737; cf.  Varhol v. National R.R. Passenger Corp., 909 F.2d 1557, 1568-72 (7th Cir. 1990) (Flaum, J., concurring) (in some unique circumstances district court may rule on untimely new trial motion despite Fed. R. Civ. P. 59's 10-day limit and Fed. R. Civ. P. 6(b)'s prohibition of extension); Government of the Virgin Islands v. Gereau, 603 F.2d 438, 442 (3d Cir. 1979) (per curiam) (untimely motion for reduction of sentence). Benson does not make any "unique circumstances" argument, however. Even if he did, it would fail because he cannot show detrimental reliance on the district court's mistaken statement that the rules set a 10-day rather than a 7-day limit. As we have seen, the court had the authority to extend the time limit to ten days. And, the court specifically told Benson that the 10-day deadline was jurisdictional, a statement that should have put Benson on notice that an irrevocable deadline approached. If Benson had indeed relied on the district court's misstatement, he would have filed his motions within ten days, and the court could have properly considered [**30]  them. As it is, Benson's motion was late, his tardiness does not fall into any exception to the rules' deadlines, and the district court could not have properly granted the motion. 

D.  Evidence of Social Security fraud 

The government alleged that in 1981, Benson was required to report Social Security disability payments he fraudulently received by concealing his employment from the Social Security Administration. Benson argues that the district court should have excluded evidence of his scheme to fraudulently obtain Social Security payments because that evidence was evidence of another wrong act prohibited by Fed.R.Evid. 404(b). Rule 404(b) does not apply to the Social Security fraud evidence, though, because evidence of the Social Security fraud was "intricately related" to the failure to file charges. See United States v. Sophie, 900 F.2d 1064, 1074, 1076 (7th Cir. 1990); United States v. D'Antoni, 874 F.2d 1214, 1216-17 (7th Cir. 1989). Social Security payments are not gross income unless fraudulently obtained. To prove that the Social Security payments were gross income to Benson, the government had to prove he obtained them by fraud.  [**31]  Evidence of Social Security fraud was not evidence of another act covered by Rule 404(b); it was direct evidence of an essential part of the crime charged. 

Benson complains that the Social Security fraud evidence was more prejudicial than probative. See Fed. R. Evid. 403. But all evidence of the crime charged against a defendant is (or at least is supposed to be) prejudicial. Direct proof of the charged offense does not create the unfair prejudice Rule 403 is meant to prevent. Benson argues that in this case, however, the government had charged other sources of income that were more than sufficient to trigger the filing requirement. But the government is entitled to try to prove all of the sources of Benson's income, so that it might obtain a conviction even if the jury rejects one of its theories. The government is not required to try Benson with less than all of its evidence. 

E.  Impeachment of Speigel 

When cross-examining Speigel, the government attempted to elicit testimony that Speigel had once publicly stated that people chosen for jury duty in criminal tax cases should vote "not guilty" to cure the "problem" of criminal tax prosecutions. The government offered this  [**32]  testimony to impeach Speigel's fidelity to the oath he took before testifying. Benson objected to the government's questioning but after considerable discussion the district court allowed the government's questioning to proceed. 

It is difficult to determine from Benson's brief the exact basis for his objection to this questioning. Benson seems to argue that evidence of the statement was not relevant. But jurors take an oath to follow the law as the judge instructs. Speigel's statement advised jurors in criminal tax cases to vote not guilty, regardless of the law. Though he did not say it in so  [*610]  many words, one could interpret Speigel's statement as advocating to potential jurors that they should disregard their oaths in criminal tax cases. Logically, this evidence tended to show that Speigel might not regard an oath as binding. [HN6] Evidence is relevant if it has "any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more or less probable than it would be without the evidence." Fed. R. Evid. 401. Since Speigel's credibility was a "fact ... of consequence to the determination of the action," and his statements logically bore upon his credibility,  [**33]  evidence of the statements is relevant under Rule 401. 

Benson also mentions that the questioning created prejudice, apparently because it would tend to make the jury less inclined to believe Speigel's testimony and thus less inclined to accept Benson's defense that he relied in good faith on Speigel's advice in not filing income tax returns. Benson is apparently raising an argument based on Fed. R. Evid. 403. However, the jury was entitled to hear evidence that would help it determine whether Speigel was telling the truth when he testified. The district court moved to cure any unfair prejudice by instructing the jury to use Speigel's statements only to judge Speigel's credibility and not to hold Speigel's statements against Benson. Moreover, Benson had ample opportunity to rehabilitate Speigel on cross-examination. The district court carefully considered whether or not to allow the government's questions concerning Speigel's statements, and did not abuse its discretion in deciding that the statements' probative value was not substantially outweighed by their potential for unfair prejudice. 

F.  Immunity instruction concerning Speigel 

Speigel was called to testify before the grand [**34]  jury but invoked his Fifth Amendment right not to incriminate himself. Speigel testified before the grand jury and at Benson's trial only after being granted immunity under 18 U.S.C. §  6002. At the government's urging, and over Benson's objection, the district court gave an instruction explaining to the jury that Speigel 

received immunity, that is, a promise from the government that any testimony or other information he provided would not be used against him in a criminal case, except in a prosecution for perjury. You may give [Speigel's] testimony such weight as you feel it deserves, keeping in mind that it must be considered with great caution and great care.

Benson contends that the district court erred by giving the immunized testimony instruction because the instruction is meant to protect the defendant from the sometimes unreliable testimony of a witness to whom the government grants immunity to testify against the defendant. Benson cites no authority for this proposition, but it seems to make sense. If somebody receives a favor from the government to testify (such as immunity) one could logically conclude that the witness might shade his testimony in his benefactor's favor.  [**35]  As such, the instruction can be translated to say, "Be careful that the witness isn't shading his testimony for the government in exchange for immunity." Following this reasoning, it seems to make little sense to give the immunized testimony instruction at the government's request: it is unlikely that a witness would shade his testimony (or, in other words, lie) in the defendant's favor in return for a benefit received from the government. 

However, this circuit has recently upheld a district court's decision to give the immunized witness instruction at the government's request, explaining that such an instruction aids the jury in assessing the witness's credibility. United States v. Lawrence, 934 F.2d 868, 872-73 (7th Cir. 1991). And in any event, we think it unlikely that the instruction would have had much, if any, effect on the jury's decision in this case. First, the instruction ultimately left the decision to the jury to give Speigel's testimony "such weight as you feel it deserves." Second, the instruction told the jury that Speigel's testimony could be used against him in a perjury prosecution  [*611]  if he lied; in other words, immunity does not excuse  [**36]  lying. Third, the logic of Benson's own argument suggests that if the instruction would cause the jury to look askance at any of Speigel's testimony, it would be the testimony he gave favoring the government. Why tell lies that hurt your benefactor (that is, false testimony that favors Benson), especially when your benefactor has the power to prosecute you for perjury for those lies? It was not reversible error to give the immunity instruction. 

G.  Vindictive prosecution 

Benson moved in the district court to dismiss the charges against him because the decision to prosecute him was based on an improper vindictive motivation. The district court denied Benson's motion without allowing discovery or holding an evidentiary hearing. On appeal, Benson contends he made a sufficient showing of vindictive prosecution to at least require discovery and an evidentiary hearing. 

[HN7] The Fifth Amendment has been interpreted to prohibit the government from prosecuting a defendant because of some specific animus or ill will on the prosecutor's part, or to punish the defendant for exercising a legally protected statutory or constitutional right. See United States v. Goodwin, 457 U.S. 368, 372, 73 L. Ed. 2d 74, 102 S. Ct. 2485 (1982);  [**37]  United States v. DeMichael, 692 F.2d 1059, 1061-62 (7th Cir. 1982); United States v. Adams, 870 F.2d 1140, 1145 (6th Cir. 1989). To compel discovery on a vindictive prosecution claim, a defendant "must show a colorable basis for the claim. A colorable basis is some evidence tending to show the essential elements of the claim." United States v. Heidecke, 900 F.2d 1155, 1159 (7th Cir. 1990). To obtain a hearing, the defendant must meet a somewhat higher burden; he must "offer sufficient evidence to raise a reasonable doubt that the government acted properly in seeking the indictment." Id. at 1160. 

Benson points to three circumstances that he contends raise a colorable claim of vindictive prosecution. First, Benson claims that while an IDOR employee, he exposed considerable corruption within that department, for which he has been paying ever since by having to endure a "campaign of harassment" by Illinois officials. As part of that campaign, he contends, the attorney who opposed him in litigation he brought against IDOR (see Benson v. Allphin, 786 F.2d 268 (7th Cir. 1986)) referred the [**38]  original fraud case against him to the United States Attorney's office. Benson, however, does not explain how the state's attorney's vindictiveness demonstrates any vindictiveness on the federal prosecutor's part. Cf.  United States v. Schoolcraft, 879 F.2d 64, 67 (3d Cir. 1989). The unsupported claim that the United States Attorney acted in concert with the vindictive state officials is not sufficient to raise a colorable vindictive prosecution claim. 

Second, Benson points to the fact that he co-authored The Law That Never Was. Benson claims that because of this the IRS classified him as a "tax protestor" and singled him out for prosecution and conviction in an effort to discredit him. But prosecuting those who lead others to go astray serves to deter those who might otherwise violate the law, a legitimate interest the government may consider in deciding whether to prosecute. See Wayte v. United States, 470 U.S. 598, 613, 84 L. Ed. 2d 547, 105 S. Ct. 1524 (1985). In any event, Benson has presented no evidence to show that the government prosecuted him for his views rather than for his substantive tax law violations. Benson does point to three short notices of his conviction [**39]  that appeared in the press. Only one of these notices mentions anything about tax protestors, and one does not even mention The Law That Never Was. While Benson labels these notices as "IRS press releases," there is nothing in the notices themselves that shows they came from the IRS. Benson was prosecuted for failing to report and evading taxes on approximately $ 100,000 of income. Benson has not even tried to show that it is in any way unusual for the government to prosecute people who  [*612]  have avoided paying taxes on over $ 100,000. 

Finally, Benson claims that the then-United States Attorney, Anton R. Valukas, prosecuted him for publicly speaking out about Valukas's financial disclosure statement. In March 1986, Benson obtained Valukas's financial disclosure statement. Benson called Valukas's office and left a message saying that he intended to give a speech in which he would disclose alleged improprieties in the statement. According to Benson, when Valukas returned the call he threatened to sue Benson. Benson also claims that Valukas called him a "common criminal" after Benson questioned Valukas at a public meeting about his ownership of stock in Bally Manufacturing Company and [**40]  passed out copies of Valukas's financial disclosure statement after the meeting. 

Assuming the statements Benson attributes to Valukas were made (and this is just an assumption), they did not necessarily require discovery concerning vindictive prosecution. Benson not only had to produce evidence of some animus or retaliatory motive -- which the statements could provide -- he also had to produce evidence tending to show that he would not have been prosecuted absent that motive. Under the facts of this case, the district court did not clearly err in holding that Valukas's alleged hostility towards Benson was not sufficient to require further discovery. 

The Justice Department's internal regulations place final responsibility for criminal tax prosecutions with the Assistant Attorney General for the Tax Division. United States Attorneys' Manual, § §  6-2.212, 6-218. Under those regulations, Valukas could not prosecute Benson without the Tax Division's approval. Id. at § §  6-2.240, 6-2.245-47. The government submitted to the district court in camera the records of its authorization from the Tax Division to prosecute Benson. Those documents showed that the United States Attorney  [**41]  received the Tax Division's approval before prosecuting Benson. After reviewing the authorizing documents, the district court concluded that Benson's prosecution resulted from a proper exercise of authority. 

Benson argues that he submitted evidence showing that the Justice Department, IRS, and United States Attorney did not follow every procedure normally followed before prosecuting. But failure to follow internal operating policy in prosecuting is not enough by itself to require discovery on a vindictive or selective prosecution claim. See United States v. Mitchell, 778 F.2d 1271, 1276 (7th Cir. 1985). The important point is that the Tax Division had to, and did, approve the prosecution. Unless the Tax Division was nothing more than a rubber stamp for the United States Attorney, or had some vindictive motive of its own (and Benson has produced evidence of neither), the fact that the Tax Division had the final say in deciding whether to prosecute makes it "improbable" that prosecutorial vindictiveness was the reason for Benson's prosecution. Cf.  Heidecke, 900 F.2d at 1159-60; Schoolcraft, 879 F.2d at 68 (both holding that  [**42]  in federal prosecution after failed state prosecution, the role of the federal prosecutor in finally deciding to prosecute renders it unlikely that state's possible motive for retaliation would have caused the prosecution). 

Also undercutting any claim that the prosecution resulted from Valukas's pique is the fact that Benson has not shown that it is unusual for the government to prosecute people who avoid paying taxes on over $ 100,000. This fact distinguishes this case from Adams, on which Benson relies heavily. In Adams, the defendant argued that she was prosecuted for filing false tax returns only because she had sued the EEOC, her former employer, for discrimination.  870 F.2d at 1141. In remanding the case for discovery concerning vindictive prosecution, the court placed great emphasis on evidence the defendant presented showing that criminal prosecutions were unusual in cases such as hers.  Id. at 1141, 1144-45. Where the prosecution is not an unusual one, it is much less likely that the government prosecuted out of some vindictive motive. 

 [*613]  In sum, the district court correctly decided that the evidence Benson submitted, in the context  [**43]  of the facts of this case, did not warrant the "unusual step," id. at 1146, of allowing Benson discovery concerning the issue of prosecutorial vindictiveness. That being the case, the district court did not err in denying Benson's motion to dismiss for vindictive prosecution. 

H.  Reliance on counsel instruction 

At trial, Benson contended that he did not willfully fail to file income tax returns based on the payments from Underwriters, or evade taxes on those payments, because he sought and acted on Speigel's advice in determining whether the payments from Underwriters were taxable. Benson and Speigel both testified that Benson told Speigel that the payments from Underwriters resulted from a settlement with Underwriters; Speigel told Benson that money received from such a settlement was not taxable. Benson tendered an instruction to the court concerning his "advice of counsel" defense which stated: 

The defendant claims that he is not guilty of willful wrongdoing because he acted on the basis of advice from his attorney. 

If the defendant before taking any action sought the advice of an attorney whom he considered competent, in good faith and for the purpose of [**44]  securing advice on the lawfulness of his possible future conduct, and made a full and accurate report to his attorney of all material facts of which he has the means of knowledge, and acted strictly in accordance with the advice of his attorney given following his full report, then the defendant would not be willfully doing wrong in omitting something the law requires, as that term is used in these instructions.

The district court rejected Benson's proposed instruction and instead gave the government's proposed instruction: The government's instruction was similar to Benson's but differed in two main respects. First, the government's instruction told the jury that Benson's reliance on counsel was a circumstance that it could consider in determining whether Benson acted willfully, rather than a complete negation of willfulness. Second, the government's instruction told the jury not to consider Benson's reliance if his reliance was not reasonable. Benson contends that these two differences constitute reversible error. 

[HN8] Generally, a defendant's mistake about what the law requires is no defense to a criminal prosecution; "the common law presumed that every person knew the law." Cheek v. United States, 498 U.S. 192, 112 L. Ed. 2d 617, 111 S. Ct. 604, 609 (1991).  [**45]  But because of the tax laws' complexity, Congress ameliorated this general rule by providing that certain criminal tax offenses (such as the ones charged against Benson) be "willful." Id. A "willful" violation requires "a voluntary, intentional violation of a known legal duty." Id. at 610 (citing United States v. Pomponio, 429 U.S. 10, 12, 50 L. Ed. 2d 12, 97 S. Ct. 22 (1976) (per curiam)). To prove a willful violation, therefore, the government must show "that the law imposed a duty on the defendant, the defendant knew of the duty, and that he voluntarily and intentionally violated that duty." Id. 

Benson's reliance on counsel defense is essentially a claim that he did not act willfully. If a person who truly does not know what the law requires seeks in good faith advice from counsel and is given wrong advice that he nonetheless believes (and has no reason to disbelieve), he does not act willfully in following that advice. A person who has a good faith belief that he is not violating the law does not act willfully. "One cannot be aware that the law imposes a duty upon him and yet be ignorant of it, misunderstand the law, or believe that the duty does not exist."  [**46]  Id. at 611. 

According to Benson, it was wrong to tell the jury that reliance on counsel was but a "circumstance" to consider in assessing whether he acted (or failed to act) willfully because it allowed the jury to convict him even if the jury found that he honestly believed and in good faith acted upon Speigel's advice -- or, in other words, that he acted in honest ignorance  [*614]  of his legal duty to file a return and pay income tax. That is not so in this case, for at least two reasons. First, neither Benson's proposed instruction nor the instruction the court actually gave mentioned any requirement that the jury find Benson acted on Speigel's advice in good faith or that Benson honestly believed Speigel's advice and thus acted in honest ignorance of his legal duties. [HN9] Seeking and relying on counsel's advice is not by itself a defense. See United States v. Conforte, 624 F.2d 869, 876 (9th Cir. 1980) (Kennedy, J.); United States v. Poludniak, 657 F.2d 948, 959 (8th Cir. 1981). Reliance on counsel's advice excuses a criminal act only to the extent it negates willfulness and to negate willfulness counsel's advice must create (or perpetuate) an honest [**47]  misunderstanding of one's legal duties. If a person is told by his attorney that a contemplated course of action is legal but subsequently discovers the advice is wrong or discovers reason to doubt the advice, he cannot hide behind counsel's advice to escape the consequences of his violation. See Poludniak, 657 F.2d at 659. Since Benson's proposed instruction did not require the jury to find that he relied in good faith on Speigel's advice, reliance on that advice, as Benson framed the issue, could be no more than a circumstance to consider in assessing willfulness. 

In any event, the instructions as a whole were sufficient to inform the jury not to convict Benson if it believed that he was ignorant of his legal duties to file a return and pay taxes. The court correctly instructed the jury that "willfully" means "the voluntary and intentional violation of a known legal duty" and that a failure to act is willful only "if done voluntarily and intentionally, as distinguished from accidentally, inadvertently or negligently." The court also instructed the jury that "[a] good faith belief that payments made by [Underwriters] were an insurance settlement ... negates [**48]  willfulness." A jury believing Benson actually believed and in good faith relied on Speigel's advice could not convict Benson based on the Underwriters payments in light of these instructions. Indeed, a separate reliance on counsel instruction may be superfluous. We have held before that [HN10] where the court properly instructs the jury on good faith and willfulness, a separate reliance on counsel instruction is unnecessary.  United States v. Kelley, 864 F.2d 569, 573 (7th Cir. 1989). In light of the instructions as a whole, and the way Benson himself framed the reliance on counsel issue, it was not error to instruct the jury that reliance on counsel was a "circumstance" to consider in evaluating willfulness. 

This brings us to Benson's second complaint about the reliance on counsel instruction, namely that the instruction allowed the jury to consider Benson's reliance only if that reliance was reasonable. In this respect, the instruction seems to run head on into the Supreme Court's holding in Cheek. Cheek contended as a defense to charges that he willfully failed to file income tax returns and willfully evaded taxes that he honestly believed wages were not income.  [**49]  On appeal, this court held that the district court correctly instructed the jury that "an honest but unreasonable belief is not a defense." United States v. Cheek, 882 F.2d 1263, 1267, 1268 (7th Cir. 1989). The Supreme Court disagreed and reversed Cheek's conviction. According to the Court, whether or not Cheek's belief that wages are not income was objectively reasonable was irrelevant to whether Cheek acted willfully or, in other words, whether Cheek voluntarily and intentionally violated a known legal duty. 111 S. Ct. at 611. To be sure, [HN11] the reasonableness of a belief is a factor for the jury to consider in determining whether a defendant actually believed and acted on it. The more farfetched a belief is, the less likely it is that a person actually held or would act on that belief. See id. at 611-12. "But it is not contrary to common sense, let alone impossible, for a defendant to be ignorant of his duty based on an irrational belief that he has no duty. ..." Id. at 611. 

When a defendant contends that he did not act willfully because he had an honest misunderstanding of what the law requires, and that [**50]  he came by that misunderstanding because of a lawyer's incorrect  [*615]  advice, it is wrong to tell the jury that it may consider the defendant's reliance on that advice as a defense only if that reliance was reasonable. Following such an instruction, the jury might very well conclude that if the attorney's advice is objectively unreasonable (for example, advice that wages are not income), reliance on that advice would be unreasonable, and might very well convict the defendant even though it concluded he honestly believed that what he was doing was legal. If Benson raises a reliance on counsel defense at retrial, and the evidence supports an instruction on that defense, n1 the district court may instruct the jury that the reasonableness of the advice is a factor it may consider in determining Benson's good faith reliance on that advice; the court may not, however, instruct the jury to disregard Benson's reliance if it finds the advice (or reliance) unreasonable. 

n1 It might be that what Benson presents as his reliance on counsel defense did not really touch on a misunderstanding about any legal duty, the Court's concern in Cheek. The only advice Speigel gave to Benson -- based solely on Benson's representation that the payments from Underwriters were for a settlement -- was that settlement payments are not taxable. Nobody disputed the propriety of this advice. The only question in this case was factual: were the payments from Underwriters really on account of a settlement? We leave it to the parties and court at any retrial to determine the propriety of an advice of counsel instruction, based on the evidence at that trial. 

 [**51]  

IV. 

Benson has presented numerous issues with little focus, usually an ineffective method of arguing an appeal. In this case, however, one issue has merit. Because the district court abused its discretion in admitting much of Cantzler's testimony, we must reverse Benson's conviction. 

REVERSED.  

DISSENTBY:

KANNE 

DISSENT:

KANNE, Circuit Judge, dissenting. 

In typical fashion for a tax case, the government called an expert to summarize the complex evidence it had presented in its case in chief. "The nature of a summary witness' testimony requires that he draw conclusions from the evidence presented at trial." United States v. Esser, 520 F.2d 213, 218 (7th Cir. 1975), cert. denied, 426 U.S. 947, 96 S. Ct. 3166, 49 L. Ed. 2d 1184 (1976). A summary witness need not necessarily be an expert, but experts in accounting and other disciplines regularly give summary evidence of the sort envisioned by Federal Rule of Evidence 1006. 5 D. LOUISELL & C. MUELLER, FEDERAL EVIDENCE §  599, at 540 (1981). See, e.g., United States v. Kapnison, 743 F.2d 1450, 1557-58 (10th Cir. 1984) (under Rule 1006, IRS agent allowed to give testimony summarizing exhibits and testimony),  [**52]  cert. denied, 471 U.S. 1015, 105 S. Ct. 2017, 85 L. Ed. 2d 299 (1985); United States v. Lemire, 232 U.S. App. D.C. 100, 720 F.2d 1327, 1346-50 (D.C. Cir. 1983) (under Rule 1006, FBI agent who was Certified Public Accountant allowed to summarize bank transactions and testimony of witnesses), cert. denied, 467 U.S. 1226, 104 S. Ct. 2678, 81 L. Ed. 2d 874 (1984). 

In a case strikingly similar to the present one, we held that "expert testimony by an IRS agent which expresses an opinion as to the proper tax consequences of a transaction is admissible evidence." United States v. Windfelder, 790 F.2d 576, 581 (7th Cir. 1986). We also noted that "an IRS expert's analysis of the transaction itself, which necessarily precedes his or her evaluation of the tax consequences, is also admissible evidence." Id. 

With regard to the expert testimony admitted by a district judge, we are required to sustain his decision unless it was manifestly erroneous.  Salem v. United States Lines Co., 370 U.S. 31, 35, 82 S. Ct. 1119, 1122, 8 L. Ed. 2d 313 (1962). The key transaction in this case concerns whether or not the payments received by Benson from [**53]  the insurance company and Social Security Administration were fraudulently obtained -- thus making such payments taxable income. 

In light of the language in Windfelder, 790 F.2d at 581 and United States v. Toushin, 899 F.2d 617, 620 n.4 (7th Cir. 1990), I do not believe that permitting the government's expert witness to testify concerning his analysis of the transaction (payment  [*616]  of insurance and Social Security benefits), which necessarily preceded his evaluation of the tax consequences could be deemed manifestly erroneous. It is certainly arguable that an IRS agent could qualify as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, and training to give an opinion on the existence of fraud for the purpose of determining taxable income. The wide discretion afforded the district judge should enable him to determine whether the transaction analyzed by the IRS agent fell within the purview of his expertise. 

Even if a finding of manifest error could be made with regard to the admission of the expert's summary testimony, I disagree with the majority's rejection of the application of the harmless error doctrine. The district judge initially made a determination [**54]  that any error he may have made in admitting the agent's testimony was harmless. In determining whether the district judge committed manifest error, we must necessarily address this harmless error determination, as it was incorporated into the decision to allow the testimony to remain in evidence. 

For the foregoing reasons, I respectfully dissent from the reversal of the conviction.  
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 [*972]  McKAY, Circuit Judge. 

Richard P. Hairston was found guilty by a jury of three counts of willfully failing to file income tax returns for the years 1980, 1981, and 1982 n1 in violation of 26 U.S.C. §  7203 (Supp. III 1985). n2 

n1 Mr. Hairston stipulated that he received gross income of $ 13,778.40 in 1980, $ 26,248.44 in 1981, and $ 24,615.79 in 1982. Stipulation, record, vol. 1, at 46. 

n2 [HN1]  26 U.S.C. §  7203 provides in pertinent part: "Any person required under this title ... to make a return ... who willfully fails to ... make such return ... at the time or times required by law or regulations, shall, in addition to other penalties provided by law, be guilty of a misdemeanor. ..."

I. 

The record shows that Mr. Hairston filed income tax returns for [**2]  the years 1973 through 1976, inclusive. In the spring of 1976, his 1975 tax return was audited, and Mr. Hairston was required to pay an additional $ 465 in taxes. Mr. Hairston then began purchasing literature published by, and attending tax seminars conducted by, Irwin Shiff, William J. Benson, Marvin L. Cooley, George Gordon, and others associated with the so-called "tax protest movement" who claim that the sixteenth amendment was never properly ratified and that filing tax returns is completely voluntary. He even attended some criminal trials of those charged with failure to file and visited acquaintances imprisoned on tax-related charges. See record, vol. 2, at 137, 168. On several occasions, he freely voiced his views that the tax laws were illegal and unconstitutional. See id. at 137, 161-67. 

In the years 1977, 1978, 1979, and 1980, Mr. Hairston filed returns completed with only the words "object," "self-incrimination," or "none." He filed no returns in 1981 and 1982. He received numerous registered letters from the Internal Revenue Service informing him of his obligation to file a return and the possibility of criminal liability for failure to comply. In the years 1980,  [**3]  1981, and 1982, Mr. Hairston submitted thirty-one withholding certificates commonly known as "W-4s" on which he claimed to be exempt from withholding requirements. 

Mr. Hairston's defense at trial was that he did not file due to a bona fide misunderstanding as to his legal duty to file a return. [HN2] A good faith misunderstanding of the duty to file a return can negate the willfulness element of a failure-to-file charge. See United States v. Murdock, 290 U.S. 389, 396, 78 L. Ed. 381, 54 S. Ct. 223; United States v. Ware, 608 F.2d 400, 405 (10th Cir. 1979). The misunderstanding need not have a reasonable basis to provide a defense. See United States v. Phillips, 775 F.2d 262, 264 (10th Cir. 1985). We have held that "a subjective standard is appropriately applied in assessing a defendant's claimed belief that the law did not require that he file a return."  [*973]  Id. Mr. Hairston claimed that the seminars he attended and literature he read caused him to believe that filing a return was voluntary and that he was under no legal duty to file. n3 

n3 Mr. Hairston did not, and could not, argue that he understood the obligations imposed upon him by law but that his good faith belief that the law is unconstitutional negated the willfulness element. See Ware, 608 F.2d at 405 (defendant's disagreement with the law or his belief it is unconstitutional does not constitute defense of good faith misunderstanding of filing requirements); United States v. Dillon, 566 F.2d 702, 704 (10th Cir. 1977), cert. denied, 435 U.S. 971, 56 L. Ed. 2d 63, 98 S. Ct. 1613 (1978).
 [**4]  

II. 

On appeal, Mr. Hairston first argues that the trial court erred in failing to admit into evidence the tax protest literature upon which he ostensibly relied in forming his belief that he was under no legal obligation to file. The court allowed Mr. Hairston to testify extensively with respect to the seminars he attended and tax literature he purchased "that might have led him to make a mistake." Record, vol. 3, at 26. Titles were quoted, passages were read, and the thrust of the materials were summarized. See id. at 18-36. In fact, the majority of Mr. Hairston's testimony pertained to the various materials and his interpretation of them, and Mr. Hairston was the sole defense witness. Nearly the entire closing argument was devoted to this defense. See id. at 70-77. 

The literature dealt exhaustively with the constitutionality of the tax laws. Because a good faith disagreement with the laws or good faith belief that they are unconstitutional provides no defense, see supra note 2, the court found that the materials themselves might mislead or confuse the jury n4 and disallowed them under Fed. R. Evid. 403. n5 [HN3] "[A] trial court's determination that [relevant] evidence's  [**5]  probative value is out-weighed by its potential for prejudicing or confusing a jury" will not be disturbed on appeal "absent a showing of clear abuse of discretion." Beacham v. Lee-Norse, 714 F.2d 1010, 1014 (10th Cir. 1983); see also Higgins v. Martin Marietta Corp., 752 F.2d 492, 497 (10th Cir. 1985); Texas E. Transmission Corp. v. Marine Office-Appleton & Cox Corp., 579 F.2d 561, 567 (10th Cir. 1978). 

n4 The court's warranted concern is reflected in its instructions to the jury with respect to the limited relevancy of the tax materials being discussed during Mr. Hairston's testimony. 

Members of the jury, I am receiving this evidence only as it might bear upon the question of whether or not this defendant made a mistake. The content of this material should be disregarded by you except in that context. I will tell you at the conclusion of the evidence in this case what the applicable law is.

Record, vol. 3, at 35. 

n5 [HN4] Fed. R. Evid. 403 provides: "Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence."

The critical inquiry for the jury was whether Mr. Hairston subjectively believed that he did not need to file under the law's requirements. Because his subjective belief was central, direct testimony from Mr. Hairston regarding the effect these seminars and [**6]  publications had on his understanding of the tax law filing requirements was more probative of his proffered defense than the publications themselves. The court did not prevent Mr. Hairston from mounting a defense, as the appellate brief suggests, but rather exercised its discretion regarding the form in which such evidence should be admitted so as to minimize jury confusion. The defense theory was argued, and the jury had the testimonial evidence to consider. We hold that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in prohibiting the documentary evidence offered by defendant. See United States v. Latham, 754 F.2d 747, 751 (7th Cir. 1985) (affirming trial court's exclusion of tax protest literature while allowing defendant to quote portions of its contents because entire text of such literature may mislead or confuse jury); United States v. Kraeger, 711 F.2d 6, 7-8 (2d Cir. 1983) ("trial court did not abuse its discretion in excluding documentary evidence, including federal court decisions, which appellant claims to have read in forming his opinions regarding the tax laws" because likely to confuse jury regarding applicable law).  [**7]  

 [*974]  III. 

The court prohibited Mr. Hairston from testifying whether he would have received a refund had he timely filed a tax return for the year 1980. See record, vol. 3, at 37. Mr. Hairston contends that demonstrating that he would have received a refund confirms a lack of willfulness on his part. However, [HN5] in a failure to file action under 26 U.S.C. §  7203, the Government is not required to show that a tax is due nor must it show an intent to evade taxes. Willful tax evasion is a distinct violation under 26 U.S.C. §  7201 (1982). n6 Cf.  United States v. Afflerbach, 547 F.2d 522, 524 (10th Cir. 1976) (Government must prove substantial income tax deficiency in tax evasion case), cert. denied, 429 U.S. 1098, 97 S. Ct. 1118, 51 L. Ed. 2d 546 (1977). The willfulness under section 7203, is a willful failure to file a return, not a willful evasion of income taxes. "To act willfully in this context means to act 'voluntarily, purposefully, deliberately, and intentionally, as distinguished from accidentally, inadvertently, or negligently.'" United States v. Dillon, 566 F.2d 702, 704 (10th Cir. 1977) (quoting trial court), cert. denied, 435 U.S. 971, 56 L. Ed. 2d 63, 98 S. Ct. 1613 (1978). The trial court did not abuse its discretion in [**8]  ruling that evidence of a possible tax refund was irrelevant in a failure-to-file case. See Beacham, 714 F.2d at 1014; Texas E. Transmission Corp., 579 F.2d at 566. 

n6 26 U.S.C. §  7201 provides in pertinent part: "Any person who willfully attempts in any manner to evade or defeat any tax imposed by this title or the payment thereof shall, in addition to other penalties provided by law, be guilty of a felony. ..."

IV. 

Finally, defendant appeals the trial court's ruling that evidence of his state of mind "beyond the last filing date that the government charges is not relevant." Record, vol. 3, at 41. The Third Circuit has for good reason rejected the contention that "any evidence respecting events after the due dates for the filing of returns for the respective years is irrelevant to the crucial question of [the defendant's] state of mind at the time he failed to make the required returns." United States v. Greenlee, 517 F.2d 899, 903 (3d Cir.), cert. denied, 423 U.S. 985, 96 S. Ct. 391, 46 L. Ed. 2d 301 (1975). In Greenlee, the Government, not the defendant, was permitted to introduce evidence accruing subsequent to the filing deadlines that supported its claim of willfulness in the defendant's [**9]  prior failure to file. Nevertheless, if willfulness at the time of the filing deadline may permissibly be proved circumstantially by acts subsequent to that deadline, so should lack of willfulness. 

The evidence that defense counsel sought to introduce in this case, however, would not have negated Mr. Hairston's willfulness in failing to file. Defense counsel was attempting to establish, had the court permitted, that Mr. Hairston tried in vain to contact an I.R.S. agent in 1984 in response to telephone calls and to a calling card left with his wife when he was not at home. See record, vol. 3, at 40-45. Essentially, Mr. Hairston argues that the I.R.S.'s failure to sit down with Mr. Hairston in 1984 and correct his alleged misunderstanding of the law, see id. at 42, 72, is evidence of his lack of willfulness in 1980, 1981, and 1982, notwithstanding the several registered letters outlining the law's filing requirements that the I.R.S. sent to him during the years in question. See id. at 54-56. 

I think this entire line of questioning goes as to what his knowledge of the law was at that time in terms of his dealing with the Internal Revenue Service and whether or not [**10]  this matter could have been cleared up long before now. 

...What I was going to question him on is his meetings with the Internal Revenue officials because this goes to the knowledge that he had of the requirement of filing and whether or not the Internal Revenue Service would have ever answered any of the questions he presented. And I think on that basis that would go to his state of mind for the years in question.

Argument to the court by defense counsel, id. at 41. 

 [*975]  Had this evidence -- that representatives from the I.R.S. never personally discussed with Mr. Hairston his alleged misunderstanding of the law -- been admitted, it would not have reflected either positively or negatively on whether Mr. Hairston did, indeed, possess a good faith misunderstanding of the law. Only evidence of an actual conversation regarding his perception of the filing requirements, whether or not subsequent to the 1982 filing deadline, would be relevant. The fact that no such conversation occurred simply does not illuminate anything related to Mr. Hairston's subjective understanding of the tax laws. n7 Therefore, the court's erroneous ruling that evidence of state of mind was irrelevant if beyond April [**11]  15 of 1983, the last filing date for 1982, was harmless error in this case. See McDonough Power Equip., Inc. v. Greenwood, 464 U.S. 548, 553-54, 78 L. Ed. 2d 663, 104 S. Ct. 845 (1984); Beacham, 714 F.2d at 1014. 

n7 In effect, Mr. Hairston asks us to presume that he did not understand the law, and, because the I.R.S. failed to personally enlighten him, the Government failed to rebut this presumption. See record, vol. 3, at 72. On the contrary, we must presume that Mr. Hairston understood the law. He must come forward with affirmative evidence of misunderstanding as a defense.

AFFIRMED.  
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OPINIONBY:

ESCHBACH 

OPINION:

 [*269]  Eschbach, Circuit Judge. 

The plaintiff, a former state employee, alleged in this §  1983 action (1) that the defendant state officials discharged him in retaliation for the exercise of his First Amendment rights and (2) that, after his discharge, the defendants conspired to harass him in violation of his First Amendment rights. The primary questions presented on appeal are (1) whether the district court erred in granting a directed verdict to one of the defendant state officials on the ground that the plaintiff failed to present sufficient evidence to implicate the official in the alleged post-termination conspiracy and (2) whether the district court [**2]  erred in granting a judgment notwithstanding the verdict to another state official on the ground that the official was qualifiedly immune. For the reasons stated below, we will vacate the directed verdict, vacate the judgment notwithstanding the verdict in part, and remand for a new trial on the remaining claim. 

I 

This appeal presents another chapter in the dispute between the plaintiff, William Benson, and certain officials of the State of Illinois. An earlier decision of this court, Benson v. Scott, 734 F.2d 1181 (7th Cir.) ("Benson I"), cert. denied, 469 U.S. 1019, 105 S. Ct. 435, 83 L. Ed. 2d 361 (1984), involved a related lawsuit filed against the former Illinois Attorney General and the former Illinois First Assistant Attorney General. In view of our disposition of this appeal, an extended discussion of the evidence presented at the fourteen-day trial is unnecessary. In addition, because the plaintiff is appealing from the district court's grant of a directed verdict for defendant Rummel and a judgment notwithstanding the verdict for defendant Allphin, we must review the evidence in the light most favorable to the plaintiff. Cf.  Mathews v. Fairman, 779 F.2d 409, 415 (7th Cir. 1985). [**3]  

Considering the evidence in this manner, the following facts emerge: Benson was employed by the Illinois Department of Revenue ("DOR") from 1971 until his dismissal in 1976. On November 1, 1974, Benson entered into a one-year written contract with the DOR to "undertake projects requiring personal and technical services as assigned by the [DOR] concerning pending investigations for the [DOR]." The contract was terminable at will by either party upon written notice. The parties entered into a similar contract that commenced November 1, 1975, and expired on June 30, 1976. Benson was terminated on June 24, 1976, six days before the second contract was to expire of its own accord. 

Benson was initially assigned to assist in the enforcement of the Illinois Cigarette Tax Act, codified at Ill. Rev. Stat. ch. 120, paras. 453.1 to.22 (1975) and the Illinois Cigarette Use Tax Act, codified at id., paras. 453.31 to.51 (referred to collectively as "Tax Act" or "Act") n1 at the Illinois-Indiana border. n2 Benson lived in South Holland, Illinois, which is not far from the Indiana border, and worked out of a squad room on LaSalle Street in Chicago. 

n1 Both acts have now been consolidated as the Illinois Cigarette Use Tax Act, codified at Ill. Rev. Stat. ch. 120, paras. 453.1 to.67 (1984). [**4]  

n2 Benson was also involved in the enforcement of laws relating to retailer occupation taxes, motor fuel oil taxes, as well as bingo and lottery activities. 

 [*270]  In the latter part of 1971, the DOR placed certain cigarette stands in Indiana under surveillance where it could observe individuals purchasing cigarettes and then transporting them into Illinois without paying the appropriate tax. After assuming the position of Director of the DOR in the latter part of March 1973, defendant Robert Allphin adopted a policy of arresting Tax Act violators and confiscating their vehicles. Benson and his partner, James Kelleher, were involved in the enforcement of this policy. Benson made numerous arrests. He also took photographs of individuals allegedly violating the Tax Act. These photographs were said to include pictures of Chicago police officers, Chicago firemen, and other state, county, and city employees engaged in violations of the Act. Benson retained the negatives of these photographs. 

Benson maintained that, from 1974 until the time of his termination, he was ordered not to enforce [**5]  the Tax Act against state, county, and city employees, especially Chicago police officers. He discussed this matter extensively with his supervisors and co-workers. In addition, Benson informed his supervisors and co-workers that he had taken photographs of Tax Act violations and that he had retained the negatives. 

Benson also criticized the DOR's tax-collection policy, and maintained that collection suits were being settled for unacceptably low amounts. n3 Apparently only Allphin and defendant Rummel (the Associate Director of the DOR) were authorized to settle these suits. Benson maintained further that certain taxpayers were making payoffs to DOR personnel in order to escape prosecution. 

n3 It should be noted that Benson was not involved in the collection of the disputed taxes. 

After Benson discussed his grievances with Allphin and Rummel in the latter part of 1975 and the early part of 1976, his duties at the DOR were changed, in that he was ostensibly assigned in January 1976 to a continuing investigation [**6]  into the improprieties he had alleged were taking place within the DOR. Allphin and Rummel also told Benson to report only to them, and not to come to the DOR office in Chicago. 

Allphin and Rummel instructed Benson not to reveal any investigatory information to the public. However, because he was dissatisfied with the manner in which his superiors were handling the investigation, Benson discussed his allegations with reporters from the Chicago Tribune and Hammond Times in February or March of 1976. Benson also turned over some of his photographs to a reporter in June 1976. As a result of these disclosures, several stories regarding Benson's allegations appeared in the press in March 1976; another series was published in August 1976 after Benson was terminated. 

After Benson made these disclosures to the press, Allphin and Rummel tried to keep a tighter rein on him. He was again told not to discuss these matters with anyone outside the DOR. Several meetings were arranged, however, between Benson (along with other DOR personnel) and the Internal Affairs Division of the Chicago Police Department in the spring of 1976. At these meetings, Benson was allowed to discuss the alleged [**7]  selective enforcement problem and his surveillance photographs. Despite these meetings, Benson still believed that the DOR was not acting in good faith and that his superiors were attempting to cover up the allegations. In early June 1976, he indicated to DOR personnel that he might make further disclosures of his allegations to the public and press. Allphin and Rummel decided that Benson's services were no longer needed, and terminated him on June 24, 1976. 

During this same period, Benson and other DOR personnel had become embroiled in federal litigation challenging the DOR's enforcement of the Tax Act. Benson was named as a defendant in several of these civil-rights actions. In addition, an Illinois state trial court in April 1974 had enjoined the enforcement of the Act at the Illinois-Indiana border against persons who purchased cigarettes for their personal consumption and not for resale. The DOR,  [*271]  nonetheless, continued its enforcement activities, and as a result was held in contempt in December 1975 by the Illinois state trial court. Benson had testified on behalf of the DOR at the 1975 contempt proceedings. On July 21, 1976, after he had been terminated, Benson [**8]  filed an affidavit with the state trial-court judge. In the affidavit, he stated that he had been told by his superiors at the DOR to disregard the April 1974 injunction and to distort his testimony at the contempt hearing. Benson claimed further that DOR records had been destroyed and that others had been withheld or altered in violation of the state court's production order. He also discussed the alleged selective enforcement problem. 

The Illinois Attorney General sent a letter to Allphin, dated September 2, 1976, which indicated that the State of Illinois, because of conflicts of interest, was withdrawing its representation of the DOR defendants, including Benson, in eight civil-rights suits pending in federal district courts. Allphin and Rummel decided to provide representation at the Department's expense to all DOR defendants except Benson. In addition to withdrawing legal representation for Benson, Allphin and Rummel maintained a campaign of harassment against their former employee. For example, they caused information to be sent to the Social Security Administration and the Internal Revenue Service to encourage investigations of Benson. The reason for these adverse actions [**9]  against Benson was Allphin and Rummel's dissatisfaction with Benson's disclosures within the DOR, to the press, and to the judiciary. 

Benson filed this §  1983 action against Director Allphin and Associate Director Rummel in October 1977. Count I of the amended complaint alleged that, after Benson's termination, Allphin and Rummel conspired to harass him in retaliation for exercising his free-speech rights. Count II alleged that Benson was in fact terminated from his position at the DOR in retaliation for exercising his free-speech rights. The case finally came to trial in October 1983. The court dismissed Rummel as a defendant pursuant to his directed-verdict motion filed at the close of Benson's case-in-chief. At the close of the trial, the jury found in favor of Benson and against Allphin on both counts. It awarded Benson $350,000 for the retaliatory discharge and $3,000 for the failure to provide legal representation after the discharge. Allphin filed motions for a judgment notwithstanding the verdict and for a new trial. 

The trial court issued a somewhat ambiguous order in ruling on Allphin's post-trial motions. The court first found that, on the basis of the evidence presented,  [**10]  a reasonable jury could conclude that Benson was terminated in retaliation for his "attempted exercise of the right of free speech" and that Allphin's proffered business justification for the termination was a pretext. The court went on to conclude that, under the Supreme Court's decisions in Connick v. Myers, 461 U.S. 138, 103 S. Ct. 1684, 75 L. Ed. 2d 708 (1983) and Harlow v. Fitzgerald, 457 U.S. 800, 102 S. Ct. 2727, 73 L. Ed. 2d 396 (1982), Allphin, as a high ranking government official performing discretionary functions, was entitled to qualified immunity from civil damages. The court found that Benson was exercising his free-speech rights primarily with reference to two matters: (1) the allegedly low settlements by the State of Illinois of large claims for delinquent sales or use taxes in contested cases brought and settled by Allphin and his legal advisors and (2) the refusal of Allphin to permit the arrest of Chicago police officers who were apparently buying cigarettes in Indiana and bringing them into Illinois without payment of the required tax. While the court acknowledged that these may be matters of public concern, it also found that [**11]  their disclosure undermined Allphin's authority and control over his office. 

With reference to the low settlements, the court found that Benson did not have an unqualified right to speak out on this matter and that Allphin's efforts to maintain confidentiality were required under Ill. Rev. Stat. ch. 120, P 453.10b (1975). In the court's opinion, Allphin's interest in the  [*272]  proper functioning of his office outweighed Benson's First Amendment interests in this regard. 

With reference to the selective enforcement, the court noted that Allphin allowed Benson to bring the matter to the attention of the Chicago Police Department and that the DOR took steps to remedy the problem. With reference to the disputed photographs, the judge found that these were compiled as part of an investigatory file and that Benson was not privileged to disclose them to the press. The court also relied on para. 435.10b to support this conclusion. According to the court, Allphin acted in the best interests of the state by requiring that Benson go to the police department, rather than the press, with these allegations. 

Thus, the trial court found that Allphin had imposed reasonable restrictions on [**12]  Benson's expression and also added that (although the question was never presented to the jury) there was "no evidence in the record to support a jury finding that defendant as a reasonable person under all the circumstances would have known that his termination of plaintiff's contract would violate any clearly established constitutional right." 

The court then held that damages could not be recovered in this case because they were barred by the Eleventh Amendment. Under Illinois law, because there was no evidence of willful or wanton conduct on the part of Allphin, the state would be required to indemnify him. See Ill. Rev. Stat., ch. 127, para. 1302. The trial court reasoned that this was in fact a recovery of damages from the sovereign, which the Eleventh Amendment prohibits. 

In considering the alternative motion for a new trial, the court found that the damage award was excessive. The trial court indicated that, but for the defendant's qualified immunity and the Eleventh Amendment's bar to recover, it would have set aside the verdicts and ordered a new trial, because the jury's decision appeared to be a product of passion and prejudice. In the court's opinion, a fair award [**13]  would be $50,000 plus attorney's fees under 42 U.S.C. §  1988. n4 The court then vacated the jury's verdict and entered judgment in favor of the defendant as a matter of law. It then stated, "Alternatively, if both parties waive appeal, a consent judgment will be entered in favor of the plaintiff for $50,000 plus attorney's fees and costs." The parties, predictably enough, did not agree to such a waiver. This appeal followed. 

n4 The trial court's opinion does not clearly indicate whether it would order a new trial on both liability and damages, or damages alone. However, both sides have interpreted the court's order as calling for a new trial on both issues, and we agree. Thus the $50,000 award (especially in view of the court's rulings on immunity and the Eleventh Amendment) appears to be no more than an indication of a reasonable settlement offer. 

II 

A.  Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict 

We will first consider a procedural point raised in the proceedings below.  [**14]  Prior to trial, the defendants filed motions for summary judgment in which they asserted a defense of qualified immunity. These motions were denied. At the close of the plaintiff's case, the defendants moved for a directed verdict on several grounds, one of which was the defense of qualified immunity. This defense was initially rejected. n5 Counsel for Allphin, the only remaining defendant at the close of the trial, also offered a jury instruction on qualified immunity, but this instruction was properly rejected by the trial court. 

n5 In response to the directed-verdict motion, however, the district court dismissed Rummel as a defendant on the ground that the plaintiff had not demonstrated that there had been a conspiracy. 

Counsel for Allphin, however, failed to move for a directed verdict at the close of all evidence. The jury retired to deliberate on Friday, October 28, 1983. On Monday, October 31, 1983, Allphin's counsel attempted to make a directed-verdict motion. The district court stated that it would [**15]  take  [*273]  the matter under advisement and "decide it after the case is finished as a post-trial motion." The court's next statement, however, was that the jury had reached a verdict on liability, but that they had not yet determined the amount of damages. 

After the jury returned verdicts for the plaintiff, Allphin moved for judgment notwithstanding the verdict under Fed. R. Civ. P. 50(b) and, in the alternative, for a new trial under Fed. R. Civ. P.59(a). In his Rule 50(b) motion, Allphin again asserted a defense of qualified immunity. The district court ultimately concluded that Allphin was immune and entered a verdict in his favor. 

On appeal, the plaintiff argues that the defendant's failure to move for a directed verdict at the close of all the evidence constituted a waiver under Fed. R. Civ. P. 50(b) to seek a judgment notwithstanding the verdict. n6 We disagree. 

n6 We reject Allphin's argument that he was in "technical compliance" with Rule 50(b). It would stretch the notion of liberal construction of the Federal Rules beyond recognition to conclude that Allphin was in compliance with the letter of the rule when he offered a directed-verdict motion after the jury had initiated its deliberations and had reached an informal verdict on liability. The district court also recognized this, and stated that it would treat the motion for directed verdict as a post-trial motion.  Quinn v. Southwest Wood Products, Inc., 597 F.2d 1018 (5th Cir. 1979), is not to the contrary, as the putative directed-verdict motion in that case was made before the jury had begun to deliberate.  Id. at 1026. 

 [**16]  

Fed. R. Civ. P. 50(b) provides in relevant part: 

 [HN1] 

Whenever a motion for a directed verdict made at the close of all the evidence is denied or for any reason is not granted, the court is deemed to have submitted the action to the jury subject to a later determination of the legal questions raised by the motion. ...  [A] party who has moved for a directed verdict may move to have the verdict and any judgment entered thereon set aside and to have judgment entered in accordance with his motion for a directed verdict.

Rule 50(b) is not a model of perspicuity. For example, the motion for a directed verdict mentioned in the second sentence above in fact refers to the motion described in the previous sentence. Thus, one learns from the notes of the Advisory Committee on the 1963 amendments to the rule that "[a] motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict will not lie unless it was preceded by a motion for a directed verdict made at the close of all the evidence. " n7 

n7 [HN2] A motion for directed verdict is not required as a predicate for a motion for a new trial. 

 [**17]  [HN3]  

There are two rationales for the requirement of a motion for directed verdict at the close of all the evidence as a predicate to a motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict. The first has its roots in the constitutional right to a jury in a civil action. Judgment by directed verdict existed in 1789; judgment notwithstanding the verdict did not. Thus, a final judgment that is contrary to the jury's verdict might run afoul of the Seventh Amendment unless it is considered a reserved decision on an earlier motion for directed verdict. n8 See McKinnon v. City of Berwyn, 750 F.2d 1383, 1388 (7th Cir. 1984); Ohio-Sealy Mattress Manufacturing Co. v. Sealy, Inc., 585 F.2d 821, 825 (7th Cir. 1978), cert. denied, 440 U.S. 930, 99 S. Ct. 1267, 59 L. Ed. 2d 486, 201 U.S.P.Q. (BNA) 256 (1979); 9 C. Wright & A. Miller, Federal Practice and Procedure §  2522 (1971). The second rationale involves pragmatic concerns: the motion for directed verdict at the close of all the evidence provides the nonmovant with an opportunity to do what he can to remedy the deficiencies in his case (by for example seeking to reopen his case-in-chief, altering [**18]  his cross-examination of his opponent's witnesses,  [*274]  or offering further evidence in rebuttal to his opponent's case) before the jury retires to deliberate.  McKinnon, 750 F.2d at 1388; Ohio-Sealy, 585 F.2d at 825. n9 

n8 The Seventh Amendment provides: 

 [HN4] 

In suits at common law, where the value in controversy shall exceed twenty dollars, the right of trial by jury shall be preserved, and no fact tried by a jury, shall be otherwise reexamined in any Court of the United States, than according to the rules of the common law.

For a discussion of the current scope of the jury right under the Seventh Amendment, see Complex Civil Litigation and the Seventh Amendment Right to a Jury Trial, 51 U. Chi. L. Rev. 581, 606-13 (1984). 

n9 Two other reasons for the requirement of a directed-verdict motion prior to a motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict were noted in Quinn v. Southwest Wood Products, Inc., 597 F.2d 1018, 1024 (5th Cir. 1979). First, a litigant should not be able to gamble on a jury verdict and later challenge the sufficiency of the evidence on appeal. Second, a litigant who has not moved for a directed verdict must consider the evidence sufficient to go to the jury, and should not then impute error to the trial judge for sharing that view. These concerns are not present in the instant case, because Allphin did attempt to move for a directed verdict challenging the sufficiency of the evidence before he could have known that the jury had reached a verdict. 

 [**19]  [HN5]  

The text of Rule 50(b) admits of no exceptions. However, in response perhaps to the opacity of the rule and in an effort to base its decisions on substantive grounds, rather than procedural defaults, this circuit has allowed something less than a formal motion for directed verdict to preserve a party's right to move for judgment notwithstanding the verdict. See, e.g., Johnson v. University of Wisconsin-Milwaukee, 783 F.2d 59, slip op at 4 (7th Cir. 1986); Bonner v. Coughlin, 657 F.2d 931, 938 (7th Cir. 1981); Ohio-Sealy, 585 F.2d at 825; Pittsburgh-Des Moines Steel Co. v. Brookhaven Manor Water Co., 532 F.2d 572, 576-77 (7th Cir. 1976). Unless Seventh Amendment questions are presented, the requirements of Rule 50(b) are not strictly enforced provided the prevailing party's failure to renew the motion for directed verdict did not unduly prejudice his opponent.  McKinnon, 750 F.2d at 1389-90. 

In the instant case, the Seventh Amendment considerations discussed above are of no moment, because the question of qualified immunity is addressed to the court, not the jury. See Mitchell v. Forsyth, 472 U.S. 511, 105 S. Ct. 2806, 86 L. Ed. 2d 411 (1985); [**20]  Harlow, 457 U.S. at 818-19, 102 S. Ct. at 2738-39; Bates v. Jean, 745 F.2d 1146, 1151 (7th Cir. 1984). Thus, a judgment notwithstanding the verdict on this ground in no way invades the province of the jury. n10 

n10 [HN6] It should be noted that the defense of qualified immunity is typically determined by motions under Fed. R. Civ. P. 12 or 56 and that these decisions on the immunity defense are immediately appealable. See Mitchell v. Forsyth, 472 U.S. 511, 105 S. Ct. 2806, 86 L. Ed. 2d 411 (1985). 

As for the pragmatic considerations discussed above, Benson on appeal addressed the question of prejudice only in his reply brief to this court, where he points out that Allphin referred to the Illinois confidentiality statute, Ill. Rev. Stat. ch. 120, para. 453.10b (1975), for the first time in the post-trial briefs. Benson's first argument is that he was unduly prejudiced by this late reference, because he could have otherwise presented evidence to show that Allphin's [**21]  reliance on the confidentiality statute was a pretext and that the statute did not apply to the materials released. n11 Benson does not, however, indicate what evidence he would have presented. His second argument is that the confidentiality statute is a defense and, therefore, that it should have been raised at the pleading stage. 

n11 Counsel for Benson clarified this contention at oral argument, and stated that he would show that para. 453.10b did not cover all of the materials Benson released. This is, of course, an implicit concession that it did cover some of the materials. 

We disagree with both contentions. First, [HN7] the issue of qualified immunity is one for the trial court, not the jury. Thus, Benson could have attempted to present his evidence regarding pretext or applicability to the trial judge. He has not indicated that he attempted to do so. In addition, the defense of qualified immunity involves an objective, not subjective, standard to analyze the actions and knowledge of the defendant.  [**22]  See Harlow, 457 U.S. 800, 102 S. Ct. 2727, 73 L. Ed.  2d 396; see also, Davis v. Scherer, 468 U.S. 183, 104 S. Ct. 3012, 82 L. Ed. 2d 139 (1984). Thus, an inquiry into Allphin's actual state of mind is not appropriate under Harlow; the only question is whether his actions were objectively reasonable. In addition, as we understand  [*275]  Allphin's argument concerning para. 453.10b, he relies on this provision only as a declaration of the State of Illinois's interest in confidentiality. This statute is a part of the "state of the law" the court will consider in determining whether the defendant is entitled to immunity. 

Second, Allphin's defense is qualified immunity, not para. 453.10b. While it would have been preferable for Allphin to have referred to the provision prior to the post-trial briefs, we do not understand how the late citation to para. 453.10b could have unduly prejudiced Benson when the trial court would in any event take judicial notice of statutory enactments n12 and when the defense at issue is one that was decided by the court on the basis of the post-trial submissions of both parties. n13 

n12 See McCormick on Evidence §  335 (3d ed. 1984). [**23]  

n13 Benson's argument of prejudice is severly weakened by the fact that, after Allphin had mentioned para. 453.10b in his initial post-trial brief, Benson did not even discuss the provision in his brief in opposition. 

To summarize, Allphin's failure to move for directed verdict at the close of all the evidence did not foreclose the presentation of a qualified-immunity defense in his motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict. n14 

n14 As the discussion above indicates, however, Allphin is precluded from challenging the sufficiency of the evidence. In any event, Allphin has conceded that the evidence was sufficient to show that Benson was discharged for his expression. 

B.  Qualified Immunity 

As government officials performing discretionary functions, Allphin and Rummel are shielded from liability for civil damages in a §  1983 action unless their conduct violated "clearly established statutory or constitutional [**24]  rights of which a reasonable person would have known." Harlow, 457 U.S. at 818, 102 S. Ct. at 2738; see also Davis, 468 U.S. at     n. 12, 104 S. Ct. at 3020 n. 12 (Immunity standard of Harlow applies in §  1983 actions). 

Although the Supreme Court has articulated the rule for qualified immunity, it has not fully explained what it means by the phrase "clearly established statutory or constitutional rights." First, it has not specified which court one must look to in determining whether a right is "clearly established," see Harlow, 457 U.S. at 818 n. 32, 102 S. Ct. at 2738 n. 32. n15 It seems obvious, however, that reliance on Supreme Court decisions alone might be inappropriate (unless they are the only cases ruling on the question), because they are infrequent in comparison to the decisions of the district and appellate courts, and this infrequency could have the practical effect of converting qualified immunity into absolute immunity. n16 

n15 A similar problem exists in other areas of the law. For example, the federal judiciary, when interpreting legislation, has at times relied on congressional "acquiescence" or "silence" in the face of previous judicial or administrative decisions to define the meaning of a provision. See, e.g., Bob Jones University v. United States, 461 U.S. 574, 599, 103 S. Ct. 2017, 2033, 76 L. Ed. 2d 157 (1983). In order to make any sense, congressional silence must be considered an analogue to an "admission by silence." See McCormick on Evidence §  270 (3d ed. 1984) (discussion of admission by silence). Before a party's failure to speak may be used as an admission, it must be shown that the statement was "heard" by him. Id. In construing congressional silence, however, the courts have not indicated the level of the judicial or administrative process Congress is "listening" to. [**25]  

n16 Of course, if there is conflict among the circuits, one must await the definitive resolution by the Supreme court. 

Second, although it has stated that government officials are not "charged with predicting the future course of constitutional law," Pierson v. Ray, 386 U.S. 547, 557, 87 S. Ct. 1213, 1219, 18 L. Ed. 2d 288 (1967), the Court has not explained how close the factual correspondence must be between the actions under consideration and the decisions that establish the applicable law. Its decision in Mitchell v. Forsyth, 472 U.S. 511, 105 S. Ct. 2806, 86 L. Ed. 2d 411 (1985), suggests, however, that officials are not required to anticipate the extension of existing legal principles. 

 [*276]  These two considerations may not strongly influence the outcome of this appeal, however, because it would appear that there is one type of constitutional rule, namely that involving the balancing of competing interests, for which the standard may be clearly established, but its application is so fact dependent that the "law" can rarely be considered "clearly [**26]  established." In determining due -process requirements for discharging a government employee, for example, the courts must carefully balance the competing interests of the employee and the employer in each case. Thus, the Supreme Court has consistently stated that [HN8] one can only proceed on a case-by-case basis and that no all-encompassing procedure may be set forth to cover all situations. See, e.g., Davis, 468 U.S. at    , 104 S. Ct. at 3018-19; see also Benson I, 734 F.2d at 1184-85. It would appear that, whenever a balancing of interests is required, the facts of the existing caselaw must closely correspond to the contested action before the defendant official is subject to liability under the Harlow. n17 With Harlow's elimination of the inquiry into the actual motivations of the official, see 457 U.S. at 815-19, 102 S. Ct. at 2736-39, qualified immunity typically casts a wide net to protect government officials from damage liability whenever balancing is required. n18 

n17 As noted in Murray v. Gardner, 239 U.S. App. D.C. 212, 741 F.2d 434, 440 n.2 (D.C. Cir. 1984), cert. denied, 470 U.S. 1050, 105 S. Ct. 1748, 84 L. Ed. 2d 813 (1985): 

Government officials must be granted the ability to pass unmolested through bogs of murky legal precedent. They must not become prey to every hypothesis of what the law might have come to forbid had it eventually developed along certain lines. When the law is clear, and an official's duties delineated, then he will not be able to rely on the immunity defense. But we must not and do not demand that every government official become skilled in guessing the future path of the law.

Cf.  Davis v. Scherer, 468 U.S. 183     n. 13, 82 L. Ed. 2d 139, 104 S. Ct. 3012, 3021 n.13 (1984). [**27]  

n18 There may, of course, be a situation in which the defendant's actions are so egregious that the result of the balancing test will be a foregone conclusion, even though prior caselaw may not address the specific facts at issue. 

In the instant appeal, Pickering v. Board of Education, 391 U.S. 563, 88 S. Ct. 1731, 20 L. Ed. 2d 811 (1968), and its progeny provide the standard by which Benson's First Amendment claims as a public employee must be analyzed. In Pickering, the Court stated that the problem was to arrive at a balance between the interests of the plaintiff, as a citizen, in commenting on matters of public concern and the interests of the state, as an employer, in promoting the efficiency of the public services it performs through its employees.  id. at 568, 88 S. Ct at 1735; see also Connick, 461 U.S. at 140, 103 S. Ct. at 1686. The Court was at pains to point out that, in view of the "enormous variety of fact situations" in which critical statements by public employees may be thought by their superiors to furnish grounds for [**28]  dismissal, it was not "appropriate or feasible to attempt to lay down a general standard" for resolving the free-speech claims of public employees and that it could only "indicate some of the general lines along which an analysis of the controlling interests should run." Pickering, 391 U.S. at 569, 88 S. Ct. at 1735. As the Supreme Court noted in Connick, 461 U.S. at 150, 103 S. Ct. at 1692, the particularized balancing required by Pickering is difficult even for the judiciary to accomplish. Therefore, while it may have been clear since 1968 that a citizen does not forfeit his First Amendment rights entirely when he becomes a public employee, the scope of those rights in any given factual situation has not been well defined. Cf.  Connick, 461 U.S. at 150, 103 S. Ct at 1692. 

The specific question presented in this case is whether it was clearly established in the first part of 1976 that the actions of defendants Allphin and Rummel violated Benson's First Amendment rights. n19 Benson's expressions, for the  [*277]  purposes of the Pickering balancing test, must be divided into three categories: (1) his discussions with [**29]  his co-workers and supervisors within the DOR prior to his termination, (2) his disclosures to the press prior to his termination, and (3) his disclosures to the press and others after his termination. n20 

n19 As noted above, Harlow eliminated the inquiry into the actual motivation of government officials. The Court, however, has not explained how this objective standard is to be employed when the plaintiff's claim depends on the state of mind of the defendant officials. See, e.g., Estelle v. Gamble, 429 U.S. 97, 104-05, 97 S. Ct. 285, 291-92, 50 L. Ed. 2d 251 (1976) (violation of Eighth Amendment requires showing of deliberate indifference); Washington v. Davis, 426 U.S. 229, 238-41, 96 S. Ct. 2040, 2046-48, 48 L. Ed. 2d 597 (1976) (Fourteenth Amendment requires showing of discriminatory intent). Cf.  Daniels v. Williams, 474 U.S. 327, 106 S. Ct. 662, 88 L. Ed. 2d 662 (1986) (state official's negligent act causing unintended loss of or injury to life, liberty, or property does not implicate Due Process Clause). 

The state of mind of Allphin and Rummel is important in this appeal to the extent that it bears upon the causation requirement set forth in Mt. Healthy City School District v. Doyle, 429 U.S. 274, 97 S. Ct. 568, 50 L. Ed. 2d 471 (1977). At oral argument, however, the defendants conceded that the evidence was sufficient to show that their actions were primary motivated by Benson's expressions both inside and outside the DOR. 

As previously noted, the issue of qualified immunity is typically resolved before trial. The question may be decided even after a trial, in which case objective factors are still the only legitimate focus of the inquiry. See Bates v. Jean, 745 F.2d 1146, 1152 (7th Cir. 1984). [**30]  

n20 This third category relates to the claims of Count I. Allphin maintains that the denial of legal representation claim was dismissed from the case prior to trial. We disagree. The due-process claims relating to the denial of legal representation were dismissed, but not the First Amendment claims. In an order dated July 6, 1983, the trial judge to whom the case was assigned stated that the issue of the denial of representation "may still be in the case as an alleged overt act of conspiracy." 

There is still some confusion as to the status of these claims at the trial. In ruling on the defendants' motion for directed verdict at the close of the plaintiff's case, the district court seemed to retain the post-termination claims, but then directed Rummel out of the case because of insufficient proof of a conspiracy. However, the claim that Benson was denied representation in retaliation for his expression was submitted to the jury. Nonetheless, the district court made no specific reference to this claim in ruling on the post-trial motions. The court stated in its ruling that Allphin did not contest the jury award for Count I, when in fact the award was contested in Allphin's post-trial motions. 

We do not need to resolve this confusion in view of our rulings that (1) the directed verdict for Rummel was improper and (2) a new trial must be conducted on the claim of Count I. In addition, in view of the Supreme Court's decision in Mitchell v. Forsyth, 472 U.S. 511, 105 S. Ct. 2806, 86 L. Ed. 2d 411 (1985), we will determine whether the defense of qualified immunity is available to Allphin and Rummel for the post-termination activities. See also Bates v. Jean, 745 F.2d 1146, 1152 (7th Cir. 1984). 

 [**31]  

(1) As for Benson's in-house expressions prior to his termination, this court's decision in Egger v. Phillips, 710 F.2d 292 (7th Cir.) (en banc), cert. denied, 464 U.S. 918, 78 L. Ed. 2d 262, 104 S. Ct. 284 (1983), is controlling. In Egger, we stated that, until the Supreme Court's 1979 decision in Givhan v. Western Line Consolidated School District, 439 U.S. 410, 99 S. Ct. 693, 58 L. Ed. 2d 619 (1979), it was an open question whether on-the-job expressions of public employees were entitled to constitutional protection.  710 F.2d at 315. A fortiori, constitutional protection for such expressions was not clearly established in 1976. Allphin and Rummel are, therefore, entitled to immunity under Harlow for those claims relating to Benson's pre-termination, in-house expression. 

(2) As for Benson's disclosures to the press prior to his termination, the answer is not as straightforward, but we ultimately conclude that the defendants are immune, because it was not clearly established in the first half of 1976 that discharging an employee in Benson's position violated the First Amendment. We note that Pickering [**32]  provides protection to public employees who are speaking out on matters of public concern. n21 There is no serious dispute that Benson's charges of wrongdoing and corruption went beyond a personal dispute about internal DOR matters, and could qualify as matters of "public concern." However, [HN9] even speech involving matters of public concern can legitimately lead to adverse employment action. See Patkus v. Sangamon-Cass Consortium, 769 F.2d 1251, 1258  [*278]  (7th Cir. 1985). A court must consider the factors identified in the Pickering line of cases, e.g., whether the expression would create problems in maintaining harmony among co-workers or discipline by immediate supervisors, whether the employment relationship is one for which personal loyalty and confidence are necessary, whether the expression could lead to controversy and conflict among officials, and whether the matter was one on which debate was vital to informed decisionmaking. See, e.g., Patkus, 769 F.2d at 1258. There are special concerns in the area of law enforcement that allow for greater restrictions on the expression of public employees. See Zook v. Brown, 748 F.2d 1161 (7th Cir. 1984); [**33]  Jurgensen v. Fairfax County, 745 F.2d 868 (4th Cir.  1984); Benson I, 734 F.2d 1181; Egger, 710 F.2d 292. It is also important to know whether the employee's position provides him with a special expertise on the matters at issue. See Pickering, 391 U.S. at 571-72, 88 S. Ct. at 1731. In addition, the presence or absence of rules, regulations, and statutes is important in striking the balance. Cf.  Connick, 461 U.S. at 153 n. 14, 103 S. Ct. at 1693 n. 14; Zook, 748 F.2d 1161; Jurgensen, 745 F.2d 868; Janusaitis v. Middlebury Volunteer Fire Department, 607 F.2d 17 (2d Cir. 1979); Atcherson v. Siebenmann, 605 F.2d 1058 (8th Cir. 1979). 

n21 The requirement that the expression be related to a matter of "public concern" was further developed in Connick v. Myers, 461 U.S. 138, 103 S. Ct. 1684, 75 L. Ed. 2d 708 (1983). 

The decisions cited [**34]  above, many of which were decided after 1976, show that it was not clearly established in 1976 that it would be improper to attempt to keep the matters Benson was discussing within the DOR and the Chicago Police Department, and, therefore, to discharge him when he made disclosures to the press. n22 An accommodation of the factors listed above is difficult for the judiciary to accomplish in a consistent manner, Egger, 710 F.2d at 314; it blinks reality to expect the defendants to have accomplished this task more effectively than the courts in 1976. 

n22 In 1976, the primary Supreme Court cases that dealt with the First Amendment rights of public employees were Pickering v. Board of Education, 391 U.S. 563, 88 S. Ct. 1731, 20 L. Ed. 2d 811 (1968), and Perry v. Sindermann, 408 U.S. 593, 92 S. Ct. 2694, 33 L. Ed. 2d 570 (1972). Both of these decisions identified, but did not extensively analyze, the employer's potential interest in confidentiality and in maintaining harmony among the employees. 

 [**35]  

The conclusion that the defendants' actions were objectively reasonable is strengthened by the confidentiality provision codified at Ill. Rev. Stat., ch. 120, para. 453.10b (1975). n23 Cf.  Connick , 461 U.S. at 153 n. 14, 103 S. Ct. at 1693 n. 14; Zook, 748 F.2d 1161. This statute does not conclusively determine the scope of the state's interest under the First Amendment; n24 it does, however, represent a declaration of the state's interest, and was binding on the plaintiff and the defendants. In view of the fact that the validity of para. 453.10b has never been challenged, it is difficult to see how the defendants could conclude that they were violating the clearly established First Amendment rights of the plaintiff in 1976 for what amounts to insubordination in violating state law. n25 Cf.  Jurgensen, 745 F.2d 868 (violation of regulation constitutes insubordination); Johnson v. Brelje, 701 F.2d 1201, 1210 (7th Cir. 1983) (no prior decisions on statute in question). 

n23 In 1976, para. 453.10b stated in relevant part: 

 [HN10] 

All information received by the [DOR] from returns filed under this Act, or from any investigation conducted under this Act, shall be confidential, except for official purposes, and any person who divulges any such information in any manner, except in accordance with a proper judicial order or as otherwise provided by law, shall be guilty of a Class B misdemeanor.

 [**36]  

n24 Cf.  Davis v. Scherer, 468 U.S. 183, 104 S. Ct. 3012, 82 L. Ed. 2d 139 (1984). 

n25 There are other confidentiality statutes that apply to DOR employees. See, e.g., Ill. Rev. Stat., ch. 120, paras. 453.50, 467.26, 478, 9-917 (1975). There are no reported court decisions in which the validity of these provisions has been placed into question. 

(3) As for Benson's disclosures to the press and others after his termination, our decision in Benson I, 734 F.2d at 1185-86, compels the conclusion that Allphin and Rummel are not entitled to immunity. In the instant case, Benson claims that he was  [*279]  denied legal representation as a result of his expression. It is true that Benson did not have a property interest (within the meaning of the Fourteenth Amendment) in those services. In Benson I, however, we concluded that, even if there is no right to a government benefit, the denial of that benefit may not be premised on an individual's exercise of his First Amendment rights.  Id. at 1185. Furthermore, as noted in Benson I [**37]  , the plaintiff was no longer in the employ of the DOR when he was denied legal representation. Id. at 1186. Thus, the interests of the state identified in Pickering that relate to efficiency drop out of the calculus for the most part. We conclude that, after Benson I, Allphin and Rummel are not immune to civil damages for those claims arising from their activities subsequent to Benson's termination. 

We therefore affirm the district court's grant of judgment notwithstanding the verdict on the basis of qualified immunity for those activities of Allphin and Rummel that culminated in Benson's termination (i.e., Count II of the complaint). For those claims relating to the harassment of Benson after his termination (i.e., Count I), we find that the defendants are not immune. n26 

n26 Some of our cases decided prior to Mitchell v. Forsyth, 472 U.S. 511,    , 105 S. Ct. 2806, 2815-17, 86 L. Ed. 2d 411 (1985), suggest that it is improper to dispose of a case solely on the ground that at the time of the alleged constitutional violation the right in question was not clearly established. Under these decisions, the court should conclusively determine whether a constitutional violation in fact occurred; otherwise, the status of such a right will be left "in limbo." See Coleman v. Frantz, 754 F.2d 719, 723 (7th Cir. 1985). However, Mitchell calls for a reconsideration of this practice, because it suggests that, once the court has determined that the official is immune, it should not go on to decide the merits of the plaintiff's claim. 

This judicial restraint is, of course, consistent with the "case and controversy" requirement of Article III. Once the defendant is found to be immune from damages in an action where only damages are sought, a resolution on the merits neither aids nor hinders the parties involved in the specific case, but simply provides guidance for future litigation. Many areas of the law are rife with uncertainty, but the judiciary may not act as a roving commission that decides important questions when those questions are not properly presented in litigation. 

The rationale given in the pre-Mitchell cases for reaching the merits was that the law would otherwise remain uncertain. Perhaps a parallel could be drawn to the "capable of repetition, yet evading review" exception to mootness. However, in the context of Harlow, this argument does not account for the fact that the question of qualified immunity arises when one files a damage action against an official in his individual capacity. The rights at issue will not necessarily "evade review," because they may be adjudicated, for example, in an action for declaratory or injunctive relief. 

It is for these reasons that we express no opinion as to the merits of Benson's claims. 

 [**38]  

C.  Directed Verdict for Rummel 

At the close of the plaintiff's case-in-chief, the district court granted a directed verdict for Rummel on the ground that Benson had not shown that Rummel was involved in a conspiracy to harass Benson after his termination. Benson argues that this ruling was error, and we agree. [HN11] The standard for granting a directed verdict is very generous to the nonmovant. The trial court must view the evidence and make all inferences in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party, and if reasonable jurors could differ on the conclusions drawn therefrom, the case must go to the jury. See Mathews v. Fairman, 779 F.2d 409, 415 (7th Cir. 1985). It is clear from our review of the record that the district court drew improper inferences in making this ruling. There was testimony presented up to that point in the trial that Rummel had been involved in the imbroglio at the DOR before and after Benson's termination and that both he and Allphin decided together not to provide legal representation to Benson after the Illinois Attorney General withdrew his representation in the civil-rights actions pending in federal district court. n27 We, therefore,  [**39]  vacate the grant of  [*280]  directed verdict for Rummel, and remand for a new trial on the post-termination conspiracy in which Rummel was allegedly involved. 

n27 Allphin and Rummel contend on appeal that they cannot be held liable in the conspiracy alleged in Count I because Rummel was only providing legal advice to Allphin. Despite the defendants' claims to the contrary, our decision in Lenard v. Argento, 699 F.2d 874, 887 (7th Cir. 1983), does not hold that, a matter of law, government attorneys are immune from liability for conspiracy in a §  1983 action. 

We would, of course, be reluctant to hold that Rummel was liable if his sole role was the provision of legal advice in good faith. However, in this case the evidence strongly suggests that Rummel was acting as more than a legal advisor. In any event, the issue has not been properly presented on appeal, because Allphin and Rummel have not indicated to this court where they raised this issue below. Cf.  Graczyk v. United Steelworkers of America, 763 F.2d 256, 261 n.6 (7th Cir.), cert. denied, 474 U.S. 970, 106 S. Ct. 335, 88 L. Ed. 2d 319 (1985). We, therefore, express no opinion as to its resolution. Allphin and Rummel are free to pursue this issue on remand. 

 [**40]  

D.  Sovereign Immunity 

As noted in Section I, supra, the district court held that any damage recovery was barred by the Eleventh Amendment because, under Ill. Rev. Stat., ch. 127, para. 1302, Allphin would be indemnified by the state. This ruling is incorrect. As this court recently noted in Duckworth v. Franzen, 780 F.2d 645, 650 (7th Cir. 1985), which dealt specifically with para. 1302, "every court that has considered this issue has rejected, rightly in our view, the argument that an indemnity statute brings the Eleventh Amendment into play." Thus, that amendment does not bar recovery in this action. 

E.  New Trial 

The district court conditionally granted Allphin's motion for a new trial. We wholly concur in this ruling. The damages are not supported by the evidence, and the verdicts are clearly a product of passion and prejudice. Cf.  Ustrak v. Fairman, 781 F.2d 573, 578-79 (7th Cir. 1986). Only Count I of the complaint remains, however, and we will remand for a new trial on that count on the issues of both liability and damages. 

III 

For the reasons stated above, we (1) AFFIRM the judgment notwithstanding the verdict [**41]  for defendant Allphin on Count II on the ground that he is immune from civil damages and find that defendant Rummel is also immune under that count, (2) VACATE the judgment notwithstanding the verdict for Allphin and the directed verdict for Rummel on Count I, and (3) REMAND for a new trial on Count I on the issues of both liability and damages. The parties shall bear their own costs on appeal.  
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OPINIONBY:

ESCHBACH 

OPINION:

 [*1182]  ESCHBACH, Circuit Judge. 

The appellant, William J. Benson, initiated this action under 42 U.S.C. §  1983 in the district court alleging that William J. Scott, former Illinois Attorney General, and Herbert Caplan, former Illinois First Assistant Attorney General, violated Benson's rights under the First and Fourteenth Amendments.  The district court entered summary judgment for the defendants, finding that they were entitled to qualified immunity from liability for their actions.  We affirm the district court's finding of immunity with respect to Benson's due process claim.  [**2]  However, we disagree with the district court that the defendants are immune from suit on Benson's First Amendment claim.  Accordingly, we reverse the judgment of the district court on the claim, and remand the case for further proceedings. 

I. 

Benson was employed by the Illinois Department of Revenue ("Department") from 1971 until 1976. On November 1, 1974, Benson entered into a one-year written employment contract with the Department to "undertake projects requiring personal and technical services as assigned by the Department of Revenue concerning pending investigations." The contract was terminable at the will of either party upon written notice, and provided that Benson was to be paid $750 per month.  The contract further stated: "It is expressly agreed that for liability insurance purposes only, William Benson will be considered an employee rather than an independent contractor." A similar contract was entered commencing November 1, 1975, and terminating June 30, 1976.  Benson was terminated from his employment on June 24, 1976. 

Pursuant to his employment contract, Benson was assigned to assist in the  [*1183]  enforcement of the Illinois Cigarette Tax Act, 1981 Ill.  [**3]  Rev. Stat. ch. 120, § §  453.1-.67, against persons purchasing cigarettes in Indiana and bringing them into Illinois.  Beginning in March 1975, eight civil rights actions were filed in federal district court concerning the Department's enforcement of the Act.  Benson was named as a defendant in four of those suits. 

Initially, the Attorney General's office represented all of the defendants in the civil rights actions.  On September 2, 1976, the Attorney General's office sent letters to the civil rights defendants informing them that the office was withdrawing appearances in all of the actions for everyone except the Attorney General because of conflicts of interest.  The letter instructed the defendants: "You should immediately make arrangements to obtain your personal counsel at your own expense and substitute appearances before the hearing dates." On October 1, the Attorney General formally withdrew his appearances for all defendants except himself.  Thereafter, the Department assumed the cost of substitute representation for all Department defendants except Benson. 

Benson was without counsel for approximately one year.  On October 3, 1977, counsel, at the direction of and paid [**4]  for by the insurance company, appeared on Benson's behalf in the four actions in which he was a defendant.  On October 19, 1977, Benson engaged private counsel to represent him in the actions. 

On December 3, 1977, the Illinois Representation and Indemnification of State Employees Act ("Indemnification Act"), 1981 Ill. Rev. Stat. ch. 127, § §  1301-02, became effective. n2 The Indemnification Act provides for representation by the Attorney General for employees of the state sued for acts or omissions committed during the course of their employment.  It also provides that in the event the Attorney General must withdraw because of a conflict of interest, the state will reimburse the employee for the costs incurred in obtaining his or her own counsel.  The statute expressly excludes independent contractors from its coverage. 

n2 The act provides: 

 [HN1] 

Representation and indemnification of State employees.  (a) In the event that any civil proceeding is commenced against any State employee, alleging the deprivation of a civil or constitutional right and arising out of any act or omission occurring within the scope of the employee's State employment, the Attorney General shall, upon timely and appropriate notice to him by such employee, appear on behalf of such employee and defend the action ....  (b) In the event that the Attorney General determines that so appearing and defending an employee either (1) involves an actual or potential conflict of interest, or (2) that the act or omission that gave rise to the claim was not within the scope of the employee's State employment or was intentional, willful or wanton misconduct, the Attorney General shall decline in writing to appear or defend or shall promptly take appropriate action to withdraw as attorney for such employee.  Upon receipt of such declination or upon such withdrawal by the Attorney General on the basis of an actual or potential conflict of interest, the State employee may employ his own attorney to appear and defend, in which event the State shall pay the employee's court costs, litigation expenses and attorney's fees to the extent approved by the Attorney General as reasonable, as they are incurred.

 [HN2] 

An employee is defined as "any ... employee of the State ... but does not mean an independent contractor except as provided in this Section." 

 [**5]  

On October 28, 1977, Benson requested the Attorney General's office to provide him with representation in the civil rights actions pursuant to the Indemnification Act. On February 22, 1978, defendant Herbert Caplan, responding by letter to Benson's request, stated: 

Your letter requesting representation pursuant to [the Indemnification Act] has been reviewed.  We are informed that your relationship with the Illinois Department of Revenue was pursuant to contract. ...  It appears that you were not an employee within the definition of section 1(b) of the act and would not be entitled to its provisions.

Beginning in December, 1978, the state liability insurer assumed the costs of Benson's privately-retained counsel.  On March 9, 1981, the claims against Benson were settled and dismissed with prejudice by the  [*1184]  court.  The settlement did not involve any payment by Benson.  Benson did, however, incur the expenses of his counsel from October 19, 1977 to December, 1978. 

Benson filed this action on November 24, 1981, against defendants Scott and Caplan.  The complaint alleges that the defendants refused to reimburse Benson for his legal expenses in retaliation [**6]  for Benson's dissemination to the news media and law enforcement agencies of information and evidence concerning Department officials' selective enforcement of the Cigarette Tax Act and improprieties in state court proceedings.  The complaint further alleges that the denial of reimbursement violated, after 1977, the Indemnification Act, and was contrary to an established state custom and practice of the Attorney General's office prior to 1977 of representing employees in civil rights actions.  The custom was alleged to include allowing state agencies to engage private counsel at state expense when the Attorney General did not appear.  Benson sought damages under 42 U.S.C. §  1983 for violations of his First and Fourteenth Amendment rights. 

The defendants filed a motion to dismiss, interposing the defense of qualified immunity. The motion was converted into one for summary judgment, and was granted.  The court held that the defendants were entitled to qualified immunity from suit for their refusal to reimburse Benson for his legal expenses as their actions were objectively reasonable under the Illinois Indemnification Act. The court further held, recognizing that it did not need [**7]  to reach the issue, that Benson's due process rights were not violated because state law remedies were available which satisfied the due process clause. 

II. 

A.  Due Process Claim 

Benson claims that the grant of summary judgment on his due process claim was erroneous because a material issue of disputed fact remained; that is, whether Benson was an employee or an independent contractor. Benson reasons that so long as his employment status remains disputed, his right to the state benefit also remains disputed, and no decision can be made about whether the defendants' denial of that right was objectively reasonable for purposes of qualified immunity. n3 

n3 When the defendants raised the defense of qualified immunity, the district court stayed discovery pending resolution of the motion.  Benson contends that the stay was erroneous.  In Harlow, however, the Court concluded that discovery should not be allowed until the threshold issue of immunity is resolved.  Harlow v. Fitzgerald, 457 U.S. 800, 102 S. Ct. 2727, 2739, 73 L. Ed. 2d 396 (1982). 

 [**8]  

[HN3] The usual analysis of a due process claim proceeds sequentially.  First, one determines, as Benson would have us require the district court do here, whether a protected property interest exists at all.  If such an interest is found, one determines what procedures must be followed before the government may take action adversely affecting that interest.  See, e.g., Devine v. Cleland, 616 F.2d 1080 (9th Cir. 1980); Larry v. Lawler, 605 F.2d 954 (7th Cir. 1978). In this case we may assume, given the discussion of the issue by the district court, that state employees have a right to be represented by the state in civil actions against them arising out of their employment.  However, finding a protected interest in substitute representation will not end the inquiry, for Benson's claim is that his procedural rights were violated.  Since the defendants have interposed a defense of qualified immunity, we must ask whether the Attorney General, in making the determination that Benson was not qualified to receive benefits under the statute or custom of the state, violated clearly established procedures of which a reasonable person should have been aware.  Harlow v. Fitzgerald, 457 [**9]  U.S. 800, 102 S. Ct. 2727, 2738, 73 L. Ed. 2d 396 (1982). 

As the Supreme Court has recognized, "'due process' has never been, and perhaps can never be, precisely defined." Lassiter v. Dept. of Soc. Services of Durham Cty., 452 U.S. 18, 25,  [*1185]  68 L. Ed. 2d 640, 101 S. Ct. 2153 (1981). [HN4] While the requirements of due process have been settled by the case law for a variety of situations, see, e.g., Perry v. Sindermann, 408 U.S. 593, 33 L. Ed. 2d 570, 92 S. Ct. 2694 (1972) (pretermination hearing required before de facto tenured teacher may be fired); Goldberg v. Kelly, 397 U.S. 254, 25 L. Ed. 2d 287, 90 S. Ct. 1011, (1970) (hearing required before welfare benefits may be terminated), the process that is due in any given case varies according to the factual circumstances of the case and the nature of the interests involved.  See Mathews v. Eldridge, 424 U.S. 319, 47 L. Ed. 2d 18, 96 S. Ct. 893 (1976). Here, the Attorney General was asked to determine whether Benson qualified for state-provided representation under a statute which the parties concede codifies prior state practice.  Accordingly, he contacted the Department of Revenue, which informed him that [**10]  Benson was employed as an independent contractor. Since the statute by its express terms denies representation to independent contractors, the Attorney General notified Benson that his office was precluded from providing such representation.  Perhaps the Attorney General should have used more elaborate procedures in making this determination, but it is not clear even today that the Constitution required him to do so. Since the law establishing which procedures are constitutionally-mandated is uncertain or unclear, the Attorney General is entitled to qualified immunity from Benson's claim that his right to procedural due process has been violated.  Harlow v. Fitzgerald, 457 U.S. 800, 102 S. Ct. 2727, 73 L. Ed. 2d 396 (1982). 

B.  First Amendment Claim 

The district court also found that the defendants were entitled to qualified immunity from Benson's First Amendment claim.  Benson alleged that the defendants had refused to provide him with substitute representation, or to reimburse him for his legal expenses, in retaliation for his exercise of First Amendment rights.  The district court held that the defendants' conduct in refusing to reimburse Benson was objectively reasonable,  [**11]  because the statute upon which Benson premised his claim to reimbursement excludes independent contractors. 

As we noted above, Harlow dictates that [HN5] a claim of qualified immunity by an executive official must be sustained if the official's conduct "does not violate clearly established statutory or constitutional rights of which a reasonable person would have known." Harlow v. Fitzgerald, 457 U.S. at 817, 102 S. Ct. at 2738. In determining whether the actions alleged by Benson violate clearly established law, however, the relevant legal framework is not the Illinois Indemnification Act, as the defendants and the district court believed.  Benson's claim is that the Attorney General violated his rights under the First Amendment. This claim does not require Benson to show that he had a right to reimbursement under the Act, for even where there is no right to a valuable government benefit, the denial of that benefit may not be premised on an employee's exercise of his First Amendment rights.  See Healy v. James, 408 U.S. 169, 180-81, 33 L. Ed. 2d 266, 92 S. Ct. 2338 (1972); Pickering v. Board of Education, 391 U.S. 563, 568, 20 L. Ed. 2d 811, 88 S. Ct. 1731 (1968);  [**12]  Hostrop v. Board of Junior College District No. 515, 471 F.2d 488, 491-93 (7th Cir.), cert. denied, 411 U.S. 967, 36 L. Ed. 2d 688, 93 S. Ct. 2150 (1973). The right of employees to be free from retaliation for their exercise of First Amendment rights has been clear since at least 1968, when the Supreme Court decided Pickering v. Board of Education, supra. The defendants cannot claim that the law was unclear in 1977, when the events at issue in this case allegedly occurred. 

However, the defendants attempt to avoid the impact of the cases cited above by analogizing this case to Egger v. Phillips, 710 F.2d 292 (7th Cir.), cert. denied, 464 U.S. 918, 104 S. Ct. 284, 78 L. Ed. 2d 262 (1983). In Egger, this court held that Phillips, an FBI official, was immune from liability for transferring Egger, an employee  [*1186]  who had complained to FBI supervisors about a co-worker.  The court found that a reasonable person in Phillips' position could not have been expected to know at the time he made the transfer that he was violating Egger's First Amendment rights.  Egger is clearly distinguishable.  First, most of the doctrinal uncertainty which led the court [**13]  to conclude that the law was unclear in Egger centered on the fact that Egger was a public employee whose criticisms were made in the workplace.  The court noted that "until the Supreme Court's decision in Givhan v. Western Line Consolidated School District, 439 U.S. 410, 99 S. Ct. 693, 58 L. Ed. 2d 619 (1979), it was an open question whether public employees' on-the-job expressions were entitled to constitutional protection." 710 F.2d at 315. In the instant case, however, Benson alleges that it was his criticisms of the Department of Revenue to the news media and other law enforcement agencies which led to the retaliation. Second, Benson's employment with the Department ended on June 24, 1976.  The Attorney General did not withdraw representation until October of that year, and Benson's request for substitute representation was not denied until 1978.  Thus, many of the uncertainties found in Egger which resulted from the continuing concern that the state as employer should be able, in certain circumstances, to regulate the public utterances of its employees are not present here.  Benson was no longer a state employee at the time of the alleged violation. 

We conclude [**14]  that at least on the present record, the defendants are not entitled to qualified immunity with respect to Benson's First Amendment claim. Of course, we express no opinion on whether Benson will be able to prove the allegations of his complaint.  And we note that the defendants are still free to establish that they would have reached the same decision not to reimburse Benson even in the absence of protected conduct.  Mt. Healthy City School District v. Doyle, 429 U.S. 274, 287, 50 L. Ed. 2d 471, 97 S. Ct. 568 (1977). 

III. 

For the reasons expressed in this opinion, the judgment of the district court on Benson's due process claim is affirmed.  The judgment on Benson's First Amendment claim is reversed, and the case is remanded to the district court for further proceedings.  Each party shall bear his own costs on appeal.  

CONCURBY:

SWYGERT; WOOD, Jr.  

CONCUR:

 [*1189contd]  [EDITOR'S NOTE:  The page numbers of this document may appear to be out of sequence; however, this pagination accurately reflects the pagination of the original published documents.]

SWYGERT, Senior Circuit Judge. 

I concur with the opinion of this court that the defendants are not entitled to qualified [**15]  immunity with respect to Benson's first amendment claim. I dissent, however, from the court's opinion on Benson's due process claim.  I conclude that the latter claim involves material questions of fact that cannot be determined in a summary judgment proceeding, see Fed.R.Civ.P. 56(c), and would remand the claim to the district court. 

The majority assumes, as do I, that state employees have a right to be represented by the state in civil actions brought against them arising out of their employment.  Ante at 1184.  Thus, Benson's procedural due process claim involves the question of what process was due him before the defendants could reject his request for state-provided representation.  See Larry v. Lawler, 605 F.2d 954 (7th Cir. 1978). Under Harlow v. Fitzgerald, 457 U.S. 800, 818, 73 L. Ed. 2d 396, 102 S. Ct. 2727 (1982), the defendants were required to provide only those procedural safeguards that were objectively reasonable in light of established law and policy.  I agree with the majority that there is no law establishing the precise process to be afforded before denying an application for state-provided representation.  I also agree that the process due in [**16]  any given case depends on the circumstances of the case and the nature of the interests involved.  See ante at 1185-1186. I disagree, however, that the absence of clearly established procedures renders "reasonable" any procedures afforded Benson by the defendants. 

At least since Goldberg v. Kelly, 397 U.S. 254, 25 L. Ed. 2d 287, 90 S. Ct. 1011 (1970), the law has been clearly established that once a protected property interest is established, the state cannot deprive a person of that interest without affording some procedural safeguards. Those safeguards include, at a minimum, notice and an opportunity to be heard.  "It is axiomatic that before the government can deprive a person of a protected interest in property, the due process guarantee of the Constitution requires 'notice reasonably calculated, under all the circumstances, to apprise interested parties of the pendency of the action and afford them an opportunity to present their objections.'" Gallagher & Ascher Co. v. Simon, 687 F.2d 1067, 1076 (7th Cir. 1982) (quoting Memphis Light, Gas & Water Division v. Craft, 436 U.S. 1, 13, 56 L. Ed. 2d 30, 98 S. Ct. 1554 (1978)). In the absence of established law defining [**17]  the precise procedures to be followed in a given instance, precision is not required of government officials.  This is not to say, however, that officials are not therefore required to afford a claimant any procedures.  They are still required to provide some minimal notice and hearing procedures. 

I conclude that it cannot be determined on the present record whether the procedures afforded Benson met the minimal standards of due process and would remand the issue to the district court.  The record shows only that Benson sent a letter to the Attorney General's office requesting representation in the civil rights actions pending against him and that Benson was sent a letter from defendant Caplan denying this request.  The record does not indicate what if any type of review was made of Benson's application or what procedures if any were available to Benson to contest an unfavorable decision.  Thus, it is impossible to determine whether the procedures used to determine that Benson was not entitled to representation were reasonably calculated to afford Benson notice and an opportunity to be heard. 

In addition to a procedural due process claim, I find that Benson states a substantive [**18]  due process claim that raises material questions of fact.  Benson alleges that irrespective  [*1190]  of the procedures used by the defendants, the decision to deny him state-provided representation was arbitrary and contrary to established law and practice.  This court has recognized that arbitrary state action depriving a person of life, liberty, or property may constitute a substantive due process violation.  See United States ex rel. Hoover v. Franzen, 669 F.2d 433, 445 n.28 (7th Cir. 1982); Jeffries v. Turkey Run Consolidated School District, 492 F.2d 1, 3-4 (7th Cir. 1974). Under Harlow, supra, the question before this court is whether the defendants' decision to deny Benson's request for state-provided representation, on the basis of a letter from the Department of Revenue declaring that Benson was an independent contractor, was objectively reasonable. 

The Indemnification Act requires the State to provide representation or indemnification to its employees in accordance with the terms of the statute.  The definition of "employee" expressly excludes independent contractors. 1981 Ill. Rev. Stat. ch. 127, §  1301.  Whether a worker is classified as an employee or [**19]  an independent contractor is a critical question in many employment-related claims. See, e.g., Alexander v. Industrial Commission, 72 Ill. 2d 444, 448, 381 N.E.2d 669, 670, 21 Ill. Dec. 342 (1978) (only employees entitled to award under Workmen's Compensation Act); Byrne v. Stern, 103 Ill. App. 3d 601, 604-05, 431 N.E.2d 1073, 1075-76, 59 Ill. Dec. 316 (1981) (employer is liable under Liquor Control Act only for conduct of employees); Dumas v. Lloyd, 6 Ill. App. 3d 1026, 1030, 286 N.E.2d 566, 569 (1972) (employer is liable only for negligent acts of employees).  The law in Illinois is clearly established that the characterization of the worker by the employer does not determine whether the worker is an employee or an independent contractor. See Bauer v. Industrial Commission, 51 Ill. 2d 169, 170-72, 282 N.E.2d 448, 449-51 (1972); Manahan v. Daily News-Tribune, 50 Ill. App. 3d 9, 14, 365 N.E.2d 1045, 1049, 8 Ill. Dec. 659 (1977). Rather, the courts will examine a variety of factors, the most important of which is the worker's right to control the manner of doing work.  Other factors to be considered include whether the worker is compensated on a time basis or by [**20]  the job, whether the employer maintains the right to discharge the worker, the nature of the worker's occupation in terms of the degree of skill required and its relationship to the regular business of the employer, and whether the employer furnishes the worker with materials or equipment.  See Alexander v. Industrial Commission, supra, 72 Ill. 2d at 449, 381 N.E.2d at 670. 

Benson alleges, among other things, that he performed his duties pursuant to the direction, control, and instructions of Department supervisors; his conduct was supervised on a day-to-day basis by his superiors; he performed the same duties as a Security and Fraud Investigator, which has been a Civil Service position since 1969; he was issued state equipment by his superiors, including an investigator's badge, a radio, handcuffs, state license plates, FBI training materials, and an Employee's Handbook; he was authorized by the Department to carry a service revolver while performing his official duties and received training by the Department in the use of firearms.  In addition, Benson's contract with the Department provided for compensation on a time basis and authorized the Department to discharge Benson [**21]  at will.  These allegations are sufficient to raise a factual question whether Benson was an employee or an independent contractor. This question cannot be resolved on the basis of a single sentence contained in the employment contract. Cf.  Bauer v. Industrial Commission, supra, 51 Ill. 2d at 170-72, 282 N.E.2d at 449-51 (examining the control and authority exercised by employer to determine worker's status despite statement in contract that worker was an independent contractor). 

More importantly for the issue on appeal in the instant case, Benson's allegations raise a material question whether an attorney general, who is presumed to know the law of the state that he represents, could have reasonably decided that Benson was  [*1191]  an independent contractor. The answer to this question depends, in part, on facts not in the record such as what information concerning the terms of Benson's employment was available to the defendants.  Thus, I find that summary judgment was improper on this claim as well. * 

* Having concluded that Benson's due process claim survives summary judgment on the issue of defendants' qualified immunity, I note my disagreement with the district court's finding that Benson did not state a due process claim under section 1983 because alternative remedies provided him all the process that was due.  See Benson v. Scott, No. 81-C-6591, Mem. Op. at 10-12 (N.D. Ill. Dec. 29, 1982).  Post-deprivation remedies, such as those cited by the district court, satisfy the due process clause only if pre-deprivation process is impracticable.  See Logan v. Zimmerman Brush Co., 455 U.S. 422, 436, 71 L. Ed. 2d 265, 102 S. Ct. 1148 (1982); Vail v. Board of Education, 706 F.2d 1435, 1440-41 (7th Cir.), cert. granted, 464 U.S. 813, 104 S. Ct. 66, 78 L. Ed. 2d 81 (1983); Bonner v. Coughlin, 517 F.2d 1311, 1319 & n.24 (7th Cir. 1975), modified en banc, 545 F.2d 565 (7th Cir. 1976), cert. denied, 435 U.S. 932, 98 S. Ct. 1507, 55 L. Ed. 2d 529 (1978); Begg v. Moffitt, 555 F. Supp. 1344, 1353-65 (N.D. Ill. 1983). There was no showing that pre-deprivation process was impracticable in the instant matter.  Moreover, the remedies cited by the district court are too vague and speculative to supplant Benson's section 1983 remedy. See Logan v. Zimmerman Brush Co., supra, 455 U.S. at 436-37; Evans v. City of Chicago, 689 F.2d 1286, 1298 (7th Cir. 1982). 

 [**22]  

For the foregoing reasons, I dissent from Part II.A. of the court's opinion.  

DISSENTBY:

WOOD, Jr.  

DISSENT:

 [*1186contd]  [EDITOR'S NOTE:  The page numbers of this document may appear to be out of sequence; however, this pagination accurately reflects the pagination of the original published documents.]

 WOOD, Jr., Circuit Judge, concurring and dissenting. 

Although I gladly join Judge Eschbach in Part A of his opinion affirming the grant of summary judgment in behalf of the defendants on plaintiff's due process claim, I respectfully dissent from Part B reversing the grant of summary judgment in behalf of defendants on plaintiff's First Amendment claim. 

Some additional overview may be helpful.  This case is a minor remnant of class action litigation begun in 1974 against the Illinois Department of Revenue concerning the enforcement of the Illinois Cigarette Tax Act against persons bringing cigarettes into the State of Illinois.  Benson, who was not named in that suit, was under contract to the Department to provide certain technical services in enforcement of the Act. That contract expressly provided that Benson was to be an "independent contractor" with the exception that he [**23]  would be considered a state employee for liability purposes only, so that he would be covered by the Department's insurance. 

In 1975, four separate civil rights actions were filed in the district court concerning the Act's enforcement.  Benson was named as a defendant along with others in the Department.  There were also four other related civil rights actions pending in which Benson was not involved.  During the course of all this litigation, Benson filed an affidavit critical of the Department.  Three days later his contract was terminated. His employment contract provided that it was terminable on written notice by either party. 

The Illinois Attorney General initially represented all defendants, including Benson,  [*1187]  in all eight civil rights suits.  However, it soon appeared to the Attorney General, not surprisingly, that there was no way to harmonize the defenses of his various state clients.  All defendants were advised to retain their own counsel and the Attorney General withdrew as counsel in all the cases except in behalf of himself as a separate defendant. 

In addition to the eight civil rights cases already pending, Benson added two more of his own: one against [**24]  the Director of the Department and others; and a second against the Governor and others.  Benson complained that due process entitled him to a hearing before his technical services contract was terminated, and secondly, that he was entitled to another hearing before the Attorney General could withdraw as his counsel.  Benson no longer contests the validity of his employment contract termination. 

In the four civil rights suits in which Benson was a defendant, the state insurance carrier provided Benson with counsel without expense to him after the Attorney General withdrew. Benson nevertheless later also hired two private attorneys for those cases. 

In 1977, before all this was over, new state legislation was passed providing for representation of state employees in certain civil cases, but not for independent contractors. Citing this Act, Benson again requested that the Attorney General represent him in the civil rights actions in which he was a defendant, claiming that the other state defendants had been reimbursed for their private counsel. The Attorney General again declined to represent Benson since he viewed Benson as an independent contractor and therefore as not entitled [**25]  to that representation.  Benson then tried in one of his own civil rights actions in which he was plaintiff to prevent the Attorney General from authorizing use of private counsel for the state defendants he had named.  Former Judge Alfred Kirkland ruled that the Attorney General had properly declined representation due to a conflict of interest and had not exceeded his powers in authorizing private counsel. 

Later, Judge McMillen approved settlement of the four civil rights cases in which Benson had been a defendant, all without any financial liability falling on Benson. 

In Benson's own two consolidated civil rights cases, former Judge John Crowley entered partial summary judgment against Benson because Benson failed to show a property interest in continued employment, and further on the ground that Benson had no cause of action against the Department for withdrawal of state-supplied legal counsel.  On Benson's motion for reconsideration, Judge Aspen, now favored with those cases, ruled as Judge Crowley had before him, but noted that Benson did have counsel supplied by the state's insurance carrier. Benson then sought to add as defendants, Scott, then Attorney General, and Caplan,  [**26]  his assistant.  That was denied. 

Now we finally get to this separate civil rights lawsuit which Benson next filed naming Scott and Caplan as defendants, and charging due process and First Amendment violations in his lack of state representation.  Judge Roszkowski first drew this lawsuit, but after some additional activity, the case was reassigned to Judge Hart, whose summary judgment decision we are now reviewing. 

In Judge Hart's summary judgment proceeding, the facts of Benson's actual representation were clarified.  Benson was supplied counsel by the state insurance carrier without expense to him in the four civil rights actions in which he was a defendant and which were finally settled without expense to Benson. The insurance carrier had for a time, in addition, also partially paid the fees of Benson's private attorneys.  There was a period when the expenses of Benson's private attorneys were not paid by the insurance carrier, but that was simply because the insurance carrier was providing Benson with other counsel without expense to Benson.  What the case really amounted to was that Benson claimed he was entitled to be represented by two sets of attorneys at state expense.  [**27]  

 [*1188]  Judge Hart held against Benson, granting defendants' motion for summary judgment on the basis that the state defendants enjoyed qualified immunity and that Benson had not been deprived of property rights without due process. 

Now, after ten years of litigation, twelve separate lawsuits (one of which Benson was a witness in, four of which he was a defendant in, and three of which he started on his own), and more than five district court judges later, it is doubtful that anyone remembers or cares that what originally started all this was cigarettes. Those cases were all long ago disposed of, but Benson has managed to perpetuate this litigation remnant.  Benson emerged from the original litigation with no liability and no need to have personally expended anything for his legal representation. Now he has succeeded in involving us in peripheral constitutional issues about which we cannot agree.  The mere brief recitation of this litigation story suggests to me that, as a practical matter, much of it was unnecessary.  I would affirm on the basis of Judge Hart's memorandum opinion in less time than it takes to recount Benson's stubborn continuing quarrel with everybody.  [**28]  

As the majority correctly points out, to overcome a claim of qualified immunity by an executive official, the official's conduct must "violate clearly established statutory or constitutional rights of which a reasonable person would have known." Harlow v. Fitzgerald, 457 U.S. 800, 102 S. Ct. 2727, 2738, 73 L. Ed. 2d 396 (1982). Benson was labeled an independent contractor in the contract he signed, so he appeared not to be entitled to state representation before or after the new Act was passed.  State employees are not hired by a special contract as independent contractors who may be fired, with or without cause; they are just hired.  The Attorney General took the logical, reasonable position that Benson was an independent contractor and, as such, was excluded from representation.  Nothing suggests otherwise. 

In spite of these circumstances, Benson claims that the defendants' refusal to provide substitute representation or to reimburse him for his legal expenses are in retaliation for exercising his First Amendment rights.  However, counsel was furnished to Benson without expense by the state's insurance carrier, and the private counsel expense Benson assumed for only a short [**29]  time was of his own unnecessary doing.  Although I agree with the majority that to premise the denial of a valuable government benefit on a person's exercise of his First Amendment rights violates the First Amendment even if no independent legal entitlement to that benefit exists, I believe that the defendants' refusal to reimburse Benson for the fees of his privately-retained attorneys was objectively reasonable under Harlow.  If, after the Attorney General withdrew from his joint representation of all defendants in the eight civil rights cases, the state had initially agreed to pay Benson for substitute legal representation but then refused to continue after Benson criticized the Department, Benson might have a First Amendment claim.  But such is not the case.  I believe the state officials had qualified immunity and were entitled to it.  I consider Benson's alleged whistle-blowing to be an irrelevant non-First Amendment issue in these circumstances. 

There is some question about disposing of all of this by summary judgment, but the material facts are not disputed by anything except legal arguments and collateral allegations that would require us to search unnecessarily behind [**30]  the technical services contract and to assume the Attorney General was wrong about his ethical decision and his informed view of the circumstances upon which he reasonably acted. 

In Harlow, 102 S. Ct. at 2737 (quoting Butz v. Economou, 438 U.S. 478, 507, 57 L. Ed. 2d 895, 98 S. Ct. 2894 (1978)), the Supreme Court reaffirmed that: "In identifying qualified immunity as the best attainable accommodation of competing values ... we relied on the assumption that this standard would permit Insubstantial lawsuits [to] be quickly terminated.'" I would recognize the qualified immunity of the  [*1189]  state defendants and bring all this to a long overdue close.  As it is, the next issue will be Benson's claim for fees in this appeal followed by more proceedings before yet another district court judge and another appeal by one of the parties back to this court.  I would support Judge Hart in his disposition of this case.  
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MEMORANDUM OPINION AND ORDER
Plaintiff William J. Benson ("Benson") brings this Bivens action against current and former federal prosecutors Joan Bainbridge Safford ("Safford"), Joel Bertocchi ("Bertocchi"), Fred Foreman ("Foreman"), Scott R. Lassar ("Lassar"), James B. Burns ("Burns"); federal probation officers Tony S. Morton, a/k/a Tony Smith ("Smith"), Raymond Raven ("Raven"), Michael A. Vlaming ("Vlaming"); and Financial Litigation Agent Kenneth Giles ("Giles") (collectively "Defendants"). Plaintiff was convicted on two misdemeanor counts of willful failure to file a tax return and one felony count of willful tax evasion. Defendants were involved in enforcing the terms of his probation when the district court judge vacated his conviction and ordered him released. Now before the court, in his two-count complaint, Benson alleges that Defendants (1) violated his Fifth Amendment [*2]  right against double jeopardy and (2) conspired to deprive him of his First Amendment rights of speech, travel, and association. Defendants move for summary judgment on three grounds: (1) absolute and qualified immunity, (2) res judicata, and (3) waiver for failure to raise the double jeopardy issue trial. For the reasons discussed below, the court grants the Defendants' motion for summary judgment.

FACTUAL BACKGROUND
In December 1989, a jury convicted Benson of two misdemeanor counts of willful failure to file a federal tax return, 26 U.S.C. §  7203, and one felony count of willful tax evasion, 26 U.S.C. §  7206. (Plaintiff's Local Rule 56.1(b) Response to Defendants' Local Rule 56.1 Statement of Material Facts In Support of Summary Judgment ("56.1(b) Resp.") P 1.) Judge Paul E. Plunkett of this court sentenced Benson to one-year terms on counts I and II (misdemeanors), and a four-year term on count III (felony). (Defendants' Local Rule 56.1 Statement of Material Facts in Support of Summary Judgment ("56.1 Statement") P 2.) All three jail sentences were to run concurrently. (Id. P 3.)

Benson began serving his sentence [*3]  on May 29, 1990.  Benson v. United States, 969 F. Supp. 1129, 1130 (N.D. Ill. 1997). He was scheduled to be paroled on September 27, 1991. n1 (Id.) Benson appealed and on September 3, 1991, the Seventh Circuit reversed Benson's convictions and remanded for a new trial on all charges.  United States v. Benson, 941 F.2d 598 (7th Cir. 1991), as amended, 957 F.2d 301 (7th Cir. 1992). n2 On September 4, 1991, the day after the opinion was issued, Defendant was released on bond. (Defs.' 56.1 Statement P 5.) Up until that point, Benson had served 467 days in federal prison. (Id.)

n1 Defendant was sentenced under pre-sentencing guidelines regime, and thus became eligible for parole after serving one third of his sentence, with credit for "good time."

n2 The Seventh Circuit held that the district court abused its discretion in admitting portions of opinion testimony from an Internal Revenue agent.  United States v. Benson, 941 F.2d 598, 602 (7th Cir. 1991).
 [*4]  

In February 1994, Benson was retried and convicted on the same three counts. (Id. P 6.) Judge John F. Grady sentenced Benson to the same concurrent terms of one year for his count II misdemeanor, and four years for his count III felony conviction. (Pl.'s 56.1(b) Resp. P 7.) For the count I misdemeanor, however, unlike Judge Plunkett, Judge Grady sentenced Benson to five years probation to run consecutive to the sentences imposed on count II and III. (Defs.' 56.1 Statement PP 8, 10.) Judge Grady also imposed a criminal fine together with the costs of prosecution, the latter totaling $ 4,083, pursuant to 26 U.S.C. § §  7201, 7201. (Id. P 9.) Benson and his criminal defense attorney never claimed during his sentencing hearing before Judge Grady that because Benson had already served more than 365 days in jail for his three concurrent sentences, the double jeopardy clause precluded the Judge Grady from entering a probation sentence on the count I. (Id. P 10.) Benson did, however, appeal his second conviction with respect to Count II and III. The Seventh Circuit affirmed his second conviction and sentence, rejecting Benson's sufficiency of the evidence [*5]  and jury instruction arguments.  United States v. Benson, 67 F.3d 641, 642 (7th Cir. 1995). Notably, neither Benson nor his counsel challenged his sentence on count I nor raised any double jeopardy arguments. (Defs.' 56.1 Statement P 11.)

Benson began serving his second four-year sentence on November 10, 1994. (Id. P 12.) Because he had already served 467 days, and because his sentence was imposed under pre-guideline rules, Benson only served an additional 18 days in prison before being paroled in November 28, 1994. n3 (Id.) Shortly after being paroled, Benson requested permission from his parole officer, Officer Smith, to travel to California to speak on the invalidity of the Sixteenth Amendment. Benson v. United States, 969 F. Supp. 1129, 1131 (N.D. Ill. 1997). Officer Smith denied permission because Benson had failed to comply with various conditions of his parole. Id. Specifically, Officer Smith asserted that Benson had (1) failed to repay in full his assessment of costs attributable to his prosecution and (2) failed to provide certain financial information as required by the conditions of his parole. Id. Benson persisted with his [*6]  requests, however, and on November 9, 1995, Officer Smith acceded in Benson's request to travel outside of the Northern District of Illinois as long as Benson adhered to his parole conditions. Id.
n3 In return for his early release from prison, Benson agreed to certain conditions, including that he (1) would remain within the limits of the Northern District of Illinois and not leave the jurisdiction without permission of his parole officer; (2) would not violate any law; (3) would not associate with persons engaged in criminal activity; (4) would submit a complete and truthful monthly report as required by his parole officer; and (5) would make a diligent effort to satisfy the court's assessment of the costs of his prosecution and upon request, would provide financial information relevant to the payment of the assessment.  Benson v. United States, 969 F. Supp. 1129, 1130 (N.D. Ill. 1997).
Notwithstanding the fact that he was granted permission to leave the Northern District of Illinois, Benson,  [*7]  in November of 1996, filed a two-count Bivens suit against Officer Smith, Deputy U.S. Attorney Safford, and several other individuals alleging unconstitutional acts associated with his parole. See Benson v. United States, 969 F. Supp. 1129, 1131 (N.D. Ill. 1997). In Count I, Benson alleged that Officer Smith violated his First Amendment rights by threatening him with incarceration if he spoke out against the Sixteenth Amendment or traveled beyond the Northern District of Illinois to give speeches regarding the Sixteenth Amendment. Id. at 1131. In Count II, Benson alleged that Officer Smith, Deputy U.S. Attorney Safford, and several others, had engaged in three conspiracies under 42 U.S.C. §  1985: (1) releasing grand jury materials illegally in an attempt to prejudice the jury against Benson; (2) knowingly and falsely representing to the trial judge that Benson had more time to serve on his original four-year sentence; and (3) knowingly and falsely denying Benson his right to travel and speak out on matters of federal corruption by threatening Benson with incarceration. Id. Judge Alesia granted summary judgment in favor [*8]  of the defendants.  Id. at 1132. Rejecting Benson's constitutional allegations on numerous grounds, including absolute and qualified immunity, Judge Alesia wrote:

Because [Officer Smith] bore quasi-judicial responsibilities in deciding whether or not to allow Benson a reprieve from the travel restrictions imposed on him as conditions of parole and in enforcing the parole conditions, he should be accorded the same protection that is accorded judges and parole board members. Consequently, the court finds that [Officer Smith] is entitled to absolute immunity for his actions in enforcing the terms of Benson's parole, including his decision to deny Benson permission to travel outside of the Northern District of Illinois.

 Id. at 1133-34.
Benson's parole for his four-year count III sentence lasted until July 30, 1997, at which time Benson's five-year probation sentence for count I began. (Id. P 13.) On August 1, 1997, Benson began serving his five-year probation term for count I. (Id.) In February 1998, less than seven months into Benson's probation, Defendant Deputy U.S. Attorney Safford filed a motion to have Benson's probation revoked for various probation [*9]  violations, including Benson's failure to report certain financial information. n4 (Id. P 14.) In October 1998, during a probation revocation hearing before Judge Grady, Benson argued for the first time that Judge Grady's earlier imposed probation sentence violated Benson's Fifth Amendment double jeopardy rights. (Id. P 15.) Specifically, Benson argued that the probation sentence on count I was improper because he had already served a one-year term associated with count I while awaiting the resolution of his first appeal. n5 (Id.) On March 18, 1999, approximately twenty months into Benson's probation, Judge Grady agreed with Benson and vacated his probation. (Id. P 17.) Judge Grady wrote:

The critical fact in this court's view is that the sentence defendant received from Judge Plunkett on Count I was concurrent with the four year sentence he received on Count III, so that, in serving 467 days on Judge Plunkett's sentence, the defendant necessarily served the 365 days imposed on Count I.

...Much time and effort would have been saved, of course, had Benson raised his Double Jeopardy argument before he was resentenced. However, an illegal sentence can be challenged [*10]  at any time, and this court has no alternative but to vacate the probationary sentence imposed on Count I on April 29, 1994.

(Judge Grady's March 18, 1999 Order, Ex. A to Plaintiff's Memorandum in Opposition to Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment ("Pl.'s Opp'n").)

n4 While the record reveals that a condition of Benson's parole required him to provide such financial information, the record is unclear as to exactly what were the conditions of Benson's probation.

n5 Judge Plunkett's initial sentence ordered Benson to serve his three sentences concurrently. While awaiting his initial appeal, Benson had served 467 days. Thus, according to Benson, he had served out his 1-year, or 365-day, term associated with count I.

Soon thereafter, Benson brought this two-count complaint under the authority of Bivens v. Six Unknown Named Agents of Federal Bureau of Narcotics, 403 U.S. 388, 29 L. Ed. 2d 619, 91 S. Ct. 1999 (1971), seeking over $ 8 million from the various probation officers [*11]  and prosecutors involved in either the supervision of his probation and/or the attempt to have it revoked. In Count I, Benson alleges violations of his Fifth Amendment rights against double jeopardy because: (1) U.S. Attorney Lassar and Deputy U.S. Attorney Safford filed numerous pleadings seeking to revoke Benson's probation and objected to Benson's motion to vacate (Complaint ("Compl.") PP 38, 44, 49); (2) U.S. Attorney Lassar, Deputy U.S. Attorney Safford, and Assistant U.S. Attorney Bertocchi appeared and prosecuted Benson during a probation revocation hearing seeking to imprison him for alleged probation violations (Compl. PP 46, 48); (3) between August 1, 1997 and October 16, 1998, Officer Smith supervised Benson as if he were on probation (Compl. P 36); (4) Officer Smith, Officer Raven, and Officer Vlaming actively sought to revoke Benson's probation and have him sentenced to jail by preparing a special report regarding Benson's probation violations and testifying at Benson's probation revocation hearing (Compl. P 37, 47-48); and (5) U.S. Attorney Lassar, Deputy U.S. Attorney Safford, Officer Smith, and Financial Litigation Agent Kenneth Giles collected $ 3,703.00 of the total [*12]  $ 4,083.00 amount owed for the costs of prosecution which was imposed as a special condition of Benson's probation. (Compl. P 50.)

In Count II, Benson alleges that, by supervising his probation and/or subsequently seeking to revoke it without the requisite jurisdictional authority, Defendants conspired to deprive him of his First Amendment rights to speak, travel, and associate. (Compl. P 59.) Benson's First Amendment count is completely derivative of his Fifth Amendment count in that it is premised entirely on his probationary conditions. The court will discuss the counts contemporaneously.

Defendants now move for summary judgment, setting forth three defenses. First, Defendants allege that they are entitled to absolute or qualified immunity for their action. (Defendants' Memorandum in Support of Summary Judgment ("Defs.' Memo.") at 1.) Plaintiff contests this point. He concedes that the applicable immunity would be absolute, and not qualified, but urges that Defendants are not entitled to an immunity defense because they acted in "complete absence of jurisdiction." (Pl.'s Opp'n at 1.)

Second, Defendants assert that the First Amendment claim is barred by res judicata in that [*13]  the same claim was previously litigated in the earlier case of Benson v. United States, 969 F. Supp. 1129 (N.D. Ill. 1997.) (J. Alesia). (Defs.' Memo. at 1.) Plaintiff counters arguing that "his causes of action embraced in the complaint before this Court hadn't even arisen at the time the first complaint was heard," and thus res judicata does not apply. (Pl.'s Opp'n at 2.)

Third, Defendants assert that Plaintiff has waived his right to seek damages because he had not previously objected to the imposition of his illegal sentence. (Defs.' Memo at 1.) Plaintiff asserts that "an illegal sentence can be challenged at any time," and thus "there is no waiver as a matter of law." (Pl.'s Opp'n at 2.)

For reasons set forth below, the court finds Defendants enjoy absolute immunity, and need not reach the remaining defenses.

DISCUSSION
Defendants claim that they are absolutely immune from suit. (Defs.' Memo., at 4-10.) [HN1] Courts employ a "functional approach" to determine whether a governmental official is entitled to immunity. Buckley v. Fitzsimmons, 509 U.S. 259, 269, 125 L. Ed. 2d 209, 113 S. Ct. 2606 (1993). Under this approach, courts examine [*14]  the "nature of the function performed" by the official when the alleged constitutional infringement occurred, not the title of the official in question.  Wilson v. Kelkhoff, 86 F.3d 1438, 1443 (7th Cir. 1996). If the actions of an official are "quasi-judicial" in nature or "intimately associated with the judicial process itself," absolute immunity is appropriate. See, e.g., Imbler v. Pachtman, 424 U.S. 409, 423-24, 427, 47 L. Ed. 2d 128, 96 S. Ct. 984 (1976) (prosecutors); Buckley v. Fitzsimmons, 509 U.S. 259, 270, 125 L. Ed. 2d 209, 113 S. Ct. 2606 (1993) (prosecutors); Walrath v. United States, 35 F.3d 277, 280-81 (1994) (probation officers)("activities which are 'inexorably connected with the execution of parole revocation procedures and are analogous to judicial action' are entitled to absolute immunity." (quoting Trotter v. Klincar, 748 F.2d 1177, 1182-83 (7th Cir. 1984).) Defendants maintain that both their supervision and their attempted revocation of Benson's probation were quasi-judicial activities for which they are entitled to absolute immunity. (Defs.' Memo., at 4-10.)

Plaintiff concedes [*15]  that the nature of Defendants' conduct falls within the prosecutorial or quasi-judicial category covered by absolute immunity. (Pl.'s Opp'n at 2.) Specifically, Benson agrees that the "acts of the Defendants during trial and sentencing, even including the illegal sentencing" are ordinarily acts for which Defendants enjoy absolute immunity. (Id. at 4.) Plaintiff asserts, however, that an exception to absolute immunity exists when an official has acted in the "clear absence of all jurisdiction." (Id. at 2-3 (quoting Bradley v. Fisher, 80 U.S. 335, 351, 20 L. Ed. 646 (1871)). Benson contends that the probationary sentence Judge Grady imposed upon him, which was later vacated, violated his double jeopardy rights and thus was entered in the "clear absence of jurisdiction." (Pl.'s Opp'n at 3.) Benson thus concludes that all of Defendants' alleged acts taken after August 1, 1997 (the first day of Benson's probationary sentence) pursuant to this faulty sentence, were also conducted in the "clear absence of authority." (Id. at 4.)

Plaintiff supports his claim by citing Bradley, 80 U.S. at 351-52, Stump v. Sparkman, 435 U.S. 349, 55 L. Ed. 2d 331, 98 S. Ct. 1099 (1978), [*16]  and John v. Barron, 897 F.2d 1387 (7th Cir. 1990), all cases which articulate the general rule that [HN2] judicial acts performed in the "clear absence of jurisdiction" are not protected by absolute immunity. Bradley, 80 U.S. at 351-52; Stump, 435 U.S. at 356-57; John, 897 F.2d at 1391. While indeed these case do enunciate this rule, these cases all reach holdings that are ultimately of no assistance to Plaintiff. For example, in Bradley, the Supreme Court held that a judge was immune for his judicial acts.  Bradley, 80 U.S. at 351-52. The Court reasoned that although the judge's acts were performed in excess of his jurisdiction, they were not performed in the clear absence of jurisdiction. Id. The Court illustrated the distinction between lack of jurisdiction and excess of jurisdiction with the following examples:

if a probate court, invested only with authority over wills and the settlement of estates of deceased persons, should proceed to try parties for public offences, jurisdiction over the subject of offences being entirely wanting in the court, and this being necessarily known to [*17]  its judge, his commission would afford no protection to him in the exercise of the usurped authority. But if on the other hand a judge of a criminal court, invested with general criminal jurisdiction over offences committed within a certain district, should hold a particular act to be a public offence, which is not by the law made an offence, and proceed to the arrest and trial of a party charged with such act, or should sentence a party convicted to a greater punishment than that authorized by the law upon its proper construction, no personal liability to civil action for such acts would attach to the judge, although those acts would be in excess of his jurisdiction, or of the jurisdiction of the court held by him, for these are particulars for his judicial consideration, whenever his general jurisdiction over the subject-matter is invoked.

 Id. at 352. Thus, [HN3] where jurisdiction over the subject matter is vested in a judge, the manner and extent in which the jurisdiction shall be exercised are matters for the judge's determination; the availability of absolute immunity does not hinge on the correctness of these determinations.  Id. 351-52. [*18]  

Likewise in Stump, the Court held that a state trial judge had not acted in the absence of jurisdiction when he approved the plaintiff's mother's petition to allow a tubal ligation to be performed upon the plaintiff.  Stump, 435 U.S. at 357. The Court stated:

 [HN4] 

A judge will not be deprived of immunity because the action he took was in error, was done maliciously, or was in excess of his authority; rather, he will be subject to liability only when he has acted in the "clear absence of all jurisdiction."

..."This erroneous manner in which [the court's] jurisdiction was exercised, however it may have affected the validity of the act, did not make the act any less a judicial act; nor did it render the defendant liable to answer in damages for it at the suit of the plaintiff, as though the court had proceeded without having any jurisdiction whatever ...."

 Id. at 356, 359 (quoting Bradley, 80 U.S. at 357.) A judge will not be deprived of immunity because his or her action was wrong, malicious, or in excess of his authority.

Finally, in John, the Seventh Circuit held that a state trial judge had absolute immunity [*19]  from liability for his alleged violation of the plaintiff's right to a fair trial. Plaintiff alleged that the judge had unlawfully conspired to deprive him of his rights when he granted the petition of two other trustees to remove him from his position as trustee of a foundation. Because the judge's actions were undertaken in his judicial capacity and were within the subject matter jurisdiction of the court, the Seventh Circuit upheld dismissal of plaintiff's complaint.  John, 897 F.2d at 1391-392.
Plaintiff argues that inasmuch as he had already served out his count I misdemeanor sentence, Judge Grady lacked jurisdiction to impose any additional sentence for that count; consequently, that sentence was void. (Pl. Opp'n., at 5.) n6 Plaintiff contends when he was released from parole, and his probation for count I began, "neither the Probation Department, the Department of Justice, nor the Court had any jurisdiction whatsoever over Plaintiff." (Id. at 6.) Thus, in supervising his probation, and later seeking to have his probation revoked, Defendants, like Judge Grady, acted in the absence of the jurisdictional authority. (Id. at 6-7.) By acting pursuant to Judge [*20]  Grady's jurisdictionally void probation sentence, Plaintiff contends Defendants forfeited their absolute immunity from suit. (Id. at 7.)

n6 Notably, Judge Grady himself is not a defendant in this case. Thus, the case law concerning the absolute immunity available to a judge is applicable only by analogy.

Plaintiff's argument lacks merit. At the center of Plaintiff's argument is the assumption that a sentence later vacated on the account of double jeopardy concerns was initially imposed in the clear absence of authority. [HN5] While federal district courts are courts of limited jurisdiction, it is well within the jurisdiction of a federal district judge to try criminal cases and impose sentences. Giardono v. Jones, 867 F.2d 409, 413 (7th Cir. 1989). Judge Grady had subject-matter jurisdiction to hear Plaintiff's case and similarly had subject matter jurisdiction to sentence him. The fact that Judge Grady later determined he had made an error, and consequently vacated the probation sentence, does [*21]  not necessitate a finding that he initially acted in "clear absence of jurisdiction." To the contrary, it is well settled that "a judge will not be deprived of immunity because the action he took was in error. ..." John v. Barron, 897 F.2d 1387, 1391 (7th Cir. 1990) (citing Stump v. Sparkman, 435 U.S. 349, 356-57, 55 L. Ed. 2d 331, 98 S. Ct. 1099 (1978).
The cases Plaintiff relies on do not support the inference that a sentence placing a defendant in double jeopardy is void because the judge lacks the authority to hear the case. At most, they support the inference that a sentence that violates the double jeopardy clause is void because it is in excess of jurisdiction; that is, because the sentence exceeds the limits of the judge's discretion in the exercise of the court's subject-matter jurisdiction.  Bradley, 80 U.S. at 351-52; Stump, 435 U.S. at 356-57, n.7; John, 897 F.2d at 1391. The Bradley Court makes this point more or less explicitly: the probate judge who hears a criminal case acts in the absence of jurisdiction; but the criminal law judge who sentences "a party convicted to [*22]  a greater punishment than that authorized by the law" acts in excess of jurisdiction. Bradley, 80 U.S. at 352.
At worst, therefore, Judge Grady's probation sentence exceeded his jurisdiction. The suggestion that this fact renders the Defendants' conduct unconstitutional is even weaker. Id.; Stump, 435 U.S. at 356-57; John, 897 F.2d at 1391. Plaintiff has not explained how the fact the judge imposed an improper sentence (if he did) would establish that Defendants acted improperly in carrying out the court's orders. Indeed, [HN6] governmental officials, such as prosecutors, and probation officers who cannot be punished for seeking to enforce a facially valid criminal sentence, especially where the defendants' enforcement efforts all occurred before the criminal sentence is ultimately vacated. See Henry v. Farmer City State Bank, 808 F.2d 1228, 1238-39 (7th Cir. 1986) (non-judicial officials have absolute immunity in executing a facially valid court order); Patton v. Przybylski, 822 F.2d 697, 699 (7th Cir. 1987) ("Policeman can rely on the warrant - he doesn't have to cross-examine the judicial officer who [*23]  issued it."); Carver v. Heisner, 986 F.2d 1424, (7th Cir. 1993) ("Generally, an arrest made pursuant to a facially valid warrant precludes section 1983 action for false arrest, false imprisonment, or malicious prosecution, even if the arrest warrant is later determined to have an inadequate factual foundation.") (citing Juriss v. McGowan, 957 F.2d 345, 350 (7th Cir.1992).)
All of the alleged wrongful acts occurred before Judge Grady vacated the probation sentence. n7 Had the alleged acts occurred after Judge Grady vacated the probation sentence, the outcome of this case might be different. But such are not the facts of the case before the court. To the extent that Defendants' alleged wrongful acts were executed pursuant to Judge Grady's facially valid probationary sentence, the court finds that Defendants are absolutely immune from suit. Defendants' motion for summary judgment is granted.

n7 In fact, Judge Grady agreed with the United States that Benson had indeed violated the conditions of his probation.

 [*24]  

CONCLUSION
For the reasons discussed above, the court grants summary judgment (Doc. 8-1) in favor of Defendants.

ENTER:

Dated: May 16, 2000

REBECCA R. PALLMEYER

United States District Judge 
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OPINION:

 [*1130]  MEMORANDUM OPINION AND ORDER
Before the court is defendants United States of America and Tony Morton's motion for summary judgment pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 56(b). For the reasons that follow, the court grants defendants' motion.

I. BACKGROUND n1

n1 Unless otherwise indicated, the facts in the Background section are the uncontested facts taken from the parties' Local Rule 12(M) and 12(N) statements.

Plaintiff William J. Benson was convicted in December 1989 of tax evasion and willful failure to file tax returns, and began serving his four-year sentence [**2]  on May 29, 1990. Benson was scheduled to be paroled on September 27, 1991. Shortly before that date, the Seventh Circuit Court of Appeals reversed Benson's conviction, n2 and the trial judge entered a release order releasing Benson from prison pending a new trial. The Bureau of Prisons released Benson on September 4, 1991.

n2 See United States v. Benson, 941 F.2d 598 (7th Cir. 1991).
On February 2, 1994, Benson again was tried and convicted on the same tax charges. The trial judge imposed the same four-year sentence, to be followed by five years' probation, and ordered Benson to pay the costs of his prosecution. Benson began serving his second four-year sentence on November 10, 1994. However, because of the time that he already had served, Benson was paroled on November 28, 1994. n3 It was at this time that defendant Tony Morton became Benson's parole officer. The Seventh Circuit affirmed Benson's second conviction and sentence. n4

n3 Benson denies he was paroled, and asserts instead that he was placed on probation. See Pl.'s 12(N)(3) Statement P 1. Benson's contentions are completely unfounded. He was paroled, and his parole is to end July 30, 1997. See Ex. in Supp. of Defs.' Mot. for Summ. J. Ex. F. At that time, his probation presumably will begin. See id. Ex. D at 2 (sentencing order stating that probation is to run consecutive to sentence of imprisonment). Benson also disputes whether he was released on the proper dates, see Pl.'s 12(N)(3) Statement P 2, but that issue is irrelevant to the resolution of this motion. [**3]  

n4 See United States v. Benson, 67 F.3d 641 (7th Cir. 1995).
Benson's parole is scheduled to end on July 30, 1997. In return for early release from prison, Benson agreed to certain parole conditions, including that he (1) would remain within the limits of the Northern District of Illinois and not leave the jurisdiction without the permission of his parole officer; (2) would not violate any law; (3) would not associate with persons engaged in criminal activity; (4) would submit a complete and truthful monthly report as required by his parole officer; and (5) would make a diligent effort to satisfy the court's assessment of the costs of his prosecution and, upon request, would provide financial information relevant to the payment of the assessment.

 [*1131]  Shortly after being paroled, Benson requested Morton's permission to travel to California to speak on the invalidity of the sixteenth amendment. Morton denied permission because Benson had failed to begin repaying his assessment of costs and Morton expected Benson to advise or encourage people to violate federal income tax laws under the premise [**4]  that the sixteenth amendment, which established the federal income tax, was invalid. Benson objected to Morton's denial of permission to travel, but the United States Parole Commission affirmed the denial.

Benson also failed to complete monthly supervision reports required by Morton as a condition of Benson's parole. While he submitted partially completed reports, Benson failed to provide all of the required information regarding his finances. Benson contended that he had no obligation to disclose financial information such as monthly income and expenses, assets, and purchases. Benson also refused to disclose the sources of money that he used to reduce his assessment of costs, stating that the money was anonymously donated. Benson also denied that he was a parolee, stating that he signed the certificate of parole under duress.

Nonetheless, on November 9, 1995, Morton approved Benson's request to travel throughout the United States for work as long as Benson adhered to his parole conditions. Morton subsequently approved other travel requests by Benson.

In November 1996, Benson filed this civil rights lawsuit against Morton in his individual capacity, the United States, and several [**5]  other individuals. In Count I, which attempts to state claims under Bivens v. Six Unknown Agents of Federal Bureau of Narcotics, 403 U.S. 388, 91 S. Ct. 1999, 29 L. Ed. 2d 619 (1971), Benson alleges that Morton violated Benson's first amendment rights by threatening him with incarceration if he spoke out against the sixteenth amendment or traveled beyond the Northern District of Illinois to give speeches regarded the sixteenth amendment. n5 In Count II, Benson alleges that Morton engaged in three conspiracies under 42 U.S.C. §  1985: to release grand jury materials illegally in an attempt to prejudice the jury against Benson; knowingly and falsely to represent to the trial judge that Benson had more time to serve on his original four-year sentence; and knowingly and falsely to deny Benson his right to travel and speak out on matters of federal corruption by threatening Benson with incarceration. Benson also alleges that the United States is liable for the acts of Morton, its employee, under Bivens and section 1985. Benson seeks compensatory and punitive damages and attorneys fees on each count.

n5 Despite what Count I alleges, the parties' 12(M) and 12(N) statements establish that Morton did not prevent Benson from speaking out about the sixteenth amendment or federal tax laws, but only from traveling outside of the Northern District of Illinois to do so.

 [**6]  

Morton and the United States now move for summary judgment on Benson's entire cause of action.

II. DISCUSSION
A. Individual defendants other than Morton
On May 21, 1997, the court granted the United States' oral motion to dismiss defendants Joan Bainbridge Safford and Ann Marie Klaprat as parties defendant pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 4(m), and dismissed those defendants from Benson's lawsuit.

In addition, claims against unknown persons, such as the "Unknown conspirators John Doe 1, 2, 3, etc." named by Benson, are "meaningless and uncompensable." Collier v. Rodriguez, 1996 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 13719, No. 96 C 0023, 1996 WL 535326, *4 (N.D. Ill. Sept. 18, 1996); see also Copeland v. Northwestern Memorial Hosp., 964 F. Supp. 1225, 1234 (N.D. Ill. 1997). Benson failed to identify, sue, or serve any named defendants in place of the unknown defendants. Accordingly, the court now dismisses the "Unknown conspirators John Doe 1, 2, 3, etc." as parties defendant.

Consequently, only Morton and the United States remain as defendants, and the motion for summary judgment is only as to those two defendants.

 [*1132]  B. Standard for deciding a motion for summary judgment [**7]  

[HN1] A motion for summary judgment must be granted if "the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." FED. R. CIV. P. 56(c). The burden is on the moving party to show that no genuine issues of material fact exist.  Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 256, 106 S. Ct. 2505, 2514, 91 L. Ed. 2d 202 (1986); Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 322, 106 S. Ct. 2548, 2553, 91 L. Ed. 2d 265 (1986).
Once the moving party presents a prima facie showing that he is entitled to judgment as a matter of law, the party opposing the motion may not rest upon the mere allegations or denials in his pleadings but must set forth specific facts showing that a genuine issue for trial exists.  Anderson, 477 U.S. at 256-57, 106 S. Ct. at 2514; Celotex, 477 U.S. at 324, 106 S. Ct. at 2553; Schroeder v. Lufthansa German Airlines, 875 F.2d 613, 620 (7th Cir. 1989). All reasonable inferences must be viewed in favor of the non-moving party.  Holland v. Jefferson Nat'l Life Ins.  [**8]   Co., 883 F.2d 1307, 1312 (7th Cir. 1989).
C. Count I as to Morton
Morton contends that summary judgment in his favor and against Benson on Count I is warranted for three reasons: Morton is entitled to absolute immunity; Morton is entitled to qualified immunity; and Benson's allegations are premature under Heck v. Humphrey, 512 U.S. 477, 114 S. Ct. 2364, 129 L. Ed. 2d 383 (1994).
1. Absolute immunity
Morton first contends that he is entitled to absolute immunity because he was performing a judicial function when he decided to deny Benson's requests to travel outside of the Northern District of Illinois.

The Supreme Court has granted absolute immunity to judges in the performance of their judicial duties.  Hulsey v. Owens, 63 F.3d 354, 356 (5th Cir. 1995) (citing Nixon v. Fitzgerald, 457 U.S. 731, 745, 102 S. Ct. 2690, 2699, 73 L. Ed. 2d 349 (1982)). [HN2] Whether other officials also are entitled to absolute immunity depends on "'"the nature of the function performed, not the identity of the actor who performed it."'" Walrath v. United States, 35 F.3d 277, 280-81 (7th Cir. 1994) (quoting Buckley v. Fitzsimmons, 509 U.S. 259, 269, 113 S. Ct. 2606,  [**9]  2613, 125 L. Ed. 2d 209 (1993) (quoting Forrester v. White, 484 U.S. 219, 229, 108 S. Ct. 538, 545, 98 L. Ed. 2d 555 (1988))).
Thus, officials whose responsibilities are "functionally comparable" or "closely analogous" to the adjudicative functions of judges, or are "'intimately associated' with the judicial process itself," are entitled to absolute immunity for acts arising out of their adjudicative responsibilities.  Hulsey, 63 F.3d at 356 (citing Butz v. Economou, 438 U.S. 478, 513-14, 98 S. Ct. 2894, 2914-15, 57 L. Ed. 2d 895 (1978)); Walrath, 35 F.3d at 281 (citing Buckley, 509 U.S. at 270-71, 113 S. Ct. at 2614-15; Butz, 438 U.S. at 511-15, 98 S. Ct. at 2913-15; Imbler v. Pachtman, 424 U.S. 409, 430, 96 S. Ct. 984, 994, 47 L. Ed. 2d 128 (1976)). However, purely administrative decisions are not regarded as judicial acts, and therefore are not shielded from review by absolute immunity. See Thompson v. Duke, 882 F.2d 1180, 1182-83 (7th Cir. 1989) (citing Forrester, 484 U.S. at 227-28, 108 S. Ct. at 544), cert. denied, 495 U.S. 929, 110 S. Ct. 2167, 109 L. Ed. 2d 496 (1990).
Most federal courts have extended absolute immunity under the foregoing [**10]  principles to parole board members for their decisions to grant, deny, or revoke parole. See, e.g., Walrath, 35 F.3d at 281 (collecting cases). The courts have found that parole board members, in deciding to grant, deny, or revoke parole, "'act in a quasi-judicial capacity, as an arm of the sentencing judge.'" Id. (quoting Sellars v. Procunier, 641 F.2d 1295, 1301-02 (9th Cir.), cert. denied, 454 U.S. 1102, 102 S. Ct. 678, 70 L. Ed. 2d 644 (1981)).
The Seventh Circuit has gone so far as to say that parole board members, whenever they carry out their official responsibilities, always are functionally comparable to judges, and therefore always are absolutely  [*1133]  immune from suit arising out of their official acts. See Wilson v. Kelkhoff, 86 F.3d 1438, 1444 (7th Cir. 1996); Walker v. Prisoner Review Board, 769 F.2d 396, 398 (7th Cir. 1985), cert. denied, 474 U.S. 1065, 106 S. Ct. 817 (1986). However, the Seventh Circuit has not expressly applied this broad conclusion to parole officers who are not parole board or commission members. Rather, it has recognized that parole officials who are not parole board members are entitled to absolute immunity only "under circumstances [**11]  where they perform acts with prosecutorial or judicial analogs." Wilson, 86 F.3d at 1444 (citing Walrath, 35 F.3d at 282). See also Thompson, 882 F.2d at 1183 (stating that the Supreme Court made clear in Forrester that courts should recognize a difference between purely administrative activities and those that are part of the judicial process). Thus, the question here is whether Morton, in denying permission to Benson to travel outside of the Northern District of Illinois, was acting more like an administrator or a judge.

Several federal courts have held that a parole official is entitled to absolute immunity for the imposition of parole conditions. See, e.g., Anderson v. Boyd, 714 F.2d 906, 909 (9th Cir. 1983) (citing Morrissey v. Brewer, 408 U.S. 471, 477-78, 92 S. Ct. 2593, 2598-99, 33 L. Ed. 2d 484 (1972)); Stewart v. Smallwood, 1993 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 3162, No. 92 Civ. 4043 (SS), 1993 WL 77381, *1 (S.D.N.Y. March 15, 1993) (citations omitted)). This is so because "the imposition of parole conditions is an integral part of a decision to grant parole." Anderson, 714 F.2d at 909 (citing Morrissey, 408 U.S. at 478, 92 S. Ct. at 2598-99). [HN3] "'The essence of parole is the release [**12]  from prison, before the completion of sentence, on the condition that the prisoner abide by certain rules during the balance of the sentence.'" Anderson, 714 F.2d at 909 (citing Morrissey, 408 U.S. at 477, 92 S. Ct. at 2598). Thus, "it follows that [parole officials] cannot be held liable for conduct relating to the imposition of parole conditions." Anderson, 714 F.2d at 909.
In this case, Morton did not himself impose parole conditions on Benson. However, he was charged with ensuring that Benson complied with his parole conditions, and was given the authority to decide whether to grant Benson exemptions from the travel restrictions that were part of his parole conditions. Thus, Morton had the responsibility, if not to impose parole conditions on Benson, then to enforce parole conditions on Benson.

As the Seventh Circuit has noted, parole officials' actions that are "functionally comparable to those of the judiciary 'include not only the actual decision to [grant, deny, or revoke] parole, but also the activities that are part and parcel of the decision process.'" Walker, 769 F.2d at 398 (quoting Trotter v. Klincar, 748 F.2d 1177, 1182 (7th Cir. 1984). Morton's [**13]  activities in enforcing the terms of Benson's parole are akin to a court's actions in enforcing an order; that is, they are "functionally comparable" to judicial actions.

In addition, Morton was given express authority to make discretionary determinations about whether or not Benson should be permitted to travel outside of the Northern District of Illinois. In making such determinations, Morton was not acting simply as an administrator. Rather, he was acting as would a judge in adjudicating a specific case or controversy. See United States ex rel. Powell v. Irving, 684 F.2d 494, 496 (7th Cir. 1982) (quoting Sellars, 641 F.2d at 1303) ("'the daily task of both judges and parole board officials is the adjudication of specific cases and controversies'"). That is, Morton, in deciding whether to grant permission to Benson to travel, had a duty similar to that of judges: "'to render impartial decisions in cases and controversies that excite strong feelings because the litigant's liberty is at stake.'" Id. Thus, Morton and judges "'face the same risk of constant unfounded suits by those disappointed by [their] decisions,'" id., which is the rationale for making them immune [**14]  from such suits.

Because Morton bore quasi-judicial responsibilities in deciding whether or not to allow Benson a reprieve from the travel restrictions imposed on him as conditions of parole and in enforcing the parole conditions, he should be accorded the same protection that is accorded judges and parole board members. Consequently, the court finds that Morton is entitled to absolute immunity for his actions in enforcing the terms of Benson's parole, including his decision to  [*1134]  deny Benson permission to travel outside of the Northern District of Illinois.

Because Morton is absolutely immune from suit based on his decision to deny Benson relief from the travel restrictions imposed by the conditions of Benson's parole, he deserves summary judgment in his favor on Count I. Accordingly, the court grants Morton's motion for summary judgment on Count I.

2. Qualified immunity
While the court's conclusion that Morton is entitled to absolute immunity from Benson's lawsuit disposes of Benson's cause of action against Morton, the court nonetheless will address Morton's qualified immunity argument, since it finds that Morton also is entitled to qualified immunity.

[HN4] "'Government officials [**15]  performing discretionary functions generally are shielded from liability for civil damages insofar as their conduct does not violate clearly established statutory or constitutional rights of which a reasonable person would have known.'" Wilson, 86 F.3d at 1446 (quoting Harlow v. Fitzgerald, 457 U.S. 800, 818, 102 S. Ct. 2727, 2738, 73 L. Ed. 2d 396 (1982)). The Seventh Circuit has developed a two-part qualified immunity inquiry: "'"(1) does the alleged conduct set out a constitutional violation? and (2) were the constitutional standards clearly established at the time in question?"'" Hill v. Shelander, 992 F.2d 714, 717 (7th Cir. 1993) (quoting Rakovich v. Wade, 850 F.2d 1180, 1210 (7th Cir.) (en banc) (quoting Wade v. Hegner, 804 F.2d 67, 70 (7th Cir. 1986)), cert. denied, 488 U.S. 968, 109 S. Ct. 497, 102 L. Ed. 2d 534 (1988)).
[HN5] Parole conditions that restrict a parolee's liberty are constitutionally permissible. Parolees "'do not enjoy "the absolute liberty to which every citizen is entitled, but only [a] conditional liberty properly dependent on observance of special parole restrictions."'" Walrath v. United States, 830 F. Supp. 444, 446 (N.D.  [**16]  Ill. 1993) (quoting United States v. Thomas, 729 F.2d 120, 123 (2d Cir. 1984) (quoting Morrissey, 408 U.S. at 480, 92 S. Ct. at 2600), cert. denied, 469 U.S. 846, 105 S. Ct. 158, 83 L. Ed. 2d 95 (1994)). See also 18 U.S.C. §  4209 (authorizing the United States Parole Commission to impose conditions on its charges).

Consequently, a parole condition that restricts the parolee's right to travel outside of a particular jurisdiction also is constitutionally permissible. See Alonzo v. Rozanski, 808 F.2d 637, 637-38 (7th Cir. 1986) (upholding parole condition that required parolee to obtain permission of probation service before leaving the Northern District of Illinois). In Alonzo, the Seventh Circuit found that a parolee gave up his liberty interest in choosing his place of abode when he was convicted of a crime. The court stated:

Alonzo committed crimes, and the punishment for these crimes includes stripping him of control over where he shall live. While in prison, Alonzo had no say at all about where he could go. A prisoner has neither a liberty nor a property interest in the place of his confinement. .... Alonzo's control of abode was extinguished, for [**17]  the entire term of his sentence, by the judgment of conviction. Some choice was restored to Alonzo when he was paroled, but Alonzo received no more than statutes and binding regulations gave him. How much freedom Alonzo received is a question of positive rather than natural law. Positive law allows a parolee to move without restraint in the district of his release, unless the conditions attached to his parole enlarge or restrict that liberty.

 Alonzo, 808 F.2d at 638 (citations omitted).

Benson is in the same boat as Alonzo. When he was convicted and incarcerated, Benson gave up a substantial amount of his freedom, including, obviously, his freedom to live or travel outside of the prison walls. Now that he is paroled, Benson has been restored some freedom, but still is restricted by the terms of his parole from traveling outside of the Northern District of Illinois without his parole officer's permission. As in Alonzo, the restriction on traveling outside of this jurisdiction is an acceptable parole condition. Thus, Morton violated no constitutional right of Benson by refusing him permission to travel outside of this judicial district for speaking engagements.

 [*1135]  Benson [**18]  claims, however, that Morton also violated his first amendment rights by not allowing him to speak out against the sixteenth amendment. Benson mischaracterizes Morton's actions. Morton never prohibited Benson from speaking out against the sixteenth amendment; Morton simply denied Benson permission to leave the Northern District of Illinois to do so. Even if one reason for the denial of permission to travel was the subject matter of Benson's speeches, the other reason was that Benson was not complying with the conditions of his parole. In any event, Morton effectively allowed Benson to speak out against the sixteenth amendment, as long as his speeches took place in the Northern District of Illinois.

The foregoing analysis disposes of both prongs of the qualified immunity test: Morton's conduct as described by Benson does not constitute a constitutional violation, since the constitutional standards in existence at the time in question clearly established that Morton could deny Benson permission to travel outside of the Northern District of Illinois as a valid parole condition.

Accordingly, Morton is entitled to qualified immunity for his decision denying Benson permission to travel [**19]  outside of the Northern District of Illinois, and therefore is entitled to summary judgment in his favor and against Benson on Count I.

3. Heck v. Humphrey
Morton contends that Benson's allegations against Morton are barred by Heck v. Humphrey, which holds that [HN6] in order to recover damages for an allegedly "unconstitutional conviction or imprisonment, or for other harm caused by actions whose unlawfulness would render a conviction or sentence invalid," a plaintiff first must prove that the conviction or sentence has been invalidated.  Heck v. Humphrey, 512 U.S. 477, 486-87, 114 S. Ct. 2364, 2372, 129 L. Ed. 2d 383 (1994). Morton contends that before this court can entertain Benson's claim for damages arising out of his allegedly unconstitutional detention in the Northern District of Illinois, Benson must prove that the allegedly unconstitutional parole condition requiring him to remain within the Northern District of Illinois was invalidated.

The court declines to address the merits of Morton's Heck argument because it already has decided to grant summary judgment in favor of Morton and against Benson on immunity grounds.

D. Count II as to Morton  [**20]  

Morton contends that summary judgment in his favor is warranted on Count II, which purports to allege a claim under 42 U.S.C. §  1985, because federal actors acting under color of federal law are not subject to suit under section 1985. Morton is correct that he deserves summary judgment on Count II, but he is mistaken about the reason.

Actions of the federal government and its officials are beyond the purview of section 1983, which applies only to state actors acting under color of state law. See District of Columbia v. Carter, 409 U.S. 418, 423-25, 93 S. Ct. 602, 605-07, 34 L. Ed. 2d 613 (1972). Section 1985 does not have the same state action requirement. Thus, federal officials can be sued in their personal capacities under section 1985. See, e.g., Kaufmann v. United States, 840 F. Supp. 641, 648 (E.D. Wisc. 1993) (citations omitted). n6

n6 Federal officials cannot be sued in their official capacities under section 1985, though, because a suit against a federal official in his official capacity is a suit against the United States, Del Raine v. Carlson, 826 F.2d 698, 703 (7th Cir. 1987) (citing Kentucky v. Graham, 473 U.S. 159, 165-67, 105 S. Ct. 3099, 3105-06, 87 L. Ed. 2d 114 (1985)), and the United States cannot be sued under section 1985. See section II.E. below.

 [**21]  

However, [HN7] section 1985 requires that the plaintiff allege that defendants acted with racial or other class-based animus in conspiring to deprive the plaintiff of his civil rights. See United Brotherhood of Carpenters & Joiners, Local 1610 v. Scott, 463 U.S. 825, 834-37, 103 S. Ct. 3352, 3359-60, 77 L. Ed. 2d 1049 (1983); Griffin v. Breckenridge, 403 U.S. 88, 102-03, 91 S. Ct. 1790, 1798-99, 29 L. Ed. 2d 338 (1971). n7 Benson has utterly  [*1136]  failed to do so. He has not so much as hinted at a racial or other class-based motivation on the part of Morton. In fact, the allegations of Benson's complaint and the parties' Local Rule 12(M) and 12(N) statements make clear that racial or other class-based animus was not the motivating force behind Morton's actions.

n7 Section 1985(2), which prohibits conspiracies to intimidate witnesses in federal court, does not require a racial or other class-based motivation.  Kush v. Rutledge, 460 U.S. 719, 726-27, 103 S. Ct. 1483, 1488, 75 L. Ed. 2d 413 (1983). Benson's claim does not arise under section 1985(2).

 [**22]  

Accordingly, the court grants summary judgment in favor of Morton on Count II.

E. Counts I and II as to the United States
The United States contends that it is not subject to a Bivens lawsuit, and therefore that it deserves summary judgment on Count I. The court agrees. The Supreme Court has unequivocally held that [HN8] Bivens actions, which apply only to individuals, cannot be brought against the federal government.  Federal Deposit Ins. Corp. v. Meyer, 510 U.S. 471, 483-486, 114 S. Ct. 996, 1004-06, 127 L. Ed. 2d 308 (1994).
Similarly, the United States is not subject to suit under section 1985. The United States may not be sued without its consent, Ickes v. Fox, 300 U.S. 82, 96, 57 S. Ct. 412, 417, 81 L. Ed. 525 (1937), and the United States has not consented to be sued under the civil rights statutes, including section 1985. See Unimex, Inc. v. United States Dep't of Housing and Urban Dev., 594 F.2d 1060, 1061 (5th Cir. 1979) (citations omitted).

Moreover, Benson's claims against the United States were only derivative of his claims against Morton. Thus, even if the United States could be sued in a Bivens action or under section 1985, since Benson [**23]  has no valid claims against Morton, he has no valid claims against the United States.

Accordingly, the court grants summary judgment in favor of the United States and against Benson on Count I, Benson's Bivens claim, and Count II, his section 1985 claim.

III. CONCLUSION
For the foregoing reasons, the court dismisses "Unknown conspirators John Doe 1,2,3, etc." as parties defendant; grants defendants United States of America and Tony Morton's motion for summary judgment; and enters judgment on Counts I and II against plaintiff William J. Benson and in favor of defendants United States and Morton.

Date: JUL 07 1997

JAMES H. ALESIA

United States District Judge 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA v. WILLIAM J. BENSON, Defendant 
No. 87 CR 278 
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS, EASTERN DIVISION 
1991 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 2178 
January 18, 1991 
JUDGES:

 [*1]  

Paul E. Plunkett, United States District Judge.  

OPINIONBY:

PLUNKETT 

OPINION:

MEMORANDUM OPINION AND ORDER

Defendant William J. Benson ("Benson") has filed what is essentially a motion to reconsider, in light of the United States Supreme Court's recent decision in United States v. Cheek, No. 89-658, 59 U.S.L.W. 4049 (January 8, 1991), our earlier denial of his motion for bail pending appeal. The standard we are to apply is well settled. In order to obtain bail pending appeal Benson must demonstrate, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §  3143(b)(2), that his appeal "is not for purpose of delay and raises a substantial question of law or fact likely to result in reversal or an order for a new trial." United States v. Shoffner, 791 F.2d 586, 588 (7th Cir. 1986). A "substantial question" is one that is a close question or one that could very well be decided the other way.  Shoffner, 791 F.2d at 589 (citing United States v. Thompson, 787 F.2d 1084, 1085 (7th Cir. 1985). Benson argues that he is entitled to bail pending appeal because he has raised (or he will raise if allowed by the Seventh Circuit) a substantial issue - that under Cheek he is entitled to a new trial.

We find that our original decision [*2]  to deny bail pending appeal was correct and nothing in the Cheek decision leads us to conclude that our prior ruling need be reconsidered or modified. The Supreme Court was quite explicit in Cheek. Certain issues must go to the jury, and certain issues must not. In Part III A of the Cheek opinion, the Court held that a good faith misunderstanding of the law or a good faith belief that one is not violating the law negates willfulness, whether or not the claimed belief or misunderstanding is objectively reasonable. Part III A refers only to "state of mind" defenses - that is the specific intent (wilfulness) element of 26 U.S.C. § §  7201 and 7203. The Court, construing prior decisions in criminal tax cases, noted that the Government, in order to prove willfulness, must prove that the law imposed a duty on the defendant, that the defendant knew of this duty, and that he voluntarily and intentionally violated that duty. The Court held:

We thus disagree with the Court of Appeals' requirement that a claimed good-faith belief must be objectively reasonable if it is to be considered as possibly negating the Government's evidence purporting to show a defendant's awareness [*3]  of the legal duty at issue. Knowledge and belief are characteristically questions for the factfinder, in this case the jury. Characterizing a particular belief as not objectively reasonable transforms the inquiry into a legal one and would prevent the jury from considering it.

***

It was therefore error to instruct the jury to disregard evidence of Cheek's understanding that, within the meaning of the tax laws, he was not a person required to file a return or pay income taxes and that wages are not taxable income, as incredible as such misunderstandings of and beliefs about the law might be.

 59 U.S.L.W. at 4052-4053 (emphasis added). Under Part III A of the Cheek opinion, a defendant's asserted beliefs of the meaning of the Internal Revenue Code must go to the jury so that the jury can decide if the Government has met its burden of proving that the defendant acted wilfully.

However, not all of a defendant's beliefs must, or even should, go to the jury. Part III B of the Cheek opinion shifts gears and tells us quite explicitly that:

[A] defendant's views about the validity of the tax statutes are irrelevant to the issue of willfulness,  [*4]  need not be heard by the jury, and if they are, an instruction to disregard them would be proper. For this purpose, it makes no difference whether the claims of invalidity are frivolous or have substance. It was therefore not error for the District Judge to instruct the jury not to consider Cheek's claims that the tax laws were unconstitutional.

 59 U.S.L.W. at 4053 (emphasis added). The Court's rationale was that, unlike a defendant's beliefs and understandings of the meaning of the tax laws, beliefs and understandings of the validity of those laws "reveal full knowledge of the provisions at issue." Id.

With that background, we turn to Benson's argument that, because of Cheek, he now has a substantial issue on appeal. We find that whatever Benson may argue in the Seventh Circuit, Cheek will be of no help to him. Benson's main argument is that under Cheek he should have been allowed to argue to the jury a series of defenses all based on the purported invalidity of the Sixteenth Amendment. We refused to conduct an evidentiary hearing on this issue and we refused to let defendant present any Sixteenth Amendment-based defenses to the jury. However, Cheek changes none of  [*5]  that. In fact, Part III B of Cheek makes it clear that no Sixteenth Amendment argument, whether grounded in actual invalidity or believed invalidity, may go to the jury. We find it clear that Cheek gives defendant no substantial issues on appeal that flow, in any way, from arguments of the invalidity of the Sixteenth Amendment.

We now turn to arguments based on Part III A of Cheek. Under Part III A, we must let a jury decide whether or not a taxpayer wilfully violated the Internal Revenue Code. We must therefore let the jury pass on a defendant's asserted beliefs that "within the meaning of the Internal Revenue Code," 59 U.S.L.W. at 4053, he owed no tax. Benson did make such an argument to the jury. Benson argued to the jury that he believed certain monies he received, specifically payments from an insurance company and Social Security disability benefits, were not taxable under the Internal Revenue Code. Those defenses, directed at the willfulness element, were considered (and rejected) by the jury. Benson does not argue today (or in the Seventh Circuit) that he was prevented from presenting to the jury any defenses based on his beliefs and understandings of the meaning [*6]  of the tax laws. Thus, Part III A of Cheek offers Benson no substantial issues on appeal.

Conclusion

For the reasons set out above, we find that the Supreme Court's recent opinion in United States v. Cheek offers defendant Benson no substantial issues on appeal as defined in 18 U.S.C. §  3143(b)(2). Defendant's renewed motion for bail pending appeal is denied.  
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PLUNKETT 

OPINION:

MEMORANDUM OPINION AND ORDER

PAUL E. PLUNKETT, UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE

Defendant William J. Benson has filed five post-trial motions in this case. They are as follows: (1) a motion to dismiss the indictments and vacate the convictions for lack of subject matter jurisdiction; (2) a motion to dismiss or, in the alternative, a motion for a new trial; (3) a motion to arrest the judgement; (4) a motion to vacate the conviction on Count II as being a lesser included offense of Count III; and (5) a motion for a new trial for failure of the government to comply with 26 U.S.C. §  6103(h)(5). For the following reasons, all of defendant's motions are denied.

1. Motion to Dismiss the Indictments and Vacate the Convictions for Lack of Subject Matter Jurisdiction.

Defendant argues that this court lacks subject matter jurisdiction over this case because of the failure of the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) to comply with certain provisions of the Administrative Procedure Act (APA) with respect to alleged publication requirements regarding its organizational structure, IRS Form 1040, and the instructions pertaining to Form 1040. The defendant was convicted for willfully failing [*2]  to file income tax returns for the years 1980 and 1981 and with willfully attempting to evade the ascertainment of his tax liability for the year 1981. The crux of defendant's argument is that his conviction must necessarily be based upon his failure to file IRS Form 1040, and that Form 1040 (the form that all taxpayers must file with the IRS) and its accompanying instructions was not published by the IRS or the Department of the Treasury in the Federal Register as defendant says is required under 5 U.S.C. §  552. Defendant claims that this "administrative lapse" divests this court of its ability to enforce the criminal tax provisions of Title 26.

We disagree. Defendant has misstated the scope and effect of the Administrative Procedure Act. The purpose of the APA is to "set up procedures which must be followed in order for agency rulings to be given force of law." Notch v. United States, 212 F.2d 280, 283 (9th Cir. 1954) (emphasis added). Defendant was not charged with (and was not convicted of) a regulatory violation. He was charged with and convicted of tax evasion under §  7201 of Title 26, a congressionally enacted statutory offense. Defendant cites no cases to support his [*3]  contention that the APA can be used to bar criminal prosecutions for statutory offenses set out under Title 26. The cases the defendant relies upon deal with criminal penalties which arise directly from the violation of regulations. See United States v. $ 200,000 in U.S. Currency, 580 F.Supp. 866 (S.D. Fla. 1984); United States v. Reinis, 794 F.2d 506 (9th Cir. 1986) (both cases address prosecutions brought under money-laundering statutes which specifically left regulation of the offenses in question to the Secretary of the Treasury). When criminal penalties arise directly from the violation of regulations, such regulations must pass muster under the APA. We find that language of 26 U.S.C. §  7201 plain. Defendant was not charged with a regulatory violation, but with the statutory crime of willful tax evasion. n1 We clearly have subject matter jurisdiction.

n1 A similar claim was rejected in Hudgins v. I.R.S., 1985 WL 543 (D.D.C. 1985) (Westlaw, Tax Library). The plaintiff in Hudgins sought injunctive relief against assessment of a tax, claiming that the IRS Form Notice 560 was invalid because it was not published in the Federal Register. The court dismissed the claim stating that no law required publication of the forms, and the Federal Register lists the places where the forms may be obtained, "which is all the publication of the notice required by 5 U.S.C. §  552(a)(1)(C)." 1985 WL 534. See also Oakes v. I.R.S., 1987 WL 10227 (D.D.C. 1987) (Westlaw, Tax Library).

 [*4]  

2. Motion to Dismiss or, in the Alternative, Motion for a New Trial.

Defendant also moves for the dismissal of this case as a sanction for prosecutorial misconduct or, in the alternative, for a new trial. Defendant's motion is denied.

A. Prosecutorial Misconduct.

Defendant claims prosecutorial misconduct on three grounds: first, the prosecutors failed to correct false testimony; second, that the prosecutors improperly cross examined the defendant; and third, that the prosecutors gave improper rebuttal argument. We disagree that the prosecutors violated their duty to correct false testimony. If a prosecutor presents testimony that the prosecutor knows to be false, then that prosecutor has violated the due process rights of the defendant. See Alcorta v. Texas, 355 U.S. 28, 31 (1957); Ross v. Heyne, 638 F.2d 979, 985 (7th Cir. 1980). Defendant claims that four witnesses -- Minardi, Dunn, Rhoades, and Petit, testified falsely. Maybe they did, maybe they didn't. Conflicting testimony is present in virtually every case that goes to trial. That does not mean that in every case on party is presenting testimony they know to be false. The prosecutors let each of those four [*5]  witnesses tell their story on direct examination. The defendant's attorney's had ample opportunity to cross-examine each witness and made proficient use of that opportunity. Defendant pointed out inconsistencies where he could prove they existed. The jury evaluated all of the testimony and convicted the defendant. The government did nothing wrong by letting these witnesses testify as they did in this case.

In addition, there was nothing improper about the cross-examination of the defendant. The prosecutor was cross-examining a hostile witness, and need not use kid gloves. There was nothing close to the bullying and arguing that was found improper in Berger v. United States, 295 U.S. 78, 84 (1935). The defendant had every opportunity to "correct" (on redirect) what he perceives to be misimpressions received by the jury as a result of the cross-examination. There was no prosecutorial misconduct. Whenever we felt the behavior of the prosecutors was in any way improper, we admonished the prosecutor in front of the jury and told the jury to disregard the remark where appropriate.

We also find there to be nothing improper about the rebuttal argument. During rebuttal, the prosecutor  [*6]  referred only to evidence he had elicited at trial and evidence elicited by the defense. The only questionable element to the rebuttal concerned the prosecutor's reference to defendant's medical condition. In response, we admonished the jury to disregard any statements made during the rebuttal argument concerning the state of the evidence about defendant's current medical condition. In our view that cured any defect arising from those comments. Any other comments by the prosecutor on rebuttal were proper. In sum, there was no prosecutorial misconduct in this case which justifies any post-trial relief.

B. Verdict Against Weight of Evidence.

Defendant's alternative motion is for a new trial on the grounds that the verdict was against the weight of the evidence. The defendant argues that we should sit as a "thirteenth juror" in this case to evaluate witness credibility. We disagree, and so has the Seventh Circuit: "[A]bsent exceptional circumstances, issues of witness credibility are to be decided by the jury, not the trial judge." United States v. Kuzniar, 881 F.2d 466, 470 (7th Cir. 1989). In Kuzniar, the Seventh Circuit reversed a district court's decision to overturn the [*7]  jury's verdict, noting that a trial court's ability to overturn a jury's determination is extremely limited and "can be invoked only where the testimony contradicts indisputable physical facts or laws." Id. at 471. The defendant today presents us with his version of the "proper" way to analyze all of the testimony (and credibility) in the trial. However, that is the jury's function, and the jury disagreed with defendant's analysis and agreed with the government's. There is nothing exceptional in this case which would justify our overturning of the jury verdict in this case. Given all of the testimony in this case, the jury's verdict was at least reasonable.

3. Motion to Arrest Judgement.

Here defendant argues that we should arrest the judgement of his conviction on all counts because the indictments do not charge an offense. Defendant asserts that the indictment failed to set forth the specific provision of Title 26 that imposed a tax on the defendant and, in addition, that Count II was duplicitous because it did not provide notice of the specifics of the fraud against he Social Security Administration (SSA).

We disagree. First, we find that the reference in the indictment [*8]  to Sections 7201 and 7203 do charge and state an offense. n2 Second, Count II is not duplicitous because the defendant was not charged with committing a fraud against the SSA. True, some of the taxes which defendant evaded under Count II arose because defendant defrauded the SSA. However, that fact alone does not mean that Count II states two separate legal crimes. Count II state only one crime - failure to file. Defendant's motion is denied.

n2 We disagree with defendant that United States v. Menk, 260 F.Supp. 784 (S.D. Ind. 1966) holds otherwise - it does not. It held that the indictment in front of it was valid. To the extent it commented on other potential indictments not before the court it was dicta. Either way, we disagree with defendant's view of Menk. Even if we did agree with defendant's view of what Menk's holding was, we would then disagree with Menk and still hold the indictment states and offense.

4. Defendant's Motion to Vacate Conviction on Count II as a Lesser Included Offense of Count III.

Defendant argues that his convictions on both Counts II and III violate the double jeopardy clause of the Fifth Amendment because Count II (failure to file [*9]  a tax return for 1981 in violation of §  7203) constitutes a lesser included offense of Count III (tax evasion for 1981 in violation of §  7201). This precise argument has been considered at length by the Seventh Circuit and rejected in United States v. Foster, 789 F.2d 457, 460 (7th Cir. 1986). We are bound by Foster. Defendant presents no new argument, either legal or factual, to distinguish the applicability of Foster to his case. n3 The motion is denied.

n3 Defendant argues that Foster is in direct contradiction to the decision of the United States Supreme Court in Sansone v. United States, 380 U.S. 343, 347-50 (1965). While Sansone does talk generally about the "lesser included offense" standard, defendant presents us with the identical issue that the Seventh Circuit ruled on in Foster. We are persuaded that we are bound by Foster. It is for a court wiser than our own to determine whether or not the Seventh Circuit's decision in Foster violates a Supreme Court case. For today's purposes, we find that it does not.

5. Motion for New Trial for Failure of Government to Comply with the Provisions of 26 U.S.C. §  6103(h)(5).

In this motion,  [*10]  defendant argues that the government failed to comply with the provisions of 26 U.S.C. §  6103(h)(5) and our orders in connection with the disclosure of IRS information concerning audits or examinations of prospective jurors. We have previously ruled on this exact issue on the day we began the jury selection process, and we ruled that the IRS did comply with the statute by searching its records concerning the jury venire and by providing that information to the defense. There is nothing new in defendant's argument that we did not consider in our earlier ruling. The motion is denied.

Conclusion

For the above reasons, all of defendant's post-trial motions are denied.
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 [*466]  MEMORANDUM OPINION AND ORDER

 MARVIN E. ASPEN, District Judge:

Plaintiffs, William, Lorraine, Mark and Jerrald Benson brought this action under 42 U.S.C. §  1983 against defendants Robert Allphin, Robert Whitler, Daniel Lenckos, George Rummel, John Gallagher, Philip Mitchel, Michael Berry, Robert Motta, George Diaz, William Troller and various unknown others, all former officials or employees of the Illinois Department of Revenue.  William Benson, a former Investigator for the Department of Revenue, alleges in Count I of his complaint in 77 C 3712 that following his discharge from employment with the Department, defendants conspired to harass him in retaliation for his exercise of First Amendment rights in connection with his disclosure of particular improprieties in the collection of cigarette [**2]  taxes by Department of Revenue officials.  Lorraine, Mark and Jerrald Benson allege that they were also victimized by overt acts carried out by Diaz and Troller and various unknown defendants.  Plaintiffs seek declaratory relief and $14,000,000 in punitive damages.  William Benson alleges in Count II of his complaint in 77 C 3713 that he was fired from his position with the Department of Revenue without due process of law and in retaliation for his disclosures to other law enforcement agencies and the news media.  Benson seeks declaratory relief, reinstatement, restitution and punitive damages in Count II.

Presently before the Court are defendants' motions to strike certain allegations contained in Count I and for summary judgment on the balance of Count I.  Defendants have also moved for summary judgment on Count II of the complaint.  For the reasons discussed below, defendants' motion to strike and their motion for summary judgment on Count II will be denied.  Defendants' motion for summary judgment on Count I will be granted in part and denied in part.

I.  Defendants' Motion to Strike Certain Allegations of Count I in 77 C 3713

Defendants first seek to strike plaintiffs' allegations [**3]  that Allphin, Motta, Mitchel, Berry, Rummel, Gallagher, Diaz and Troller conspired to harass and punish William Benson for his disclosures concerning the Department of Revenue's alleged improprieties by falsely stigmatizing him publicly as a "confidential informant." n1 Defendants' motion is predicated on the general principle, established by the Supreme Court in Paul v. Davis, 424 U.S. 693, 708-710, 96 S. Ct. 1155, 47  [*467]  L. Ed. 2d 405 (1976), that defamation by a state official does not constitute an actionable claim under §  1983 unless it occurs in conjunction with the plaintiff's termination of employment.  In the present case, defendants argue that the defamation could not have occurred in conjunction with the termination of William Benson's employment because the defamation occurred several months after the termination. Accordingly, defendants contend, these allegations must be stricken as insufficient to state a claim for relief under §  1983.

n1 Defendants' alleged characterization of William Benson as a "confidential informant" is not so innocuous as to require us to strike this allegation as a matter of law.  "Stigmatizing" charges cognizable under §  1983 are not limited to charges of illegality, dishonesty or immorality.  It is sufficient simply that the charges alleged in the complaint call into question the plaintiff's "good name, reputation, honor, or integrity".  Wisconsin v. Constantineau, 400 U.S. 433, 437, 91 S. Ct. 507, 27 L. Ed. 2d 515 (1970); Quinn v. Syracuse Model Neighborhood Corp., 613 F.2d 438, 446 (2d Cir. 1980). Whether defendants' "confidential informant" charge falls within this category is a matter which can be resolved as a matter of law upon consideration of the specific circumstances under which the charge was delivered and the context of the statement containing the charge.  Accordingly, the parties are directed to submit cross motions for partial summary judgment and supporting briefs setting forth those circumstances bearing on the stigmatizing character of defendants' alleged "confidential informant" charge.  The motions with supporting briefs are due on or before July 30, 1982, and replies are due on or before August 9, 1982. For the purpose of considering the motion presently before us, we will assume that defendants' charge was stigmatizing.

 [**4]  

Defendants' argument is misconceived for several reasons.  First, the Supreme Court's decision in Paul v. Davis does not, as defendants suggest, establish that defamation rises to the level of an actionable claim under §  1983 only when accompanied by a termination of plaintiff's employment. n2 Rather, Paul established that because individuals do not normally enjoy a constitutionally cognizable liberty or property interest in their good name or reputation, 424 U.S. at 712, defamation by a state official acting under color of law does not, standing alone, rise to the level of a constitutional deprivation for purposes of §  1983. The stigma resulting from official defamation must itself result in a further deprivation of a right otherwise protected by the Bill of Rights or state law.  424 U.S. at 710-712. Accordingly, this Circuit and others have devised a "stigma-plus" standard against which to measure the sufficiency of a plaintiff's defamation claim under §  1983.  Moore v. Otero, 557 F.2d 435, 437 (5th Cir. 1977); Sullivan v. Brown, 544 F.2d 279, 283-84 (6th Cir. 1976); Colaizzi v. Walker, 542 F.2d 969, 973-74 (7th Cir. 1976), cert. denied, 430 U.S. 960, 51 [**5]  L. Ed. 2d 811, 97 S. Ct. 1610 (1977); Stretten v. Wadsworth Veterans Hospital, 537 F.2d 361, 365-66 (9th Cir. 1976). The "plus" required under this standard typically includes, but is not limited to, the termination of plaintiff's employment.

n2 As evidenced by Paul's approving references to Wisconsin v. Constantineau, supra, the Supreme Court did not intend to restrict civil rights claims resulting from official defamation to cases involving the termination of plaintiff's employment.  In Constantineau, the defamation resulted in the deprivation of plaintiff's right to purchase liquor in common with the rest of the community.  400 U.S. at 434-35. Constantineau had nothing whatever to do with the termination of the plaintiff's employment.

Contrary to defendants' characterization, Judge Kirkland's prior opinion in this matter does not establish that a §  1983 defamation claim must always be accompanied by a termination of plaintiff's employment.  The language to which defendants point in that opinion concerns the allegation in plaintiffs' prior complaint that Allphin called William Benson a "blackmailer" at a press conference in August, 1976.  Insofar as this prior allegation purported to state a claim under §  1983 simply due to the stigmatization of plaintiff's "good name, honor, and professional reputation", Plaintiff's Complaint, para. 49, Judge Kirkland properly dismissed the claim.  Judge Kirkland also concluded, however, that allegations concerning the harassment of William Benson as a result of his exercise of First Amendment rights did state a claim under §  1983. Benson v. Walker, 77 C 3713 (N.D. Ill. May 15, 1978).  Thus, to the extent the defamatory remarks of state officials were part of that harassment, these remarks are actionable under §  1983.

 [**6]  

In the present case, the "plus" associated with defendants' allegedly stigmatizing charge is the deprivation of William Benson's First Amendment right to disclose the improprieties of the Illinois Department of Revenue.  The deprivation alleged in the complaint results from defendants' retaliation against William Benson for the exercise of his First Amendment rights in the past as well as the continuing threat of future retaliations for future disclosures. An official act in retaliation for the exercise of a constitutionally protected right is actionable under §  1983, even if the act, when taken for a different reason, might otherwise have been proper.  Mount Healthy Board of Education v. Doyle, 429 U.S. 274, 283, 97 S. Ct. 568, 50 L. Ed. 2d 471 (1977); Buise v. Hudkins, 584 F.2d 223, 229-30 (7th Cir. 1978), cert. denied, 440 U.S. 916, 59 L. Ed. 2d 466, 99 S. Ct. 1234 (1979).
II.  Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment on Count I in 77 C 3713

Defendants seek summary judgment on those portions of Count I which  [*468]  allege that the conspiracy to harass plaintiffs was carried out, in part, by "unknown defendants" who committed various hostile acts against William,  [**7]  Jerrald, Mark and Lorraine Benson. n3 Although this case was filed five years ago and extensive discovery has taken place since that time, plaintiffs have failed to produce any evidence concerning either the identity of these unknown defendants or their connection to the named defendants. n4 While the non-moving party plaintiffs are entitled to all reasonable inferences in their favor on a motion for summary judgment, plaintiffs cannot create an issue of material fact through conjecture or speculation as to what evidence might be adduced at trial or what might be turned up by still further discovery.  Abiodun v. Martin Oil Service, Inc., 475 F.2d 142, 144 (7th Cir.), cert. denied, 414 U.S. 866, 38 L. Ed. 2d 86, 94 S. Ct. 57 (1973); Automotive Wholesalers of Illinois v. National Union Fire Insurance Company of Pittsburgh, 501 F. Supp. 1205, 1211-12 (N.D. Ill. 1980). See generally Fed.R.Civ.P. 56(e).  Without any evidence connecting these overt acts to either the named defendants or to the conspiracy alleged in the complaint, the mere occurrence of hostile acts against the Bensons does not support the finding of a conspiracy involving the named defendants. n5 Cf.  Hickey  [**8]   v. New Castle County, 428 F. Supp. 606, 611 (D. Del. 1977). Accordingly, the Court will grant summary judgment to the named defendants as to their liability under plaintiff's conspiracy allegations for acts perpetrated  [*469]  against the Bensons by unknown defendants. n6

n3 In their brief in support of this motion, defendants assert that the motion for summary judgment is directed against the "balance" of Count I, not including the "confidential information" allegations discussed supra. This does not appear to be an accurate reflection of the remaining claims contained in Count I.  In order to clarify what might otherwise appear to be a hopelessly confused record, the Court notes the following overt acts alleged as part of William Benson's conspiracy claim which have survived prior opinions in this case and are not challenged by defendants' motion for summary judgment:

(1) The First Amendment implications of defendants' "confidential informant" charges;

(2) The First Amendment implications of Allphin's charge that William Benson was a "blackmailer" (Although Judge Kirkland dismissed plaintiff's prior defamation claim arising from this charge, he did not preclude plaintiff from raising the charge in relation to William Benson's First Amendment claim);

(3) The First Amendment implications of Diaz and Troller's overt acts directed against William Benson directly (as opposed to those acts outwardly directed against William Benson's family).

(4) The First Amendment implications of Whitler and Lencko's purported decision to join and perpetrate the conspiracy against William Benson.

Judge Crowley's earlier opinion, reaffirmed by this Court, also found that the withdrawal of state support of William Benson's legal representation in various cases pending before Illinois state courts did not constitute an actionable claim under §  1983 because no defendant was in a position of authority to deprive William Benson of legal representation. This Court also noted that the claim was moot because the state has since provided William Benson with legal representation. Plaintiffs' effort to revive the withdrawal of legal representation as an overt act of the conspiracy does not cure the deficiency which resulted in Judge Crowley's dismissal.  Accordingly, the defendants' purported withdrawal of legal representation did not survive Judge Crowley's decision and no longer constitutes an actionable overt act of the conspiracy. [**9]  

n4 Indeed, in the course of plaintiffs' depositions, they have admitted that they have no evidence to link the harassment of the unknown defendants to any of the named defendants.  See e.g. Deposition of Lorraine Benson, May 18, 1981, pp. 20-21; Deposition of Mark Benson, May 18, 1981, pp. 51-61.  Defendants argue that these admissions are somehow incomplete because the depositions were never completed and because their own attorney did not have the opportunity to question them.  As a practical matter, however, no amount of future questioning of these plaintiffs could produce evidence which plaintiffs themselves admit does not exist.  Further, if Jerrald Benson had actual evidence of such a link to the named defendants, it was his burden to come forward with that evidence on this motion.

n5 Plaintiffs place great reliance on the possibility that proof of the overt acts might itself permit a jury to draw the inference that plaintiffs were victims of a conspiracy involving the named defendants.  Although evidence of a series of overt acts is often relevant in proving the existence of an agreement among the actors, those same acts, without more, cannot also support the inference that a conspiracy existed among non-actors. [**10]  

n6 Therefore, summary judgment will be granted as to the allegations contained in paragraph 19, a-f and q.  Plaintiff's Amended and Supplemental Complaint.  Should plaintiffs discover the identity of these unknown defendants in the future, they may be able to bring a tort action or a §  1983 action against those individuals at that time.  Moreover, if plaintiff discovers a link between the unknown defendants and officials of the Department of Revenue, plaintiffs are not foreclosed under our ruling from bringing a §  1983 action against those officials on a theory other than conspiracy.

Defendants also seek summary judgment on those portions of Count I which allege that defendants Diaz and Troller conducted surveillance of the Bensons including, presumably, Jerrald, Mark and Lorraine Benson as well as William Benson; assaulted Mark and Lorraine Benson; drew a service revolver and used vile language against Mark Benson; and issued and prosecuted a traffic citation against Mark Benson in bad faith.  Amended and Supplemental Complaint, para. 19, g, h, i, j, k, l, n, o, p.  Defendants argue that Jerrald,  [**11]  Mark and Lorraine Benson, even if the victims of defendants' conspiracy to harass William Benson, lack standing to sue derivatively for the alleged deprivation of William Benson's First Amendment rights.  Plaintiffs contend, on the other hand, that Diaz and Troller's conduct deprived Jerrald, Mark and Lorraine Benson of their own constitutional rights, independent of these rights allegedly deprived William Benson.  Specifically, Jerrald, Mark and Lorraine Benson allege that defendants' conduct deprived them of the "right to be free in their persons, house, papers, and effects from unreasonable searches and seizures." n7 Amended and Supplemental Complaint, para. 20.

n7 Jerrald, Mark and Lorraine Benson also allege that they have been deprived of the right to be free from unlawful conspiracies as the result of William Benson's exercise of First Amendment rights.  Amended and Supplemental Complaint, para. 21.  In addition to failing to allege a constitutional deprivation, this claim is clearly derivative to that advanced by William Benson.  It is well established that a party cannot raise a claim under §  1983 based on the alleged deprivation of another's constitutional rights. United States v. Raines, 362 U.S. 17, 22, 80 S. Ct. 519, 4 L. Ed. 2d 524 (1960). Accordingly, the Court will grant defendants' motion for summary judgment on these derivative claims.

 [**12]  

Plaintiffs' conclusory allegations concerning the nature of their personal deprivation are not sufficient to state a claim upon which relief can be granted under §  1983. n8 Jerrald, Mark and Lorraine Benson do not explain how their Fourth Amendment rights were threatened by defendants' conduct.  Indeed, as described in the complaint, the overt acts taken by Diaz and Troller against these plaintiffs do not constitute either a search or a seizure.  Moreover, much of the conduct alleged, although possibly tortious under state law, does not rise to the level of a constitutional deprivation actionable under §  1983 when considered independently of William Benson's First Amendment claim.  Cf.  Sheffey v. Greer, 391 F. Supp. 1044, 1046 (E.D. Ill. 1975). Finally, as defendants correctly point out, plaintiffs' complaint seeks relief only for the deprivation of William Benson's First Amendment rights, not the Fourth Amendment rights of Jerrald, Mark and Lorraine Benson.  Accordingly, the Court will dismiss Jerrald, Mark and Lorraine's claims against the defendants. n9

n8 Because neither party has submitted evidence outside of the pleadings on this particular issue and because the flaw in plaintiff's claim appears in the complaint itself, we will treat defendants' motion as a motion to dismiss. [**13]  

n9 The Court also notes, however, that the harassment of William Benson's family, as alleged, can be viewed as part of defendants' attempt to punish William Benson for his exercise of First Amendment rights. Inasmuch as such harassment was effectively directed against William Benson, these acts are not irrelevant to William Benson's conspiracy claim under the First Amendment.

III.  Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment on Count II in 77 C 3713

Count II of plaintiffs' complaint alleges that defendant Allphin discharged William Benson from employment with the Department of Revenue in retaliation for Benson's  [*470]  disclosure of improprieties in the Department to representatives of the Hammond Times, the Chicago Tribune, the Illinois Department of Law Enforcement, the Illinois State Police and the Illinois Attorney General's Office.  Benson alleges further that his discharge was in retaliation for his disclosure of certain improprieties involving Chicago police officers to representatives of the Chicago Police Department.  Defendants have moved for summary judgment on this Count on the [**14]  grounds that Benson has no evidence sufficient to support these allegations and that, in fact, Benson was terminated from employment because he attempted to extort a Department of Revenue job from Allphin.  In support of this motion, defendants have submitted various affidavits asserting that Allphin, at the time he decided to terminate Benson, did not know of and thus could not have been motivated by Benson's disclosures to the press and various law enforcement officials.  Defendants have also produced allegedly contemporaneous notes of Benson's attempts to extort a permanent position with the Department of Revenue.

The principle is well established that summary judgment is generally inappropriate in cases involving questions of motive or intent.  Conrad v. Delta Air Lines, Inc., 494 F.2d 914, 919 (7th Cir. 1974). Disposition by summary judgment is particularly inappropriate where, as here, the complaint involves delicate constitutional rights, complex fact situations, disputed testimony and questionable credibilities.  Porter v. Califano, 592 F.2d 770, 778 (5th Cir. 1979). Because the motive behind Allphin's decision to terminate Benson is critical to resolution of this [**15]  case, Mount Healthy City School District v. Doyle, 429 U.S. 274, 287, 97 S. Ct. 568, 50 L. Ed. 2d 471 (1977), and because the affidavits submitted by each side are directly contradictory on the extent of Benson's pre-discharge disclosures and Allphin's knowledge of those disclosures, the Court finds that there remain genuine issues of material fact which cannot be resolved properly on a motion for summary judgment.

Plaintiff has submitted competent evidence that challenges the authenticity and/or the credibility of the evidence offered by defendants to support their claim that Benson was discharged because he attempted to extort a job from Allphin.  Plaintiff has also submitted competent evidence, the substance of which is contradicted by affidavits submitted by defendants, that he did in fact make disclosures of improprieties prior to his discharge to members of the news media and law enforcement officials.  The representations in Allphin's affidavit that he did not know of these disclosures is not sufficient at this stage to remove all potential issues of fact regarding Allphin's motive, particularly in the possible absence of any credible alternative explanation for Benson's [**16]  discharge.  Benson is not required to win his case in defending against a motion for summary judgment; it is sufficient that he offer some competent evidence of a genuine issue of material fact. Having submitted such evidence in response to defendants' motion, plaintiff is entitled to the opportunity to prove his case.

Conclusion
For the foregoing reasons, defendants' motions to strike certain allegations of Count I and for summary judgment on Count II are denied.  Defendants' motion for summary judgment on Count I is granted as to the liability of the named defendants for acts perpetrated against the Bensons by unknown defendants.  Defendants' motion for summary judgment on Count I is also granted as to the liability of the named defendants on those claims of plaintiffs other than William Benson identified in this opinion as derivative to the deprivation alleged by William Benson.  The non-derivative claims of plaintiffs other than William Benson are dismissed.  The balance of defendants' motion for summary judgment on Count I is denied.  It is so ordered.  
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NAMEROFF 

OPINIONBY:

NAMEROFF 

OPINION:

MEMORANDUM OPINION 

NAMEROFF, Special Trial Judge: This case was assigned pursuant to section 7443A(b)(4) n1 and Rules 180, 181, and 183.  This case is before the Court on respondent's motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim for relief pursuant to Rule 40 and for penalties under section 6673 filed on November 16, 1992. 

n1 All section references are to the Internal Revenue Code in effect for the years at issue.  All Rule references are to the Tax Court Rules of Practice and Procedure.

In a notice of deficiency dated June 29, 1992, respondent determined deficiencies in income tax and additions to tax due from petitioner as follows: 

________________________________________________________________________________

	
	
	
	Additions to Tax Sections

	Tax Year
	Deficiency
	6651(f)
	6653(b)
	
	6654(a)

	1981
	$ 6,961
	-  
	$ 3,481       
	
	$ 297

	
	
	
	6653(b)(1)   
	6653(b)(2)      

	1982
	5,091
	-  
	2,546       
	 *         
	493

	1983
	10,535
	-  
	5,268       
	 *         
	357

	1984
	8,410
	-  
	4,205       
	 *         
	512

	1985
	7,757
	-  
	3,879       
	 *         
	445

	

	
	
	
	6653(b)(1)(A)
	6653(b)(1)(B)

	1986
	8,890
	-  
	6,668       
	 *         
	430

	1987
	8,988
	-  
	6,741       
	 *         
	505

	1988
	6,605
	-  
	4,954       
	-         
	422

	1989
	9,286
	$ 6,965
	-       
	-         
	628

	1990
	6,075
	4,556
	-       
	-         
	399


________________________________________________________________________________

 [*2]  

* Plus 50 percent of the interest that is computed on $ 5,073, $ 6,768, $ 8,202, $ 7,757, $ 8,890, and $ 8,373 for the tax years 1982, 1983, 1984, 1985, 1986, and 1987, respectively.

The adjustments giving rise to the deficiencies and additions to tax are based upon petitioner's failure to file tax returns and report various items of wage and interest income. 

On October 1, 1992, petitioner filed a petition in which he disputed all of the deficiencies and additions to tax by stating in paragraph 4: 

THE ENTIRE ADJUSTMENT/CHANGES, KIND OF TAX, ANY AMOUNT IS DISAGREED.  OUR CHRISTIAN FOREFATHERS SOUGHT A CHRISTIAN GOV'T-NOT A JEWISH-CAPITALIST-COMMUNIST-MAFIA-S&L MONETARY SYSTEM; I NEVER HAD INCOME TO QUALIFY TO FILE; NO U.S/CA CONSTITUTIONAL REQUIREMENTS; FED. RES. NOTES ARE CONSIDERED BY CONGRESS AS "TOKEN VALUE", NOT MONEY NOR DOLLARS; NO PERMISSION GIVEN BY THE SOVEREIGNTY TO BE TAXED; 16TH AMEND. ILLEGAL; NO STANDING TO TAX.

Subsequent to the filing of respondent's motion, the Court, in an order dated December [*3]  4, 1992, noted that it reviewed the petition and agreed with respondent that the allegations therein are tax protester allegations which have been repeatedly rejected by this and other courts.  However, petitioner was authorized to file an objection to respondent's motion or, alternatively, an amended petition setting forth adequate assignments of error and statements of fact as to the merits of respondent's determinations. 

Petitioner timely filed an objection to respondent's motion to dismiss, in which petitioner also moved that we dismiss the case pursuant to Rule 40 for failure to state a claim, find that there are no deficiencies or additions of tax due, and award petitioner damages in the amount of $ 300 million.  The objection is a fairly unintelligible dissertation on various social and economic conditions in the United States contending, in part, that money is not money, that respondent is violating petitioner's Constitutional rights, and that the 16th Amendment to the Constitution was not properly ratified.  Attached to the petition are several exhibits including a copy of a 26-page unsworn declaration of William J. Benson, dated June 28, 1987, regarding the ratification [*4]  procedure of the 16th Amendment; a copy of a 50-page "Defendant's Brief In Support Of Motion To Dismiss On Jurisdictional Grounds" in the criminal case of the United States of America v. William J. Benson, United States District Court, Northern District of Illinois, Eastern Division, Criminal Case No. 87-CR-278, relative to the proposition that the Internal Revenue Code only applies to residents of the District of Columbia, Federal enclaves within the United States, and United States possessions and territories; and, a copy of a 38-page treatise entitled "Money and Near-Monies: A Primer" by John B. Henderson, dated June 7, 1983, relative to various misconceptions regarding the concept of money. n2 

n2 We will not burden this opinion by attempting to digest and summarize the contents of these various exhibits.  Suffice it to say that they are totally irrelevant to the matter at hand.

In her motion to dismiss, respondent contends that petitioner has failed to assign error to the items set forth in the notice of deficiency.  [*5]  [HN1] Rule 34(b)(4) provides that a petition filed in this Court shall contain clear and concise assignments of each and every error which petitioner alleges to have been committed by respondent in the determination of the deficiency or liability.  Rule 34(b)(5) further provides that the petition shall contain clear and concise lettered statements of the facts on which petitioner bases the assignments of error. 

It is clear that the petition in the instant case does not comply with Rule 34(b), in that no justiciable error has been alleged in the petition with respect to respondent's determination and the petition fails to allege facts in support of any error.  Petitioner's petition merely contains tax protester arguments that have been heard and rejected by this Court on many occasions.  See, e.g., McCoy v. Commissioner, 76 T.C. 1027 (1981), affd.  696 F.2d 1234 (9th Cir. 1983); Brayton v. Commissioner, T.C. Memo. 1989-664, affd. without published opinion 923 F.2d 861 (9th Cir. 1991). We see no reason to again refute these arguments with somber reasoning and copious citation [*6]  of precedent.  Crain v. Commissioner, 737 F.2d 1417 (5th Cir. 1984). The short answer to petitioner's arguments is that petitioner is not exempt from Federal income tax. See Abrams v. Commissioner, 82 T.C. 403, 406-407 (1984). 

Moreover, [HN2] a judgment on the pleadings is appropriate where petitioner raises no justiciable issues.  See Abrams v. Commissioner, supra at 408; Brayton v. Commissioner, supra. Accordingly, as petitioner has failed to raise any issue with regard to the amount of his income or deductions, or the correct amount of his tax liability, including the additions to tax for which petitioner has the burden of proof, respondent's motion should be granted with respect to the deficiencies and such additions to tax. 

However, the Court notes that respondent determined additions to tax for fraud for 1981 through 1988 and the additions to tax for fraudulent failure to file for 1989 and 1990.  In the petition, petitioner disputed all additions to tax. Further, in his objection to respondent's motion to dismiss, petitioner stated that respondent [*7]  has the burden of proof as to the additions to tax for fraud. 

With regard to the additions to tax for fraud, respondent states in her motion: 

a failure to assign error in the Petition as required by Rule 34(b) to an issue raised in the notice of deficiency should be deemed to be a concession of that issue, regardless of the burden of proof. In this regard, petitioner has failed to assign any justiciable errors to the additions to tax for fraud.

We note that Rule 34(b)(5) relieves petitioner from reciting facts underlying assignments of error as to which the burden is on respondent.  It is noted that respondent has yet to file an Answer in this case and make affirmative allegations in support of her determination as to the additions to tax for fraud, and petitioner has not had the opportunity to reply to them.  Accordingly, to that extent, it is inappropriate to enter a decision for the section 6653(b) and 6651(f) additions.  Brock v. Commissioner, 92 T.C. 1127, 1131-1132 (1989). 

It would, however, be similarly inappropriate to leave open for trial the frivolous questions raised by petitioner in regard to the Constitutionality and legality [*8]  of respondent's deficiency determinations other than as they apply to the fraud questions.  Therefore, in our discretion, we have determined to treat respondent's motion to dismiss as a motion for partial judgment on the pleadings.  We hold, therefore, that petitioner is liable for the deficiencies in Federal income tax and additions to tax under section 6654(a), as determined in the notice of deficiency. Furthermore, while it is premature at this point to consider that aspect of respondent's motion dealing with the section 6673 penalty, we caution petitioner that a continued persistence in frivolous and groundless protester allegations may very well subject him to a penalty under the provisions of section 6673. 

An appropriate order will be issued and this matter restored to the general docket.  
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OPINIONBY:

POWELL 

OPINION:

MEMORANDUM FINDINGS OF FACT AND OPINION 

POWELL, Special Trial Judge: n1 By a notice of deficiency dated March 25, 1986, respondent determined deficiencies in Federal income tax and additions to tax as follows: 

	
	
	Additions to tax

	Year
	Tax
	§  6651(a)(1) n2
	§  6653(a)(1) n3
	§  6654(a)

	1982
	$4,752.00
	$1,188.00
	$237.60
	$418.15

	1983
	5,333.00
	1,333.25
	266.65
	298.61


On June 24, 1986, petitioner filed a petition with this Court in which he alleges simply that respondent's determinations were incorrect because wages are not income and petitioner was not required to file returns.  While the petition alleges that respondent "failed to consider all deductions or credits," there are no specific factual allegations of the nature of these deductions and credits.  The petitioner resided in Chicago, Illinois, at the time of filing his petition. 

n1 This case was assigned pursuant to the provisions of section 7456(d) (redesignated as section 7443A by the Tax Reform Act of 1986, Pub. L. 99-514, section 1556) and Rule 180 et seq. 

n2 All statutory references are to the Internal Revenue Code of 1954, as amended, and as in effect during the years in issue. 

n3 In addition respondent determined additions to tax under section 6653(a)(2) in the amount of 50 percent of the interest due on the respective underpayments of $4,752 and $5,333. 

On August 22, 1986, respondent filed motions to dismiss for failure to state a claim and for damages.  On September 26, 1986, petitioner filed an objection in which he alleges that the burden of proof is on respondent.  By order dated October 10, 1986, we held respondent's motion to dismiss in abeyance and ordered that petitioner file a proper amended petition on or before November 15, 1986.  In the attached memorandum sur order we told petitioner that his arguments were frivolous and that his petition failed to comply with our rules.  Nonetheless, we afforded petitioner the opportunity to file an amended petition; we cautioned, however, that, unless a proper petition were filed, we would grant respondent's motion to dismiss and would consider whether damages should be awarded under section 6673. 

Petitioner has awarded our patience with an "amended petition" that contains another diatribe of tax-protestor gibberish -- viz the Sixteenth Amendment was not lawfully ratified. Accompanying the "amended petition" are five documents: Book No. 1 Various Letters and Reports by Sec. of States and Solicitor; Ratification and Rejection of 16th Amendment -- Alabama through Massachusetts. This assortment of documents also contains a letter to one William J. Benson from Andrew B. Spiegel, purportedly an attorney at law, in which Spiegel takes the position that the Sixteenth Amendment "was never properly ratified." The second and third documents are books by William J. Benson entitled The Law That Never Was 

(Vol. I and Vol. II). The gravamen of the author's conclusion is that in spite of numerous cases upholding the Sixteenth Amendment, it, nonetheless, is not the law of the land.  We also were treated to a brief allegedly filed by Spiegel in "The United States Court of Public Opinion." It was a great surprise to discover that the gravamen of this document also attacked the Sixteenth Amendment. Finally, we were exposed to what appears to be a form pleading entitled "Notice of Fraud and Demand for Redress." Again the gist of this document is that the Sixteenth Amendment is void.  We also are informed in this document that we can obtain a copy of The Law that Never Was by sending $23 to Mr. Benson.  We will eschew that invitation. 

While this Court has not discussed the collective wisdom of the reasoning of Messrs. Benson and Spiegel in an opinion, the Seventh Circuit, to which an appeal lies here, has considered and totally rejected any validity to their conclusion.  United States v. Thomas, 788 F.2d 1250 (7th Cir. 1986); United States v. Foster, 789 F.2d 457 (7th Cir. 1986); United States v. Ferguson, 793 F.2d 828 (7th Cir. 1986). See also United States v. Stahl, 792 F.2d 1438 (9th Cir. 1986). Accordingly, we find no reason to discuss the issue further except to warn other taxpayers that they will fare no better than petitioner here.  See Coleman v. Commissioner, 791 F.2d 68, 72 (7th Cir. 1986), affg. a Memorandum Opinion of this Court.  Respondent's motion to dismiss will be granted. 

In this regard, respondent moves for damages under section 6673.  That section provides that "[w]henever it appears to the Tax Court that proceedings before it have been instituted or maintained by the taxpayer primarily for delay or that the taxpayer's position in such proceedings is frivolous or groundless, damages in the amount out in excess of $5,000 shall be awarded to the United States * * *." In our memorandum sur order of October 10, 1986, we warned petitioner that, unless a proper amended petition were filed, we would consider whether damages should be awarded. 

The Seventh Circuit has stated that the test for whether the grounds urged by a taxpayer are frivolous or groundless is an objective test -- viz whether petitioner should have known that his pleadings raised frivolous issues.  Coleman v. Commissioner, 791 F.2d at 71-72. We have no question that the farrago of nonsense in petitioner's pleadings is frivolous, nor do we have the slightest reservation that petitioner clearly should have known that it was frivolous. While this Court may not have addressed The Law That Never Was, etc. in an opinion, other courts, including the Seventh Circuit, clearly have.  Thus, even if a pro se litigant might have found some facial validity to the conclusions reached by Messrs. Benson and Spiegel (a point that we are willing to assume, but frankly find incredulous), a modicum of research would have directed a different course of action. n4 Accordingly, we award damages in the amount of $5,000. 

n4 The Seventh Circuit's views were published months before the amended petition was filed. 

An order and decision will be entered. 
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UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS, EASTERN DIVISION 
143 B.R. 154; 1992 Bankr. LEXIS 1103 
March 20, 1992, Decided 
JUDGES:

 [**1]  Schmetterer 

OPINIONBY:

JACK B. SCHMETTERER 

OPINION:

 [*155]  

MEMORANDUM OPINION ON TRUSTEE'S MOTION TO DISMISS AND DEBTOR'S MOTION TO RECUSE 

In this bankruptcy proceeding, filed under Chapter 13 of Title 11 U.S.C., the Chapter 13 Trustee moved to dismiss this bankruptcy proceeding for Debtor's failure to file a Plan.  Debtors then filed a Plan, but also asserted that this Court is disqualified and should not pass on Trustee's motions.  For reasons set forth below, the disqualification motion is denied and the Trustee's motion has been continued to give debtors an opportunity to cure patent defects in their filed Plan, if they can. 

FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

In January, 1991, Raymond Nowak and three other people sued 43 named defendants and their alleged co-conspirators (10,000 "John Does" and 10,000 "Jane Does") in a 268-page complaint entitled Mark Sato, et al. v. Federal Emergency Management Agency, et al., 91 C 314 (N.D. Ill.).  Defendants were said to have conspired to commit treason among many other crimes alleged.  I was one of the named defendants,  [**2]  along with most Bankruptcy Judges and District Judges in this District, most Seventh Circuit Judges, and many other public officials and private persons.  District Court Judge Shadur dismissed the complaint sua sponte one week after it was filed for failure to state grounds for relief. n1 Later, Mr. Harrigan (who was among the plaintiffs in Sato) filed his Chapter 13 case, refused to file a plan but moved to disqualify me, realleging the Sato allegations along with a new charge of murder, and conspiracy with the Deputy Assistant U.S. Attorney along with other judges in this circuit.  For reasons stated from the bench, his disqualification motion was denied.  Then that case was dismissed for failure to file any plan.  On January 28, 1992, Raymond Nowak and his wife filed their pending joint petition under Chapter 13.  The only creditor scheduled by them is the Internal Revenue Service (the "IRS").  The total of IRS claims scheduled amounts to $ 427,915.44. 

n1 A copy of this opinion is attached as Appendix A.

 [**3]  

These Debtors did not file any plan herein within fifteen days as required by Rule 3015(b), Fed. R. Bankr. P., so the Chapter 13  [*156]  Standing Trustee filed a motion to dismiss this proceeding.  The motion came before the Court on March 10, 1992.  The Debtors responded that day by filing a plan and also filed their motion to disqualify this judge.  A copy of the Plan was served on the Trustee but not on the IRS, and it may be that the IRS and the U.S. Attorney's office does not know of this case. 

From examination of Debtors' actions thus far and the documents filed by them, three things become clear.  First, the IRS claims that Debtors owe large amounts for taxes, and they are very angry about this.  Second, they believe that the federal judges, the IRS, the U.S. Attorney, and other federal agencies in northern Illinois are in a conspiracy to commit many crimes.  Therefore, they are convinced that I and all other judges in the Seventh Circuit share a common prejudice towards them because they are trying to bring this alleged conspiracy to light.  Finally, the Debtors feel that their treatment is tied to the treatment of the other plaintiffs in the Sato case and to their colleague,  [**4]  Mr. Sherman Skolnick.  They maintain that any action which affects one member of their group creates a bias against all of them. 

DISCUSSION 

Jurisdiction 

This matter is before the Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §  157 and is referred here under Local District Court Rule 2.33.  The Court has subject matter jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. §  1334, and this is a core proceeding under 28 U.S.C. §  157(b)(2)(A). 

Claim of Disqualification 

The asserted disqualification is first addressed because it goes to the authority of this Court to rule on Trustee's motion to dismiss. Debtors claim that the Court has a personal bias (they call it "an extreme hatred") against them for several reasons.  They first point to the Sato case in which Mr. Nowak was a plaintiff, and in which this judge along with other judges and over 20,000 other people, were defendants.  They thereby argue in effect that a judge who is attacked by someone in a suit dismissed for failure to plead a cause of action is disqualified from sitting on any future case brought by that person -- a theory that here applies, if at all, to all judges in the Seventh Circuit. 

They also claim that bias is demonstrated by this [**5]  Court's conduct in the case of In re Harrigan, 91 B 24035.  The Harrigan case under Chapter 13 of the Bankruptcy Code was dismissed pursuant to 11 U.S.C. §  1307 and Rule 3015, Fed. R. Bankr. P., for failure to file a plan.  Mr. Harrigan had filed a motion to disqualify which was denied by the court, which ruling these movants feel showed prejudice.  On its face, it does not.  See Transcript of Proceedings, In re Harrigan, 91 B 24035 (Feb. 25, 1992). n2 

n2 This transcript is attached to this opinion as Exhibit B.

They also complain about this Court's rulings and remarks from the bench in another case in which they were observers but not parties in interest, Wire Cloth Products Inc., No. 90 B 4251.  They further assert that their association with Mr. Sato and Mr. Skolnick brings prejudice against them.  In the Sato and Harrigan cases, and through their counsel's remarks before the bench here, they have by now accused me and most other judges of the Bankruptcy Court, the District Court, and the [**6]  Seventh Circuit Court of Appeals of conspiracy to commit treason, murder, cover up, and miscellaneous other crimes and wrongs.  No evidence or facts to support those beliefs are set forth.  When this motion was presented, their counsel asserted that he could not lay these charges before the federal or state prosecutors because he says they are part of the "cover-up".  Like the Queen in Through the Looking Glass, they are prepared to assert and believe anything. n3 

n3 See, Lewis Carroll, Through the Looking Glass, Ch. V, at p. 174 (Signet Classic ed., Penguin Books 1960).

Debtors do not cite authority, but they seek my disqualification and recusal from  [*157]  their Chapter 13 bankruptcy case pursuant to [HN1]  28 U.S.C. §  455, which provides: 

(a) Any justice, judge, or magistrate of the United States shall disqualify himself in any proceeding in which his impartiality might reasonably be questioned. 

(b) He shall also disqualify himself in the following circumstances: 

(1) Where he has personal bias  [**7]  or prejudice concerning a party, or personal knowledge of disputed evidentiary facts concerning the proceeding;....

The Seventh Circuit has stated that the test for disqualification under §  455 is whether "an objective, disinterested observer fully informed of the facts [of the case] ... would entertain a significant doubt that justice be done" thereby requiring recusal. Union Carbide Corp. v. U.S. Cutting Service, 782 F.2d 710, 715 (1986), citing Pepsico, Inc. v. McMillen, 764 F.2d 458, 460 (7th Cir. 1985); see also Matter of Nat. Union Fire Ins. Co. of Pittsburgh, 839 F.2d 1226, 1229 (7th Cir. 1988). This is an objective test.  Therefore, the basis for doubting the impartiality of the Court must be thought of as reasonable in the mind of a reasonable person. United States v. Martorano, 620 F.2d 912, 919 (1st. Cir.), cert. denied, 449 U.S. 952, 66 L. Ed. 2d 216, 101 S. Ct. 356 (1980), citing United States v. Cowden, 545 F.2d 257, 265 (1st Cir. 1976), cert. denied, 430 U.S. 909, 51 L. Ed. 2d 585, 97 S. Ct. 1181 (1977). A judge is not disqualified under §  455 merely because a litigant has  [**8]  transformed his fear of an adverse decision into a fear that the judge will not be impartial. Idaho v. Freeman, 507 F. Supp. 706, 722 (D. Idaho 181), citing S. Rep. No. 93-419, 93rd Cong., 1st Sess. 1973, p. 5.  Likewise, a judge's personal view as to his impartiality is not a basis for ruling on a recusal motion.  As Judge Shadur explained in Hampton v. Hanrahan, 449 F. Supp. 640, 645 (N.D. Ill. 1980), appeal dismissed, Hampton v. Chicago, 643 F.2d 478 (7th Cir. 1981), "though I am morally certain that I would in fact be impartial in this proceeding, that is not the standard; the test is rather whether my impartiality 'might reasonably be questioned'." 

[HN2] A necessary corollary to the objective "reasonable person" standard is that recusal may not be based on frivolous, speculative, or irrational motions.  As explained in M.K. Metals, Inc. v. National Steel Corp., 593 F. Supp. 991, 993-994 (N.D. Ill. 1984), a judge 

should not recuse himself on an unsupported, irrational, or highly tenuous speculation; were he or she to do so, the price of maintaining the purity of appearance would be the power of [**9]  litigants or third parties to exercise a negative power over the assignment of judges.

The Seventh Circuit has expanded on this concept in Nat. Union Fire Ins. Co., 839 F.2d at 1229, stating, 

Judges have an obligation to litigants and their colleagues not to remove themselves needlessly, ... because a change of umpire in mid-contest may require a great deal of work to be redone ... and facilitate judge-shopping. (citation omitted)

See also, New York City Housing Development Corp. v. Hart, 796 F.2d 976, 980-81 (7th Cir. 1986). This Court has a duty not to disqualify itself when faced with clearly frivolous motions to recuse. See General Motors Acceptance Corp. v. Long Chevrolet, Inc., 1989 Bankr. LEXIS 72 (Bankr. N.D. Ill. Jan. 24, 1989). 

[HN3] Another well-settled principle is that a motion for recusal under §  455 "must be based upon prejudice from an extra-judicial source." Liberty Lobby, Inc. v. Dow Jones & Co., Inc., 838 F.2d 1287 (D.C. Cir. 1988). A judge cannot be disqualified merely because of his or her actions in a prior judicial proceeding.  See United States v. Haldeman, 559 F.2d 31, 133 (D.C. Cir. 1976) [**10]  (en banc), cert. denied, 431 U.S. 933 (1977) ("recusal is not indicated by prior judicial rulings, or in-court comments prompted by developments in the case or prior legal proceedings, or the exercise of related judicial functions.") This is true even when the judge has made harsh comments towards the movant or the movant's counsel in an earlier proceeding.  See In re Cooper, 821 F.2d 833, 841 (1st Cir. 1987)  [*158]  (holding that a judge is not disqualified for making disparaging remarks about the tactics of the client's counsel or the credibility of a witness in an earlier proceeding).  Finally, and pointedly, 

 [HN4] 

.... a debtor should not be permitted to frustrate the administration of justice by asserting frivolous claims against sitting judges.  The appearance of a conflict of interest is not created by the assertion of a frivolous claim against a judge.

 Matter of Erickson, 107 Bankr. 222, 224 (Bankr. D. Neb. 1989) and cases cited. 

Applying the above standards to the present case, the Debtors' contentions do not form a sufficient basis to reasonably question the Court's impartiality in the mind of a reasonable third [**11]  person.  The Sato case was dismissed as meritless on its face one week after it was filed, and no defendant had to respond to it.  The many attacks contained in that suit provided no reasonable or even rational basis for questioning this Court's impartiality towards the Debtors.  The Debtors' view that the Court is biased against them based on the Harrigan case is equally frivolous. They reason essentially that a ruling against Mr. Harrigan's motion to disqualify means that the Court is prejudiced because they associate with him.  As pointed out above, comments made by this judge in prior cases which concern people with whom Debtors associate are not a basis for disqualification, and a party's irrational or baseless fear of bias does not create a bias. Moreover, the comments they complain of on their face consisted of a ruling with cited authority. 

The contention that this and all judges in this Circuit are prejudiced against Debtors and all members of the group who cooperate in these various litigation efforts is likewise unsupported.  They cannot seek to escape the requirements of the Bankruptcy Code and the Internal Revenue Code by creative accusations asserted as a  [**12]  basis to deny that any judge can adjudicate any issues in their cases.  This motion to recuse is entirely frivolous and must be denied. n4 

n4 The "rule of necessity" is applicable to this case because the Debtors maintain that every judge in the Seventh Circuit is biased against them.  See Aetna Life Ins. Co. v. Lavoie, 475 U.S. 813, 825, 89 L. Ed. 2d 823, 106 S. Ct. 1580 (1986); and United States v. Will, 499 U.S. 200, 214 (1980). However, the Court need not reach this issue since the motion to disqualify is denied for other reasons.

Dismissal 

As matters presently stand, Debtors' joint Chapter 13 petition and pending Plan is subject to dismissal for three reasons: 

1.  Debtors are not eligible to file under Chapter 13. 

[HN5] Section 109(e) of the Bankruptcy Code defines who is eligible to be a Chapter 13 debtor.  It provides: 

Only an individual with regular income that owes on the date of the filing of the petition, noncontingent, liquidated, unsecured debts of less than $ 100,000 and noncontingent, liquidated,  [**13]  secured debts of less than $ 350,000, or an individual with regular income and such individual's spouse, except a stockbroker or a commodity broker, that owe, on the date of the filing of the petition, noncontingent, liquidated, unsecured debts that aggregate less than $ 100,000 and noncontingent, liquidated, secured debts of less than $ 350,000 may be a debtor under chapter 13 of this title.

The debts to IRS scheduled herein total $ 427,915.44.  This clearly exceeds the eligibility limits in Chapter 13. 

The Bankruptcy Code requires that Chapter 13 debtors make regular payments to the Trustee, and such payments require a regular income.  Therefore, a regular source of income is a necessary element of eligibility under Chapter 13.  In re Terry, 630 F.2d 634 (8th Cir. 1980); In re Cheatham, 91 Bankr. 377 (E.D.N.C. 1988). There is no showing that Debtors have any regular income since the Debtors have not filed all schedules required under Rule 1007, Fed. R. Bankr. P.  Furthermore, the Debtors specifically state in paragraph 2 of their plan that, "[Debtors], the [Debtors'] employers, or other entity (although unknown and as  [*159]  yet unagreed to [**14]  by [Debtors]) shall remit monthly sums on a per week basis to the Trustee ... when [the IRS] submits and proves its claim (which [Debtors] assert will be false and fraudulent)." Debtors do not even represent that they have any particular sources of income to make any payments. 

2.  Facial Deficiencies in the Filed Plan. 

Even if Debtors were eligible under §  109(e), their petition must still be dismissed for failure to file an acceptable plan, unless they find a way to cure the patent deficiencies in their filed Plan.  Section 1321 of the Bankruptcy Code provides that, "the debtor must file a plan," and both the Code and the Federal Rules of Bankruptcy Procedure expand upon this simple command.  [HN6] Section 1322(a)(1) requires that Chapter 13 plans "provide for the submission of all or such portion of future earnings or other future income of the debtor supervision and control of the trustee as is necessary for the execution of the plan." Section 1322(b) (10) further allows Chapter 13 plans to "include any other appropriate provision not inconsistent with this title." See also, 11 U.S.C. §  1325(a)(1) (plans may only be confirmed if they comply with other applicable provisions of [**15]  the Bankruptcy Code).  Rule 3015(b), Fed. R. Bankr. P., requires that Chapter 13 plans be filed within fifteen days of the petition.  Debtors are to commence payments to the Trustee the month after they file their case, well before the Plan is confirmed or even considered.  11 U.S.C. §  1326(a)(1). 

The Debtors' plan is facially defective for several reasons.  First, it was not filed within 15 days of the petition.  This issue has been considered after notice and a hearing on the Trustee's motion to dismiss. Therefore, under 11 U.S.C. §  1307(c)(3), the case may be dismissed on this ground alone.  However, the Court has given Debtors leeway on this issue, has considered their late-filed plan, and gave them time to see if they can file a lawful Amended Plan. 

Paragraph 3 of their present Plan is the provision for plan payments.  It states that, "if alleged creditor IRS can prove its claim without bribery, blackmail or extortion (which [Debtors] assert cannot be done ...), then and only then, [Debtors] will remit the sum of $ 500 each month. ..." This conditional offer to pay the Trustee violates §  1326(a)(1) because it makes clear that Debtors have no intention of paying the Trustee [**16]  anything from month to month unless and until the IRS claims are first disposed of.  This provision also violates 11 U.S.C. §  502(a) by seeking to shift the burden of taking initiative to assert validity of the IRS claim to the IRS.  [HN7] A proof of claim constitutes prima facie evidence of the validity and amount of a creditor's claim, and the burden of going forward to object to the claim lies upon the debtor.  Rule 3001(f), Fed. R. Bankr. P.  Debtors cannot insert a plan provision which violates this precept in an effort to avoid paying the Trustee monthly for possible payment to their creditor should they lose their dispute with that creditor.  Therefore, the Court cannot accept this plan due to its facial defects. 

3.  No Payments Made to Trustee. 

Finally, the case must be dismissed pursuant to 11 U.S.C. §  1307(c)(4) for failure as yet to make any payments to the Chapter 13 Trustee.  Section 1326(a)(1) of the Bankruptcy Code provides, "unless the court orders otherwise, the debtor shall commence making the payments proposed by the plan within 30 days after the plan is filed." The reason for this requirement is discussed in 5 Collier on Bankruptcy P1326.01[2] (15th ed.  [**17]  1991), 

Congress also feared that some chapter 13 plans were being jeopardized by debtors becoming accustomed to higher living expenses when they were relieved of prior debt payments and not yet responsible for plan payments.  Trustees  [*160]  reported that when plan payments begin promptly they had a greater chance of success. 

Therefore, Congress added subsection (a) to section 1326 of the Code, which generally required plan payments to begin within thirty days of the filing of the plan. (citations omitted)

Clearly, chapter 13 was not enacted to grant debtors a hiatus from paying bills while their liability is adjudicated and a payment plan worked out.  Debtors have ignored §  1326 by inserting paragraph 2 into their plan, which conditions payment to the Trustee on the success of the IRS in proving its claim.  The Court has not and will not enter an order allowing the Debtors to do this.  Therefore, the Debtors have violated §  1326(a)(1) since no intention to pay anything to the Chapter 13 Trustee has been demonstrated or offered, and no payments have been made. 

CONCLUSION 

Debtors have converted their dispute with the IRS into anger against and distrust of all federal judges [**18]  in this Circuit, and a willingness to assert belief in fictional misdeeds by all those judges so as to disqualify any possible forum from deciding their disputes with the IRS.  They also seek to carry on this pattern of dispute and dislike of all judges into their Chapter 13 case in which they appear to be disqualified as possible debtors and have as yet shown no intent to comply with their duties under the Bankruptcy Code. 

For the reasons discussed above, by separate orders, the Debtors' motion to recuse and disqualify is denied, and the Trustee's motion to dismiss presented March 10, 1992, was set for hearing to determine whether debtors can cure the deficiencies discussed herein. 

ENTER: 

Jack B. Schmetterer 

United States Bankruptcy Judge 

Dated and entered this 20th day of March, 1992. 

APPENDIX A 

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS, EASTERN DIVISION 

MARK SATO, et al., Plaintiffs, v. FEDERAL EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT AGENCY, et al., Defendants. 

No. 91 C 314 

MEMORANDUM OPINION AND ORDER 

Mark Sato ("Sato"), Francis Harrigan, Raymond Nowak and Donald Thibodeaux ("Thibodeaux"), purportedly suing on behalf of themselves and "all others  [**19]  similarly situated," n1 have filed an appallingly prolix and turgid Complaint -- whose text is fully 168 pages in length and is accompanied by 100 additional pages of tightly-spaced Appendices N through S that would doubtless expand to twice that size if they had been typewritten in a normal pica typeface with conventional double spacing n2 -- against 43 specifically named defendants and up to 20,000 more of their alleged co-conspirators (10,000 "John Does" and 10,000 "Jane Does").   [*161]  This Court has read plaintiffs' submission, and it strikes both the Complaint and this action sua sponte. 

n1 None of the four named plaintiffs is a lawyer.  Even leaving aside the question whether there are indeed "others similarly situated" (whatever that may mean in the context of the extraordinary Complaint), plaintiffs could not of course be authorized to represent those others -- even though at page 20 of the Complaint Sato and Thibodeaux modestly say they are "better qualified than members of the bar for purposes of this Complaint. ..." 

n2 Fed. R. Civ. P. ("Rule") 8(a) says in relevant part (emphasis added): 

A pleading which sets forth a claim for relief ... shall contain (1) a short and plain statement of the grounds upon which the court's jurisdiction depends, ... (2) a short and plain statement of the claim showing that the pleader is entitled to relief, and (3) a demand for judgment for the relief the pleader seeks.

 [**20]  

Despite plaintiffs' self-perception as to their qualifications (see n.1), the hodgepodge that they have assembled here is an abomination.  Even with the benefit of the liberal standard prescribed by Hishon v. King & Spalding, 467 U.S. 69, 73, 81 L. Ed. 2d 59, 104 S. Ct. 2229 (1984) coupled with the especially generous reading commanded for pro se pleadings (see Haines v. Kerner, 404 U.S. 519, 520-21, 30 L. Ed. 2d 652, 92 S. Ct. 594 (1972)(per curiam)), the Complaint does not pass muster.  It is not just a matter of its length, through its egregious noncompliance with Rule 8(a) is bad enough.  Rather it would be an imposition to require any of the defendants to attempt to answer the Complaint or (far more likely) to expend the effort necessary to move that it be stricken, for either of those alternatives would subject the defendants to the same chore of reading and attempted analysis that this Court was compelled to engage in as a matter of duty. 

Somewhere in the ocean of words that plaintiffs have tendered there may perhaps be a drop of pure (or at least purifiable) liquid -- a potentially viable cause of action against someone that meets even the minimal standards prescribed by the cases.  But in the nature [**21]  of this Complaint, it is for plaintiffs and not for this Court or for any defendant to be required to carry out the necessary process of distillation.  As said at the outset, both the Complaint and this action are dismissed. n3 

n3 Among other things, in the bizarre world that plaintiffs appear to occupy, they simultaneously purport to deny the jurisdiction of this federal court while at the same time seeming to submit themselves to it in some way.  In light of the nature of a number of the allegations, it may well be that they were inviting the current result so that whatever judge were to receive this case via random assignment might be added as a co-defendant in what would seem likely to be plaintiffs' inevitable next venture into litigation.

Milton I. Shadur 

United States District Judge 

Date: January 23, 1991 

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS, EASTERN DIVISION 

MARK SATO, FRANCIS L. HARRIGAN, RAYMOND F. NOWAK, DONALD P. THIBODEAUX, & all others similarly situated,  [**22]  Plaintiffs, v. THE FEDERAL EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT AGENCY, as used as a RICO enterprise; JULIUS W. BECTON, JR., individually, in his capacity as FEMA Director, and his predecessors and successors, if any; & all other FEMA/NSC operatives, whether known or unknown; THE INTERNAL REVENUE SERVICE, as used as a RICO enterprise; FRED T. GOLDBERG, JR., individually, in his capacity as a RICO co-conspirator, and as Commissioner of Internal Revenue, and his predecessors and successors, if any; RICHARD S. WINTRODE, individually, in his capacity as a RICO co-conspirator, and as IRS District Director, and his predecessors and successors, if any; THE OFFICE OF THE UNITED STATES ATTORNEY, NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS, as used as a RICO enterprise; FRED FOREMAN, individually, in his capacity as RICO co-conspirator, and as a FEMA operative, but not in his capacity as U.S. Attorney, and his predecessors and successors, if any; THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT, NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS, as used as a RICO enterprise; JAMES B. MORAN, individually, in his capacity as RICO co-conspirator, and as a FEMA operative, but not in his capacity as judge, and his predecessors and successors, if any;  [*162]  THE UNITED [**23]  STATES COURT OF APPEALS, SEVENTH CIRCUIT, as used as a RICO enterprise; WILLIAM J. BAUER, individually, in his capacity as RICO co-conspirator, and as a FEMA operative, but not in his capacity as judge, and his predecessors and successors, if any; THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT, NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS, as used as a RICO enterprise; JACK SCHMETTERER, individually, in his capacity as RICO co-conspirator, and as a FEMA operative, but not in his capacity as judge, and his predecessors and successors, if any; THE UNITED STATES TAX COURT, as used as a RICO enterprise; ARTHUR L. NIMS III, individually, in his capacity as RICO co-conspirator, and as a FEMA operative, but not in his capacity as judge, and his predecessors and successors, if any; ILANA DIAMOND ROVNER, et ux, individually and jointly, in their capacities as RICO co-conspirators, and in her capacity as FEMA operative, but not in her capacity as a judge; PAUL E. PLUNKETT, individually, in his capacity as RICO co-conspirator, and in his capacity as FEMA operative, but not in his capacity as judge; WALTER J. CUMMINGS, JR., individually, in his capacity as RICO co-conspirator, and in his capacity as FEMA operative,  [**24]  but not in his capacity as judge; EUGENE R. WEDOFF, individually, in his capacity as FEMA operative, but not in his capacity as judge; ERWIN I. KATZ, individually, in his capacity as FEMA operative, but not in his capacity as judge; LAURENCE WHALEN, individually, in his capacity as FEMA operative, but not in his capacity as judge; JOEL GERBER, individually, in his capacity as FEMA operative, but not in his capacity as judge; GEORGE MAROVICH, individually, in his capacity as FEMA operative, but not in his capacity as judge; MAYER, BROWN & PLATT, a law firm partnership; STANTON A. KESSLER, a senior partner of Mayer, Brown & Platt; JENNER & BLOCK, a law firm partnership; JEROLD SOLOVY, a senior partner of Jenner & Block; FEDERAL RESERVE BANK, a private, foreign-controlled corporation; SILAS KEEHN, president of the Federal Reserve Bank of Chicago; LAURANCE ROCKEFELLER; LOWELL BECRAFT; WILLIAM J. BENSON; NORMA DAVENPORT; JEFFREY A. DICKSTEIN; ANDREW B. SPIEGEL; ROBERT G. STIFT; SHELDON WAXMAN, DAVID BROWN, JAMES BABOWICE, ROBERT J. LEPRI, HARRY ZAIDENBERG, CITICORP SAVINGS, FIRST NATIONAL BANK OF LINCOLNWOOD & all of the agents, officers, representatives, attorneys, employees, servants,  [**25]  informants, contractors, and subcontractors, whether known or unknown, whether predecessors or successors, if any, of the above named Plaintiffs & all other unnamed co-conspirators similarly situated, past, present and future, including, but not limited to, JOHN DOES #1-10000 and JANE ROES #1-10000, Defendants. 

No. 9100314 

Trial by Jury demanded per restrictions as set forth below 

VERIFIED COMPLAINT 

COMES NOW Mark Sato ("Sato"), Francis L. Harrigan ("Harrigan"), Raymond F. Nowak ("Nowak"), and Donald P. Thibodeaux ("Thibodeaux"), Plaintiffs pro se, pursuant to Rules 23 and 60(b)(6), F.R.C.P., and any counterpart in equity, individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated, complaining against Defendants Federal Emergency Management Agency ("FEMA"), as used as a RICO enterprise; Julius W. Becton, Jr., and all other FEMA/NSC operatives, whether known or unknown; Internal Revenue Service ("IRS"), as used as a RICO enterprise; Fred T. Goldberg ("Goldberg"), Commissioner of Internal Revenue ("CIR"), his predecessors and his successors, if any; Richard S. Wintrode ("Wintrode"), IRS District Director ("DD"), his predecessors and his successors, if any; the Office of [**26]  the United States Attorney "USA-ND"), Northern District of Illinois, as used as a RICO enterprise; Fred Foreman, individually, in his capacity as RICO 

[Missing text]  [*163]  

APPENDIX B 

IN THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS, EASTERN DIVISION 

IN RE: FRANCIS HARRIGAN, Debtor. 

91 B 24035 

Chicago, Illinois 

February 25, 1992 

9:30 o'clock a.m. 

TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS BEFORE THE HONORABLE JACK B. SCHMETTERER 

APPEARANCES: 

For the Debtor: 

MR. JIM VASSILOS, 6581 North Oliphant Street, Chicago, Illinois 60631 

For the U.S. Trustee: 

MS. JANICE NEWPORT, Office of U.S. Trustee, 11 East Adams, Chicago, Illinois 60603 

Also Present: 

MR. HARRIGAN 

CONTRACT COURT REPORTERS: 

PULTZ, PETERS & ASSOCIATES, LTD., 19 South LaSalle Street, Suite 1201, Chicago, Illinois 60603 

THE CLERK: Francis Harrigan, 91 B 24035. 

MR. VASSILOS: Your Honor, we have had a little difficulty -- 

THE COURT: Your appearance, please? 

MR. VASSILOS: Jim Vassilos, your Honor, on behalf of Francis Harrigan.  We have had a little difficulty getting this thing stamped filed.  I'm wondering if we could -- 

THE COURT: What is the thing, sir? 

MR. VASSILOS: The motion itself is to disqualify [**27]  your Honor, and Judge -- 

THE COURT: Do you have an original motion and notice of motion, sir? 

MR. VASSILOS: Yes, we gave that to your clerk, but she would not stamp the copy. 

THE COURT: You have not filed a -- you have not signed the proof of service, sir.  I'm sorry, you have signed it.  You haven't dated it.  Do you want to date it? 

MR. VASSILOS: Oh, I -- yes, sir.  I would be happy to. 

THE COURT: Have you received it? 

MS.  NEWPORT: Yes, we -- a faxed copy was sent to our office yesterday. 

THE COURT: You are an attorney at law, Mr. Vassilos 

MR. VASSILOS: Yes, your Honor, I am. 

THE COURT: You wish to file this thing which accuse every member of the court -- of the Bankruptcy Court in Chicago of these things that you say here? 

MR. VASSILOS: Well, I don't know that that is a proper capitalization of a nine page-document.  I wish to file a document that has been signed by my client, signed by me, and attested to by Sherman Skolnick.  That is what we are asking you to sign.  Your characterization of it may not be completely accurate, your Honor. 

THE COURT: My characterization was that this is a document making accusations against all the judges of this court.  Do you dispute [**28]  that characterization? 

MR. VASSILOS: I think the document speaks for itself.  I would be happy to read it into the record.  In fact, I'm asking that it be made a part of the record your Honor.  And I'm asking that it be filed. 

THE COURT: Sir, let me tell you.  I have read much much fiction in my time, but the type of accusations you seek to make against me and the judges of this court are the most extraordinary fiction I have ever seen in my life. 

You accuse me of being part of a scheme to shut down production of strategic military parts during Dessert Storm. 

You accuse -- you say that Judge Schwartz and I have been summoned before a Grand Jury.  I assure you, sir, we have not. 

You say that the judges of this court were part of the October Surprise. 

The delay release of U.S. hostages in Iran. 

You've said that documents were destroyed with the connivance of me and a trustee. 

The only correct thing I can see in here is the fact that this adversary complaint that  [*164]  you filed against me and others accusing all of the judges, including the judges of the District Court and the Seventh Circuit, of great acts of corruption and conspiracy, you truly note that I recuse myself in that  [**29]  case since I was the named defendant and sent that for reassignment, and it was assigned to Judge Martin, a judge outside this district.  You now make a scurrilous accusation against Judge Martin. 

And you have indicated that something that you call the club, which I take to mean the judges of this court and others in the Seventh Circuit that you refer to them, you accuse us, meaning the judges of this court and the Circuit, of arranging to murder one or more Grand Jury witnesses. 

MR. VASSILOS: Well, sir -- 

THE COURT: And you have attempted to suggest that we judges are responsible for the murder of a certain bankruptcy auctioneer in December of '91. 

MR. VASSILOS: December 23, 1991, Judge Wallace -- not Judge -- 

THE COURT: Sir, if you have any evidence that any member of this court has committed crimes, I suggest that you lay that evidence before the United States Attorney or States Attorney of Cook County. 

You say that coverups in the murder of a -- included a top official, who you name in the U.S. Attorney's Office. 

And you say that, in your supposed motion for recusal, no judges in the Northern District of Illinois nor of the Seventh Circuit should enter this case. 

Well,  [**30]  I'm not going to recuse myself based on this nonsense and fiction, nor based on the fact that you filed an insensible lawsuit against me because I was named in it, I sent to another judge -- sent for reassignment to another judge. 

You have made a number of generalized allegations regarding corruption in the District Court, the Court of Appeals, the Bankruptcy Court of the Northern District of Illinois, and the entire Seventh Circuit which has no factual basis to support it, and would not be grounds for any reasonable person to conclude that I have any lack of impartiality with respect to this case. 

As a matter of fact, I cannot think that any reasonable person would have made these allegations let alone that any reasonable person would believe them. 

I don't know Mr. Harrigan.  I have no prejudice toward him.  I don't know anything about him other than the fact that what is laid before me in the case which is before me. 

Under these circumstances, it's incumbent upon me, as a judge in this court, not to recuse myself when there is lacking any basis for any reasonable person to believe that there is a basis for recusal based on what you have said. 

I have to test this extraordinary [**31]  document you wish to file by the standards under 28 U.S.C. 455(a).  The test is whether an objective, disinterested observer fully informed of the facts would entertain a significant doubt that justice could be done, thereby requiring recusal under that section. 

Union Carbide versus U.S. Cutting Service, 782 F.2d 710 at 715 (7th Cir. 1986). Also a matter of National Union Fire Insurance of Pittsburgh, 839 F.2d 1226 at 1229 (7th Cir. 1988). An asserted charge of reasonable basis for doubting impartiality must be grounded on facts which would create a reasonable doubt, not in the mind of the judge himself nor necessarily in the mind of the litigant, but rather in the mind of a reasonable person. 

U.S. versus Martorano, 620 F.2d 912 at 919 (1st Cir.) cert. denied 449 U.S. 952, 66 L. Ed. 2d 216, 101 S. Ct. 356 (1980) citing U.S. versus Cowden, 545 F.2d 257 at 265 (1st Cir. 1976) cert. denied 430 U.S. 909, 51 L. Ed. 2d 585, 97 S. Ct. 1181 (1977). The language of Section 455(a) does not warrant allowing a litigant's fear of an adverse decision to be transformed into a fear that the judge will not be impartial. 

Idaho versus Freeman, 507 F. Supp. 706, 722  [**32]  (District Court of Idaho 1981) citing Senate Report No. 93-419, 93rd Congress First session.  1973, Page 5.  As Judge Shadur correctly noted in Hampton versus  [*165]  Hanrahan, 499 F. Supp. 640 at 645 In the Northern District of Illinois, 1980 appealed dismissed Hampton versus Chicago, 643 F.2d 478 (7th Cir. 1981). 

Although I am morally certain that I would in fact be impartial, that is not the standard.  The test is rather whether my impartiality might reasonably be questioned. 

He elaborate -- Judge Shadur elaborated on that standard in M.K. Metals, Inc., versus National Steel Corp., 593 F. Supp. 991 (Northern District of Illinois, 1984.) Pointing out in his quote of In Re: United States, 666 F.2d 690 at 694 (First Cir. 1981). That the first policy of Section 455(a) is that courts must not only be, but must seem to be, free of bias or prejudice.  But that a second and less obvious policy is that a judge should not recuse himself on unsupported, irrational, or highly tenuous speculation where he or she to do so at the price of maintaining the purity of appearance would be the power of litigants on third parties to exercise [**33]  a negative veto power over the assignment of judges.  M.K. Metals, 593 F. Supp. at 993-994. 

MR. VASSILOS: Well, we are supported by the affidavit. 

THE COURT: Excuse me sir. 

MR. VASSILOS: We had -- 

THE COURT: Just a moment, sir. 

MR. VASSILOS: -- Mr. Sherman Skolnick and we have six members of the public who think it is reasonable -- 

THE COURT: Sir. 

MR. VASSILOS: -- that you have been named in a lawsuit -- 

THE COURT: Sir, hold off.  Sir, you are not going to make a speech here.  And I am not going to hear from Mr. Sherman Skolnick or any friends that come in to make these allegations. 

The propriety of recusal should be ascertained objectively without reference by the judge either to his perception of his own ability to maintain impartiality, or to the concerns of parties before him as opposed to the hypothetical reasonable person. 

 M.K. Metals, 593 F. Supp. at 997. The U.S. Supreme Court has observed that, "A federal judge has the duty to sit where not disqualified which is equally as strong as the duty to not sit where disqualified." Laird, Secretary of Defense versus Tatum, 409 U.S. 824, 837, 34 L. Ed. 2d 50, 93 S. Ct. 7 (1972). Also see Judge Nordberg's [**34]  opinion in Andersen versus Roszkowski, 681 F. Supp. 1284 at 1290. 

A recent 7th Circuit decision pointed out that judges have an obligation to litigants and their colleagues not to remove themselves needlessly.  See matter of National Union Fire Insurance Co. of Pittsburgh 839, F.2d 1226 at 1229, (7th Cir. 1988).  Now -- 

MR. VASSILOS: Our response is that it is reasonable. 

THE COURT: I am not inviting a response, sir.  I'm passing on your motion. 

MR. VASSILOS: I haven't even presented it orally yet. 

THE COURT: Sir, I don't need you to present it orally.  You have presented enough in writing for me to know what your motion is, and I have read it. 

MR. VASSILOS: Well, I'm asking that you allow it to be filed and made a part of this record. 

THE COURT: Sir, I am quite sure that -- let me go on with my ruling. 

One case particularly pertinent is the matter of Rodney Erickson.  Rodney Erickson versus Federal Land bank, 107(br), 222 Bankruptcy Court in Nebraska.  The appearance of conflict of interest that the judge found is not created by the assertion of frivolous claims against the judge, and that Erickson Court cites a number of decisions for the proposition --  [**35]  for that proposition, that frivolous complaints may be ignored. 

Pointing out that including Ely Rolling Mines, Inc., versus Lee, 385 F.2d 188 at 191. Where the Circuit Court said that, "Counsel by filing specious pleadings cannot transmute a lawsuit between others and to the judge's own case solely for the purpose of disqualifying him." 

 [*166]  What you have basically done is file one scurrilous lawsuit against me and all the judges of the District and of the Bankruptcy Court and of the Circuit claiming a fantastic amount of imaginative accusations. Since I was named, I recuse myself.  Because you filed that -- and I will basically, repeat these allegations in a motion to recuse me, add a few others so as to attempt to taint other individuals, and wrap it all up in a request for recusal. 

Under the authority I have cited, this conglomeration of fiction and imagination does not justify recusal. You cannot say nasty things about a judge and then say, "Judge, you are prejudice against me because you have said nasty things to me." 

The motion to disqualify and request for an out of 7th Circuit judge, for reasons stated from the bench, is denied. 

MR. VASSILOS: Well, it was [**36]  not a fiction that Wall Mann had two bullets put in his head. 

THE COURT: Sir, if you have any witness that any judge from this court or of the U.S. Attorney's Office or someone else that you have accused here, has participated in putting a bullet in Mr. Lieberman, if that is how he died, I suggest you lay it before a prosecutor. 

MR. VASSILOS: Two bullets, sir.  About the head on December 23, 1991. 

THE COURT: Sir, for reasons I stated your motion is denied. 

Now, I want to set this matter today on a courtesy, which you may not understand, to your client, which he may not understand. 

On January 7th the trustee moved to dismiss this bankruptcy case because the debtor has not filed a plan.  He did not show up, nor did you.  At that time I could have dismissed the case when he didn't appear.  Instead I set it for today on notice to your client. 

Has Mr. Harrigan filed a plan, sir? 

MR. VASSILOS: No, he has not. 

THE COURT: Have you filed an appearance for him in this Chapter 13 case, sir? 

MR. VASSILOS: Yes. 

THE COURT: When? 

MR. VASSILOS: I don't have that portion of my file with me. 

THE COURT: Have you filed an appearance, sir? 

MR. VASSILOS: Yes, I have. 

THE COURT: Have you in [**37]  deed? 

MR. VASSILOS: I believe, I have. 

THE COURT: I will check the file.  Will I find it in there? 

MR. VASSILOS: I believe so. 

THE COURT: If I don't fined it in the -- 

MR. VASSILOS: I can't get this filed so there is no telling what, your Honor, is -- 

THE COURT: If I don't find your appearance in there sir, then I will certainly not allow you to file this motion, sir, which you have signed. 

Mr. Harrigan, sir, have you filed a plan? 

MR. HARRIGAN: No. 

THE COURT: Counsel, do you agree that Mr. Harrigan has not filed a plan? 

MR. VASSILOS: I agree that the first issue before the Court is whether we can receive a fair hearing.  That is the first issue. 

THE COURT: Trustee, have you received a plan? 

MS. NEWPORT: I have never seen a plan. 

THE COURT: Mr. Harrigan agrees he has not filed a plan, this case is dismissed pursuant to 11 U.S.C. 1307(C3) for failure to file a plan. 

MR. HARRIGAN: I believe you're prejudiced, Judge. 

THE COURT: Well, sir, you can 

MR. HARRIGAN: I do. 

THE COURT: -- take your objection to a higher court.  This case is dismissed.  Get me the court file on this. 

THE CLERK: Okay. 

THE COURT: Mr. Vassilos, sir. 

MR. VASSILOS: Yes, your Honor? 

 [*167]  THE COURT: You [**38]  must understand that if I do not find your appearance in this court -- in that court file, then you have had no standing before me.  Good morning, sir. 

(Which were all of the proceedings held on this date in the above entitled matter.) 

